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Equity Residential is an SP 500 company focused on the acquisition

development and management of high quality apartment properties in

top U.S growth markets Equity Residential owns or has investments in 442

properties located in states and the District of Columbia consisting of

127711 apartment units

Dear Fellow Shareholders

2010 was very good year for the apartment business and an exceptional one for Equity

Residential The improvement in operating fundamentals that began in late 2009 continued to

trend favorably in 2010 leading to higher occupancy increased resident retention and growing

rental rates And as we expected the last half of the year produced greatersame store revenues

than the same period of the prior year We saw the recovery in fundamentals well ahead of many

others and with view that property values would soon follow moved quickly and decisively in

late 2009 and early 2010 to acquire more than $1 billion of properties and land sites at prices that

soon proved to be great bargains

As we look back on the Great Recession it is abundantly clear that we not only survived an

extremely challenging time in our countrys economic history but have emerged even better

positioned to deliver for our shareholders in the years ahead We have an extremely valuable

portfolio of high quality assets in the most desired markets in the country an operating platform

that has consistently delivered exceptional revenue growth and expense controls market

knowledge that continues to produce extraordinary investment opportunities strong and flexible

balance sheet and most importantly talented and dedicated team of people across the country

working hard each and every day These unique advantages allowed us to deliver sector leading

total return to our shareholders of nearly 60o in 2010

We could not be more excited about our future

Our Portfolio

We own and operate high-quality portfolio of more than 440 high-rise mid rise and garden style

properties consisting of over 125000 apartment units in high growth markets across the country

Our core markets of Boston New York Washington D.C South Florida Southern California the San

Francisco Bay Area and Seattle benefit from highly educated work forces diversified economies

and high quality of life These markets will continue to create households and well-paying jobs

in the years ahead as our nations service sector expands and generates even more demand for

knowledge based workers These growing economies will in turn produce large segments of

the population opting for high quality well located rental housing like that offered by Equity

Residential

Apartment demand benefits greatly from the 75 million members of the Echo Boom generation

On average four million of these children of the Baby Boomers will turn 18 years of age annually

over the next decade and will form households for years to come Our properties in high density

urban locations near job centers and public transportation are very attractive to this growing

segment of our population

As demonstrated over the last several years our nation is capable of strong household creation even

without job growth Its estimated that more than 800000 households were formed in 2009 and

another nearly 800000 were formed in 2010 This growth came despite the unemployment rate

increasing from 8.5a to more than 10.5% during the same period It is also expected now
that the economy is showing modest growth that more than 1.2 million households will be formed

in 2011 And there is little doubt that rental housing will capture an increasing share of these new

households as more and more of our population wisely reconsiders the benefits of single family home

ownership and opts instead to rent

The problems in single family housing are far from being solved and we wont rehash them here

yet we certainly benefit from the continued decline in the home ownership rate across the country

This is not necessarily because former owners are moving back into our apartments but because

our residents new and existing have seen how badly home ownership has ended for so many

and are opting for the flexibility provided by rental housing and are electing to stay renters longer

As we have said repeatedly we believe that the Echo Boom generation looks at home ownership

differently than their parents did Gone are the days when young people would hear from their

parents that they shouldnt throw their money away on rent and should instead get in on the

ground floor of sure thing and own home Today most young adults
likely

know someone who



has faced the unfortunate consequences of home ownership in the last few years whether in

loss to foreclosure or an inability to sell They have seen the financial freedom of so many lost due

to home ownership This is lesson they will not soon forget

While demand is strong and growing for the many reasons already noted new supply of

multifamily housing is being delivered at the lowest levels since the government began collecting

the data in 1980 Thanks to the credit crisis of the Great Recession only 117000 new multifamily

housing units were delivered in 2010 and only 42000 are expected in 2011 Furthermore while

many expect that construction will start on more multifamily housing units this year than were

delivered over the last few actual deliveries in the years ahead will still be far below what many

experts believe will be necessary to meet the growing demand for rental housing And if that is

not enough consider this each year approximately 200000 multifamily units are lost due to fire

demolition etc There is little doubt that multifamily supply will fall far short of demand in the

years ahead

Favorable household formations huge demographic of our population with high propensity

to rent changing mindset on homeownership and the fact that there is very little new supply

being added or started in our core markets combine to position us well for success in 2011 and

beyond

Our Jnvcstintint Activity

Following several years of defensive bias and net sales activity to improve liquidity we

turned offensive in 2010 and increased our investment activity to more normal levels We

acquired $1.5 billion of assets in our core markets with most of this activity done in the early

part of the year Our disposition activity mostly done towards the end of the year totaled

$718 million as we continued to exit secondary markets that either due to slower than

expected job growth or low barriers to new supply arent expected to provide the same total

returns as our core markets

The increase in activity as well as its timing was driven by three important factors that

emerged in late 2009 and early 2010 First the capital markets began to recover which gave

us confidence that we could move to position of offeoce from the defeocive hiac that had

guided our activities since 2007 Secondly we saw the early signs of recovering fundamentals

in our core business as resident retentions firmed and occupancies began to improve Third

exceptional assets and land sites in New York Washington D.C South Florida Southern

California San Francisco and Seattle were for various reasons brought to market and we were

able to quickly and decisively acquire them adding sixteen properties 4445 apartment units

and six land sites to our portfolio

For all these same reasons we significantly reduced our disposition volume early in the year

With capital markets and fundamentals improving we felt no need to continue to convert

our least desirable assets into cash and thought higher values for these assets would be right

around the corner That turned out to be the case as more capital came roaring back into the

space and asset pricing recovered late in the year Investors drove pricing on our non strategic

assets to levels that encouraged us to monetize our investments in those assets As result

in the latter half of 2010 we ramped up our disposition activity and sold 35 consolidated

properties 7171 apartment units in Texas North Carolina Portland Oregon Southern

Californias Inland Empire New England and Phoenix

Throughout 2010 we said that we expected our acquisition activity to be very lumpy which

it was and we see no reason why 2011 wont be similar We have included in our guidance

for the year an assumption of $1 billion of acquisitions In the current highly competitive

acquisition market this level of activity will only he reached if acquisition opportunities

increase as the year progresses

There continues to be significant amount of Lapital chasing very few essets toddy which

results in very strong bids for any well located quality assets in our core markets Current

capitalization rates for these types of assets are in the 4o to So range as buyers have

expectations of strong rent growth in the years ahead So as in the second half of 2010 we will

continue to seek out direct acquisition opportunities and deals with risks that we unlike most

institutional investors can underwrite and manage to achieve higher risk adjusted return

At the same time we will continue to sell our non strategic assets and exit non core markets

We have provided guidance for 2011 of $1.25 billion of dispositions We continue to see

strong demand for these assets in the 5.Sc to 6.5c capitalization rate range which we think

represents good pricing per unit and square foot We will also continue to sell these assets

at this time because the buyers of these assets are often heavily leveraged and there is

considerable downside risk to these prices from rising interest rates In addition we think that



three high-rise luxury apartment buildings located in Manhattan Later in 2010 we issued shares

under the program because we had been significant net buyer of assets during the year as well

as to fund $400 to $500 million in expected development starts in 2011 Since its inception in

the fall of 2009 we have issued approximately 12.7 million shares raising $570 million under

the program This represents an increase of about 4% to our total shares outstanding As we said

when the program was put in place it would be used primarily to fund investment opportunities

and any future usage of the program will likely
be the result of investment opportunities that we

cannot yet identify today and that cant be funded with disposition proceeds To be sure that we

have the capacity if necessary down the road our board has recently authorized an increase in

this program

In early December we announced new dividend policy This was the result of our questioning

conventional thinking about dividend policies and was done at time when we were very

confident that we were at the beginning of period of very strong earnings growth and

therefore strong dividend growth We intend to now pay an annual dividend that is 65% of

our Normalized Funds from Operations Normalized Funds from Operations starts with the

NAREIT definition of Funds from Operations and then eliminates items that by their nature

are non-comparable between periods or that tend to obscure the operating performance of

the company We felt that policy that was more directly tied to operations was quite simply

more appropriate way to think about our annual payout This is policy that will quickly

and proportionally produce dividend increase when operations improve and will quickly

and proportionally reduce the dividend when operations go down It is very straightforward

very transparent very predictable and the right dividend policy for Equity Residential and our

shareholders

Our People

Everyday we benefit from having the absolute best team in the business Equity Residentials 4000

employees across the country live the mission of being Americas choice for apartment living by

being uncompromising in delivering on our commitments to our shareholders our residents and

our employees They make us proud with their hard work and dedication to our customers and our

shareholders

We recently lost valued member of the Equity Residential family Boone Knox joined our Board of

Trustees in 1998 when we acquired Merry Land Investment Company multifamily firm based in

the Southeast which he served as Chairman Boone was tireless advocate for shareholders leader

mentor and dear friend He will be greatly missed

Our Future

There is no doubt that over the next few years Equity Residential will benefit from some of the

best operating fundamentals that we have seen in long long time Ours is business of the

most basic of economic principles supply and demand We will benefit from the increasing

demand for rental housing from the 75 million Echo Boomers who for many years to come

will be driving force in the creation of new households These young people have very

high propensity to rent and they are expected to be renters longer than past generations as

they marry later have children later and enjoy the
flexibility

and
lifestyle provided by rental

housing Demand for rental housing will grow with the jobs produced by the continued

recovery in our nations economy and will remain high given the new found understanding

of the many risks of home ownership As for supply there were virtually no new multifamily

properties started in 2009 and 2010 and what is expected to start in 2011 and the years ahead

is not expected to meet incremental new demand

The outlook for multifamily fundamentals could not be better and the talented focused and

dedicated team at Equity Residential could not be more excited With our portfolio of high

quality assets in the most desirable markets across the country proven operating platform

deep market knowledge and strong balance sheet the outlook for Equity Residential for 2011

and beyond is extremely bright

It is very good time to be in the apartment business and we are glad that you are in it with

us Thank you for your continued support

Samuel Zell David Neithercut

Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer

April 712011



selling non core assets is prudent hedge for any possible changes in liquidity provided to the

multifamily space from Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac as result of the much discussed reform

of these institutions

We continue to be active developers of new properties in our core markets having finished

construction on three new assets in 2010 totaling 1450 apartment units at construction

cost of $706 million We also started construction on three new projects in 2010 with total

cost of $144 million 111 unit tower in the Chelsea neighborhood of Manhattan 188-unit

property in Arlington Virginia and the last phase of one of our existing properties in Denver

In addition to the six land parcels we acquired in 2010 we have several land sites that have

been on our balance sheet for several years on which construction could start soon We are

therefore anticipating that our development starts for 2011 could total $400 to $500 million

Our development team continues to pursue opportunities to build additional high quality

assets for our portfolio As major acquirer of assets though we will properly weigh the risks

and rewards of constructing new streams of income against the acquisition of existing streams

of income in order to deploy capital in the most appropriate risk adjusted manner

Our Platform

In the most challenging of times or the best of times at Equity Residential we keep our focus

on the basics of our business ourblocking and tackling We cost-effectively drive qualified

prospects to our properties and convert this traffic into new residents At the same time we keep

our existing residents satisfied so they will choose to stay with us when their leases expire and

spread the good word about their experience living in an Equity Residential property to their

friends families and colleagues Our focus on the basics led to average occupancy for the year

of nearly 95% an increase of full percentage point over the prior year In addition during 2010

we retained more of our residents than ever before We are proud that these factors combined to

produce industry leading same store revenue growth in nearly all of our markets

We have the best people in the business utilizing state of the art operating platform to manage

our portfolio of more than 125000 apartment units across the country Our team uses this

platform to balance occupancies and rental rates to maximize our revenue while exercising tight

cost control to achieve the most favorable growth in our bottom line

Beyond the tools that we use for unit pricing performance reporting and the purchasing of

goods and services we utilize technology to engage our customers in the way that they want to

be engaged Searching for an apartment completing an application renewing lease providing

feedback making service requests and paying rent can all be done online at their convenience

Our website equityapartments.com is the primary driver of new residents to our properties

attracting more than 13000 unique visitors each day an increase of more than 30% from last

year In 2010 65% of our new leases came from residents who were introduced to our properties

through equityapartments.com and other online
listing services

We now receive uver 80000 monthly payments through our electronic pdyment option an

increase of more than 20% from year ago and still growing Each day more and more of our

leases are executed electronically Currently 80% of all of our leases are signed and 100% are

stored electronically Beyond the convenience for the resident we no longer have to store paper

lease files consuming millions fewer pieces of paper each year The rates at which our residents

are using this technology is proof of their preferences and encourages us as we continue to

develop new ways to harness technology to best serve our customers and our bottom line

We also use technology to assess our performance with our residents Online resident survey

results are used to create Customer Loyalty Scores We place great emphasis on these scores and

use them in determining compensation for our property management personnel These scores

were up 17% in 2010 on top of 15% growth in 2009 Keeping our residents happy so they extend

their stays with us and recommend us to their friends is every employees number one goal each

and every day

Our Balance Sheet

Maintaining strong and flexible balance sheet is priority for us something that we see as

essential to both protecting the value of our franchise and to positioning us to take advantage of

opportunities when they arise We continue to have access to multiple sources of both secured

and unsecured debt financing and enjoy one of the best credit ratings in the apartment sector

BBB from SP and Baal from Moodys

To ensure our financial
flexibility during 2010 we opportunistically and prudently utilized our

At The Market common share offering program as funding source for several investment

opportunities Early in the year the program was used to assist in funding the acquisition of
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PART

Item Business

General

Equity Residential EQR Maryland real estate investment trust REIT formed in March 1993 is an

SP 500 company focused on the acquisition development and management of high quality apartment properties in top

United States growth markets EQR has elected to he taxed as REIT

The Company is one of the largest publicly traded real estate companies and is the largest publicly traded owner of

multifamily properties in the United States based on the aggregate market value of its outstanding Common Shares the number

of apartment units wholly owned and total revenues earned The Companys corporate headquarters are located in Chicago

Illinois and the Company also operates property management offices in each of its markets

EQR is the general partner of and as of December 31 2010 owned an approximate 95.5% ownership interest in ERP

Operating Limited Partnership an Illinois limited partnership the Operating Partnership All of EORs property ownership

development and related business operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries References to

the Company include EQR the Operating Partnership and those entities owned or controlled by the Operating Partnership

andlor EQR

As of December 31 2010 the Company directly or indirectly through investments in title holding entities owned all or

portion of 451 properties located in 17 states and the District of Columbia consisting of 129604 apartment units The ownership

breakdown includes table does not include various uncompleted development properties

Properties Apartment Units

Wholly Owned Properties 425 119634

Partially owned Properties Consolidated 24 5232

Military Housing 4738

451 129604

As of December 31 2010 the Company had approximately 4000 employees who provided real estate operations

leasing legal financial accounting acquisition disposition development and other support functions

Certain capitalized terms used herein are defined in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements See also Note 19 in

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the Companys segment disclosures

Available Information

You may access our Annual Report on Form 10-K our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q our Current Reports on

Form 8-K and any amendments to any of those reports we file with the SEC free of charge at our website

www.equityresidential.com These reports are made available at our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file

them with the SEC

Business Objectives and Operating and Investing Strategies

The Company invests in apartment communities located in strategically targeted markets with the goal of maximizing

our risk adjusted total return operating income plus capital appreciation on invested capital

Our operating focus is on balancing occupancy and rental rates to maximize our revenue while exercising tight cost

control to generate the highest possible return to our shareholders Revenue is maximized by driving qualified resident prospects

to our properties converting this traffic cost-effectively into new leases at the highest rent possible keeping our residents

satisfied and renewing their leases at yet higher rents While we believe that it is our high-quality well-located assets that bring

our customers to us it is our customer service that keeps them renting with us and recommending us to their friends

We use technology to engage our customers in the way that they want to be engaged Many of our residents utilize our

web-based resident portal which allows them to review their account and make payments provide feedback and make service

requests on-line



We seek to maximize capital appreciation of our properties by investing in markets that are characterized by conditions

favorable to multifamily property appreciation These markets generally feature one or more of the following

High barriers to entry where because of land scarcity or government regulation it is difficult or costly to build new

apartment properties leading to low supply

High single family home prices making our apartments more economical housing choice

Strong economic growth leading to household formation and job growth which in turn leads to high demand for our

apartments and

An attractive quality of life leading to high demand and retention and allowing us to more readily increase rents

Acquisitions and developments may be financed from various sources of capital which may include retained cash floss

issuance of additional equity and debt securities sales of properties joint venture agreements and collateralized and

uncollateralized borrowings In addition the Company may acquire properties in transactions that include the issuance of

limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership OP Units as consideration for the acquired properties Such

transactions may in certain circumstances enable the sellers to defer in whole or in part the recognition of taxable income or gain

that might otherwise result from the sales EQR may also acquire land parcels to hold and/or sell based on market opportunities The

Company may also seek to acquire properties by purchasing defaulted or distressed debt that encumbers desirable properties in the

hope of obtaining title to property through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure proceedings The Company has also in the

past converted some of its properties and sold them as condominiums but is not currently active in this line of business

The Company primarily sources the finds for its new property acquisitions in its core markets with the sales proceeds

from selling assets that are older or located in non-core markets During the last five years the Company has sold over 97000

apartment units for an aggregate sales price of $7.2 billion and acquired nearly 25000 apartment units in its core markets for

approximately $5.5 billion We are currently acquiring and developing assets primarily in the following targeted metropolitan

areas Boston New York Washington DC South Florida Southern California San Francisco Seattle and to lesser extent

Denver We also have investments in the aggregate about 18 of our NOl in other markets including Atlanta Phoenix

Portland Oregon New England excluding Boston Tampa Orlando and Jacksonville but do not intend to acquire or develop

assets in these markets

As part of its strategy the Company purchases completed and filly occupied apartment properties partially completed or

partially unoccupied properties or land on which apartment properties can be constructed We intend to hold diversified

portfolio of assets across our target markets Currently no single metropolitan area accounts for more than 17% of our NOl

though no guarantee can be made that NOI concentration may not increase in the future

We endeavor to attract and retain the best employees by providing them with the education resources and opportunities

to succeed We provide many classroom and on-line training courses to assist our employees in interacting with prospects and

residents as well as extensively train our customer service specialists in maintaining the equipment and appliances on our

property sites We actively promote from within and many senior corporate and property leaders have risen from entry level or

junior positions We monitor our employees engagement by surveying them annually and have consistently received high

engagement scores

We have commitment tu sustainability and eunsider the euvirunmental impacts of our business activities With its high

density multifamily housing is by its nature an environmentally friendly property type Our recent acquisition and development

activities have been primarily concentrated in pedestrian-friendly urban locations near public transportation When developing

and renovating our properties we strive to reduce energy and water usage by investing in energy saving technology while

positively impacting the experience of our residents and the value of our assets We continue to implement combination of

irrigation lighting and HVAC improvements at our properties that will reduce energy and water consumption

Debt and Equity Activity

Please refer to Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the

Companys Capital Structure chart as of December 31 2010

Major Debt and Equity Activities for the Years Ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

During 2010

The Operating Partnership issued $600.0 millionof ten-year 4.75% fixed rate public notes in public offering atan all-in

effective interest rate of 5.09 receiving net proceeds of $595.4 million before underwriting fees and other expenses

The Company issued 2506645 Common Shares pursuant to its Share Incentive Plans and received net proceeds of

approximately $71.6 million



The Company issued 157363 Common Shares pursuant to its Employee Share Purchase Plan and received net proceeds

of approximately $5.1 million

The Company issued 6151198 Common Shares at an average price of $47.45 per share for total consideration of

$291.9 millionpursuant to its At-The-Market ATM share offering program See Note in the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements for further discussion

The Company repurchased and retired 58130 of its Common Shares at an average price of $32.46 per
share for total

consideration of $1.9 million all related to the vesting of employee restricted shares See Note in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

During 2009

The Operating Partnership obtained $500.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an 11 year stated

maturity date of July 2020 cross-collateralized loan with an all-in fixed interest rate for 10 years at approximately

5.6% secured by 13 properties

The Company issued 422713 Common Shares pursuant to its Share Incentive Plans and received net proceeds of

approximately $9.1 million

The Company issued 324394 Common Shares pursuant to its Employee Share Purchase Plan and received net proceeds

of approximately $5.3 million

The Company issued 3497300 Commn Shares at an average price of $35.38 per share for total consideration of

$123.7 million pursuant to its ATM share offering program See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion

The Company repurchased and retired 47450 of its Common Shares at an average price of $23.69 per share for total

consideration of $1.1 million all related to the vesting of employee restricted shares See Note in the Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The Company repurchased $75.8 million of its 5.20% fixed rate tax-exempt notes

The Company repurchased at par $105.2 million of its 4.75c fixed rate public notes due June 15 2009 In addition the

Company repaid the remaining $122.2 million of its 4.75% fixed rate public notes at maturity See Note in the Notes to

Cuntulidated Financial Statements fur further discussion

The Company repurchased $185.2 million at par and $21.7 million at price of 106% of par of its 6.95% fixed rate

public notes due March 2011 See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The Company repurchased $146.1 million of its 6.625% fixed rate public notes due March 152012 at price of 108% of

par See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The Company repurchased $127.9 million of its 5.50% fixed rate public notes due October 2012 at price of 107% of

pa See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The Company repurchased $17.5 million of its 3.85% convertible fixed rate public notes due August 15 2026 putable

in 2011 at price of 88.4% of par In addition the Company repurchased $48.5 million of these notes at par See Note

in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

During 2008

The Operating Partnership obtained $500.Qinillion of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an 11.5 year

stated maturity date of October 2019 cross-collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate for 10.5 years at 5.19%

secured by 13 properties

The Operating Partnership obtained $550.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an 11.5 year

stated maturity date of March 2020 cross-collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate for 10.5 years at

approximately 6% secured by 15 properties

The Operating Partnership obtained $543.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an year stated

maturity date of January 2017 cross-collateralized loan with fixed stated interest rate for years at approximately

6% secured by 18 properties

The Company issued 995129 Common Shares pursuant to its Share Incentive Plans and received net proceeds of

approximately $24.6 million

The Company issued 195961 Common Shares pursuant to its Employee Share Purchase Plan and received net proceeds

of approximately $6.2 million

The Company repurchased and retired 220085 of its Common Shares at an average price of $35.93 per share for total

consideration of $7.9 million See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The Company repurchased $72.6 million of its 4.75% fixed rate public notes due June 15 2009 at price of 99 0% of

par See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion



The Company repurchased $101.4 millionof its 3.85% convertible fixed rate public notes due August 15 2026 putable

in 2011 at price of 82.3% of par See Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

During the first quarter of 2011 through January 13 2011 the Company has issued approximately 3.0 million Common

Shares at an average price of $50.84 per share for total consideration of approximately $154.5 million through the ATM share

offering program The Company has not issued any shares under this program since January 13 2011

An unlimited amount of equity and debt securities remains available for issuance by EQR and the Operating Partnership

under effective shelf registration statements filed with the SEC Most recently EQR and the Operating Partnership filed

universal shelf registration statement for an unlimited amount of equity and debt securities that became automatically effective

upon filing with the SEC in October 2010 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration statement automatically

expires on October 14 2013 and does not contain maximum issuance amount However as of February 16 2011 issuances

under the ATM share offering program are limited to 10000000 additional shares

In May 2002 the Companys shareholders approved the Companys 2002 Share Incentive Plan In January 2003 the

Company filed Form S-8 registration statement to register 23125828 Common Shares under this plan As of January 2011

22785696 shares are the maximum shares issuable under this plan See Note 14 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion

Credit Facilities

The Operating Partnership has $1 .425 billion net of $75.0 million which had been committed by now bankrupt

financial institution and is not available for borrowing unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on February 28 2012 with

the ability to increase available borrowings by an additional $500.0 million by adding additional banks to the facility or obtaining

the agreement of existing banks to increase their commitments Advances under the credit facility bear interest at variable rates

based upon LIBOR at various interest periods plus spread currently 0.50% dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit

rating or based on bids received from the lending group EQR has guaranteed the Operating Partnerships credit facility up to the

maximum amount and for the full term of the facility

As of December 31 2010 the amount available on the credit facility was $1.28 billion net of$ 147.3 iiollion which Was

restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and net of the $75.0 million discussed above and there was no amount

outstanding During the year ended December31 2010 the weighted average
interest rate was 0.66% As of December31 2009

the amount available on the credit facility was $1.37 billion net of $56.7 million which was restricted/dedicated to support

letters of credit and net of the $75.0 million discussed above The Company did not draw and had no balance outstanding on its

revolving credit facility at any time during the year ended December 2009

Competition

All of the Companys properties are located in developed areas that include other multifamily properties The number of

competitive multifamily properties in particular area could have material effect on the Companys ability to lease apartment

units at the properties or at any newly acquired properties and on the rents charged The Company may be competing with other

entities that have greater resources than the Company and whose managers have more experience than the Companys managers

In addition other forms of rental properties and single family housing provide housing alternatives to potential residents of

multifamily properties See Item 1A Risk Factors for additional information with respect to competition

Environmental Considerations

See Item IA Risk Factors for information concerning the potential effects of environmental regulations on our

operations

Item 1A Risk Factors

General

The following Risk Factors may contain defined terms that are dfferent from those used in the other sections of this report

Unless othenvise indicated when used in this section the terms we and us refer to Equity Residential and its subsidiaries

including ERP Operating Limited Partnership This Item JA includes forward-looking statements You should refer to our

discussion of the qualflcations and limitations on forward-looking statements included in Item



The occurrence of the events discussed in the following risk factors could adversely affect possibly in material manner

our business financial condition or results of operations which could adversely affect the value of our common shares of

beneficial interest or preferred shares of beneficial interest which we refer to collectively as Shares limited partnership

interests in the Operating Partnership OP Units and Long Term Incentive Plan Units LTIP Units In this section we refer

to the Shares OP Units and LTIP Units together as our securities and the investors who own Shares andlor OP/LTIP Units as

our security holders

Our Performance and Securities Value are Subject to Risks Associated with the Real Estate Industry

General

Real property investments are subject to varying degrees of risk and are relatively illiquid Numerous factors may adversely

affect the economic performance and value of our properties and the ability to realize that value These factors include changes in

the global national regional and local economic climates local conditions such as an oversupply of multifamily properties or

reduction in demand for our multifamily properties the attractiveness of our properties to residents competition from other

multifamily properties and single family homes and changes in market rental rates Our performance also depends on our ability to

collect rent from residents and to pay
for adequate maintenance insurance and other operating costs including real estate taxes all

of which could increase over time Sources of labor and materials required for maintenance repair capital expenditure or

development may be more expensive than anticipated Also the expenses of owning and operating property are not necessarily

reduced when circumstances such as market factors and competition cause reduction in income from the property

We May Not Have Sqfficient Cash Flows From Operations After Capital Expenditures to Cover Our Distributions

and Our New Dividend Policy May Lead to Quicker Dividend Reductions

We generally consider our cash flows provided by operating activities after capital expenditures to be adequate to meet

operating requirements and payment of distributions to our security holders However there maybe times when we experience

shortfalls in our coverage of distributions which may cause us to consider reducing our distributions and/or using the proceeds

from property dispositions or additional financing transactions to make
up the difference Should these shortfalls occur for

lengthy periods of time or be material in nature our financial condition may be adversely affected and we may not be able to

maintain our current distribution levels While our new dividend policy makes it less likely we will over distribute it will also

lead to dividend reduction more quickly than in the past should operating results deteriorate See Item for additional

discussion regarding our new dividend policy

We May Be Unable to Renew Leases or Relet Apartment Units as Leases Expire

When our residents decide not to renew their leases upon expiration we may not be able to relet their apartment units Even

if the residents do renew or we can relet the apartment units the terms of renewal or reletting may be less favorable than current

lease terms If we are unable tn promptly renew the leases or relet the apartment units or if the rental rates upon renewal or reletting

are significantly lower than expected rates then our results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected

Occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely affected by national and local economic and market conditions including

without limitation new construction and excess inventory of multifamily and single family housing slow or negative employment

growth availability of low interest mortgages for single family home buyers and the potential for geopolitical instability all of

which are beyond the Company control In addition various state and local municipalities are considering and may continue to

consider rent control legislation which could limit our ability to raise rents Finally the federal goverrunents policies many of

which may encourage home ownership can increase competition and possibly limit our ability to raise rents Consequently our

cash flow and ability to service debt and make distributions to security holders could be reduced

New Acquisitions and/or Development Projects May Fail to Perform as Expected and Competition for Acquisitions

May Result in increased Prices for Properties

We intend to actively acquire and/or develop multifamily properties for rental operations as market conditions dictate

We may also acquire multifamily properties that are unoccupied or in the early stages of lease up We may be unable to lease up

these apartment properties on schedule resulting in decreases in expected rental revenues and/or lower yields due to lower

occupancy and rates as well as higher than expected concessions We may underestimate the costs necessary to bring an acquired

property up to standards established for its intended market position or to complete development property Additionally we

expect that other major real estate investors with significant capital will compete with us for attractive investment opportunities

or may also develop properties in markets where we focus our development efforts This competition or lack thereof may



increase or depress prices for multifamily properties We may not be in position or have the opportunity in the future to make

suitable property acquisitions on favorable terms The total number of development units costs of development and estimated

completion dates are subject to uncertainties arising from changing economic conditions such as the cost of labor and

construction materials competition and local government regulation

In connection with such government regulation we may incur liability if our properties are not constructed and operated

in compliance with the accessibility provisions of the Aniericans with Disabilities Act the Fair Housing Act or other federal

state or local requirements Noncompliance could result in fines subject us to lawsuits and require us tn remediate or repair the

noncompliance

Risks Involved in Real Estate Activity Through Joint Ventures

We have in the past and may in the future develop and acquire properties in joint ventures with other persons or entities

when we believe circumstances warrant the use of such structures Joint venture investments involve risks including the

possibility that our partners might refuse to make capital contributions when due that we may be responsible to our partner for

indemnifiable losses that our partner might at any time have business or economic goals which are inconsistent with ours and

that our partner may be in position to take action or withhold consent contrary to our instructions or requests Frequently we

and our partner may each have the right to trigger buy-sell arrangement which could cause us to sell our interest or acquire our

partners interest at time when we otherwise would not have initiated such transaction In some instances joint venture

partners may have competing interests in our markets that could create conflicts of interest Further the Companys joint venture

partners may experience financial distress and to the extent they do not meet their obligations to us or our joint ventures with

them we may be adversely affected

Because Real Estate Investments Are Illiquid We May Not Be Able to Sell Properties When Appropriate

Real estate investments generally cannot be sold quickly We may not be able to reconfigure our portfolio promptly in

response to economic or other conditions This inability to reallocate our capital promptly could adversely affect our financial

condition and ability to make distributions to our security holders

The Value of Investment Securities Could Result In Losses to the Company

From time to time the Company holds investment securities and/or cash investments that have higher risk profile than

the government obligations and bond funds money market funds or bank deposits in which we generally invest On occasion we

may purchase securities of companies in our own industry as means to invest funds There may be times when we experience

declines in the value of these investment securities which may result in losses to the Company and our financial condition or

results of operations could be adversely affected Sometimes the cash we deposit at bank exceeds the FDIC insurance limit

resulting in risk to the Company of loss of funds if these banks fail

Changes in Market Conditions and Volatility of Share Prices Could Adversely Affect the Market Price of Our

Corn man Shares

The stock markets including the New York Stock Exchange on which we list our Common Shares have experienced

significant price and volume fluctuations As result the market price of our Common Shares could be similarly volatile and

investors in our Common Shares may experience decrease in the value of their shares including decreases unrelated to our

operating performance or prospects The market price of our Common Shares may decline or fluctuate significantly in response

to many factors including but not limited to the following

general market and economic conditions

actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results or dividends

changes in our funds from operations normalized funds from operations or earnings estimates

difficulties or inability to access capital or extend or refinance debt

decreasing or uncertainty in real estate valuations

change in analyst ratings

adverse market reaction to any additional debt we incur in the future

governmental regulatory action including changes or proposed changes to the mandates of Fannie Mae or Freddie

Mac and changes in tax laws and

the issuance of additional Common Shares or the perception that such issuances might occur including under our

ATM program



Changes in Laws and Litigation Risk Could Affect Our Business

We are generally not able to pass through to our residents under existing leases any real estate or other federal state or

local taxes Consequently any such tax increases may adversely affect our financial condition and limit our ability to make

distributions to our security holders

We may become involved in legal proceedings including but not limited to proceedings related to consumer

employment development condominium conversion tort and commercial legal issues that if decided adversely to or

settled by us could result in liability material to our financial condition or results of operations

Any Weaknesses Iden4fled in Our Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Could Have an Adverse Effect on Our

Share Price

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us to evaluate and report on our intemal control over financial

reporting If we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting we could lose investor

confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports which in turn could have an adverse effect on our share price

Environmental Problems Are Possible and Can Be Costly

Federal state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment may require current or

previous owner or operator of real estate to investigate and clean
up

hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases

at such property The owner or operator may have to pay govemmental entity or third parties for property damage and for

investigation and clean-up costs incurred by such parties in connection with the contamination These laws typically impose

clean-up responsibility and liability without regard to whether the owner or operator knew of or caused the presence of the

contaminants Even if more than one person may have been responsible for the contamination each person covered by the

environmental laws may be held responsible for all of the clean-up costs incurred In addition third parties may sue the owner or

operator of site for damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from that site

Substantially all of our properties have been the subject of environmental assessments completed by qualified

independent environmental consulting companies While these environmental assessments have not revealed nor are we

aware of any environmental liability that our management believes would have material adverse effect on our business results

of operations financial condition or liquidity there can be no assurance that we will not incur such liabilities in the friture

There have been an increasing number of lawsuits against owners and managers of multifamily properties alleging

personal injury and property damage caused by the presence of mold in residential real estate As some of these lawsuits have

resulted in substantial monetary judgments or settlements insurance carriers have reacted by excluding mold-related claims

from standard policies and pricing mold endorsements at prohibitively high rates While we have adopted programs designed to

minimize the existence of mold in any of our properties as well as guidelines for promptly addressing and resolving reports of

mold to minimize any impact mold might have on our residents or the property should mold become an issue in the future our

financial condition or results of operations may be adversely affected

We cannot be assured that existing environmental assessments of our properties reveal all environmental liabilities that

any prior owner of any of our properties did not create material environmental condition not known to us or that material

environmental condition does not otherwise exist as to any of our properties

Climate Change

To the extent that climate change does occur we may experience extreme weather and changes in precipitation and

temperature all of which may result in physical damage or decrease in demand for properties located in these areas or affected

by these conditions Should the impact of climate change be material in nature including destruction of our properties or occur

for lengthy periods of time our financial condition or results of operations may be adversely affected

In addition changes in federal and state legislation and regulation on climate change could result in increased capital

expenditures to improve the energy efficiency of our existing properties and could also require us to spend more on our new

development properties without corresponding increase in revenue
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Insurance Policy Deductibles Exclusions and Counterparties

As of December31 2010 the Companys property insurance policy provides for per occurrence deductible of $250000

and self-insured retention of $5.0 million per occurrence subject to maximum annual aggregate self-insured retention of

$7.5 million with approximately 80% of any excess losses being covered by insurance Any earthquake and named windstorm

losses are subject to deductible of5o of the values of the buildings involved in the losses and are not subject to the aggregate

self-insured retention The Companys general liability and workers compensation policies at December 31 2010 provide for

$2.0 million and $1.0 million
per occurrence deductible respectively fhese higher deductible and self-insured retention

amounts do expose the Company to greater potential uninsured losses but management has reviewed its claims history over the

years and believes the savings in insurance premium expense justify this potential increased exposure over the long-term

However the potential impact of climate change and increased severe weather could cause significant increase in insurance

premiums and deductibles particularly for our coastal properties or decrease in the availability of coverage either of which

could expose the Company to even greater uninsured losses which may adversely affect our financial condition or results of

operations

As result of the terrorist attacks of September 112001 property insurance carriers created exclusions for losses from

terrorism from our all risk property insurance policies As of December 31 2010 the Company was insured for $500.0 million

in terrorism insurance coverage
with $100000 deductible This

coverage excludes losses from nuclear biological
and

chemical attacks In the event of terrorist attack impacting one or more of our properties we could lose the revenues from the

property our capital investment in the property and possibly face liability claims from residents or others suffering injuries or

losses The Company has become more susceptible to large losses as it has transformed its portfolio becoming more

concentrated in fewer more valuable assets over smaller geographical footprint

In addition the Company relies on third party insurance providers for its property general liability and workers

compensation insurance While there has yet to be any non-performance by these major insurance providers should any of them

experience liquidity issues or other financial distress it could negatively impact the Company

Non Performance by Our Operating Counterparties Could Adversely Affect Our Performance

We have relationships with and from time to time we execute transactions with or receive services from many

counterparties As result defaults by counterparties could result in services not being provided or volatility in the financial

markets could affect counterparties ability to complete transactions with us as intended both of which could result in

disruptions to our operations that may adversely affect our business and results of operations

Debt Financing and Preferred Shares Could Adversely Affect Our Performance

General

Please refer to Item Managements Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the

Companys total debt and unsecured debt summaries as of December 31 2010

In addition to debt we have $200.0 million of combined liquidation value of outstanding preferred shares of beneficial

interest with weighted average dividend preference of 6.93% per aimum as of December 31 2010 Our use of debt and

preferred equity financing creates certain risks including the following

Disruptions in the Financial Markets Could Adversely Affect Our Ability to Obtain Debt Financing and Impact our

Acquisitions and Dispositions

Dislocations and liquidity disruptions in capital and credit markets could impact liquidity in the debt markets resulting

in financing terms that are less attractive to us and/or the unavailability of certain types of debt financing Should the capital and

credit markets experience volatility and the availability of finds again become limited or be available only on unattractive terms

we will incur increased costs associated with issuing debt instruments In addition it is possible that our ability to access the

capital and credit markets may be limited or precluded by these or other factors at time when we would like or need to do so

which would adversely impact our ability to refinance maturing debt and/or react to changing economic and business conditions

Uncertainty in the credit markets could negatively impact our ability to make acquisitions and make it more difficult or not

possible for us to sell properties or may adversely affect the price we receive for properties that we do sell as prospective buyers

may experience increased costs of debt financing or difficulties in obtaining debt financing Potential continued disruptions in
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the financial markets could also have other unknown adverse effects on us or the economy generally and may cause the price of

our Common Shares to fluctuate significantly andlor to decline

Potential Reforms to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Could Adversely Affect Our Peiformance

There is significant uncertainty surrounding the futures of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Should Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac have their mandates changed or reduced be disbanded or reorganized by the government or otherwise discontinue

providing liquidity to our sector it would significantly reduce our access to debt capital and/or increase borrowing costs and

would significantly reduce our sales of assets andlor the values realized upon sale Disruptions in the floating rate tax-exempt

bond market where interest rates reset weekly and in the credit markets perception of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac which

guarantee and provide liquidity for these bonds have been experienced in the past and may be experienced in the future and

could result in an increase in interest rates on these debt obligations These bonds could also be put to our consolidated

subsidiaries if Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac fail to satisfy their guaranty obligations While this obligation is in almost all cases

non-recourse to us this could cause the Company to have to repay these obligations on short notice or risk foreclosure actions on

the collateralized assets

Non-Performance by 0ur Financial Counterparties Cnuld Adversely Affect Our Performance

Although we have not experienced any material counterparty non-performance dismptions in financial and credit

markets could among other things impede the ability of our counterparties to perform on their contractual obligations There are

multiple financial institutions that are individually committed to lend us varying amounts as part of our revolving credit facility

Should any of these institutions fail to fund their committed amounts when contractually required our financial condition could

be adversely affected Should several of these institutions fail to find we could experience significant financial distress One of

the financial institutions with commitment of $75.0 million declared bankruptcy in 2008 and will not honor its financial

commitment Our borrowing capacity under the credit facility has in essence been permanently reduced to $1 .425 billion

The Company also has developed assets with joint venture partners which were financed by financial institutions that

have experienced varying degrees of distress in the past and could experience similar distress as economic conditions change It

one or more of these lenders fail to fund when contractually required the Company or its joint venture partner may be unable to

complete construction of its development properties

SignifIcant Downgrade in Our Credit Ratings Could Adversely Affect Our Peiformance

significant downgrade in our credit ratings while not affecting our ability to draw proceeds under the revolving credit

facility would cause our borrowing costs to increase under the facility and impact our ability to borrow secured and unsecured

debt or otherwise limit our access to capital In addition downgrade below investment grade would require us to post cash

collateral and/or letters of credit in favor of some of our secured lenders to cover our self-insured property and liability insurance

deductibles or to obtain lower deductible insurance compliant with the lenders requirements at the lower rating level

Scheduled Debt Payments Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition

In the future our cash flow could be insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest or to pay

distributions on our securities at expected levels

We may not be able to refinance existing debt including joint venture indebtedness which in virtually all cases requires

substantial principal payments at maturity and ifwe can the terms of such refinancing might not be as favorable as the terms of

existing indebtedness If principal payments due at maturity cannot be refinanced extended or paid with proceeds of other

capital transactions such as new equity capital our operating cash flow will not be sufficient in all years to repay all maturing

debt As result certain of our other debt may cross default we may be forced to postpone capital expenditures necessary for the

maintenance of our properties we may have to dispose of one or more properties on terms that would otherwise be unacceptable

to us or we may be forced to allow the mortgage holder to foreclose on property Foreclosure on mortgaged properties or an

inability to refinance existing indebtedness would likely have negative impact on our financial condition and results of

operations
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Please refer to Item Management Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the

Companys debt maturity schedule as of December 31 2010

Financial Covenants could Adversely Affect the ompany Financial Condition

The mortgages on our properties may contain customary negative covenants that among other things limit our ability

without the prior consent of the lender to further mortgage the property and to reduce or change insurance coverage In addition

our unsecured credit facilities contain certain restrictions requirements and other limitations on our ability to incur debt The

indentures under which substantial portion of our unsecured debt was issued also contain certain financial and operating

covenants including among other things maintenance of certain financial ratios as well as limitations on our ability to incur

secured and unsecured debt including acquisition financing and to sell all or substantially all of our assets Our credit facilities

and indentures are cross-defaulted and also contain cross default provisions with other material debt While the Company

believes it was in compliance with its unsecured public debt covenants for both the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

should it fall out of compliance it would likely have negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations

Some of the properties were financed with tax exempt bonds that contain certain restrictive covenants or deed

restrictions We have retained an independent outside consultant to monitor compliance with the restrictive covenants and

deed restrictions that affect these properties If these bond compliance requirements restrict our ability to increase our rental

rates to low or moderate-income residents or eligible/qualified residents then our income from these properties may be limited

While we generally believe that the interest rate benefit attendant to properties with tax-exempt bonds more than outweighs any

loss of income due to restrictive covenants or deed restrictions this may not always be the case

Our Degree of Leverage Could Limit Our Ability to Obtain Additional Financing

Our degree of leverage could have important consequences to security holders For example the degree of leverage could

affect our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital capital expenditures acquisitions development

or other general corporate purposes making us more vulnerable to downturn in business or the economy in general Our

consolidated debt-to-total market capitalization ratio was 38.4c as of December 31 2010 In addition our most restrictive

unsecured public debt covenants are as follows

December 31 December 31

2010 2009

Total Debt to Adjusted Total Assets not to exceed 60o 48.5% 48.8%

Secured Debt to Adjusted Total Assets not to exceed 400 23.20o 24.9%

Consolidated Income Available for Debt Service to

Maximum Annual Service Charges

must be at least 1.5 to 2.46 2.44

Total Unsecured Assets to Unsecured Debt

must be at least l50o 256.0% 256.5%

Rising Interest Rates Could Adversely Affect Cash Flow

Advances under our credit facilities bear interest at variable rates based upon LIBOR at various interest periods plus

spread dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit rating or based upon bids received from the lending group Certain

public issuances of our senior unsecured debt instruments may also from time to time bear interest at floating rates We may
also borrow additional money with variable interest rates in the future Increases in interest rates would increase our interest

expense under these debt instruments and would increase the costs of refinancing existing debt and of issuing new debt

Accordingly higher interest rates could adversely affect cash flow and our ability to service our debt and make distributions to

security holders

Derivatives and Hedging Activity Could Adversely Affect Cash Flow

In the normal course of business we use derivatives to manage our exposure to interest rate volatility on debt instruments

including hedging for future debt issuances At other times we may utilize derivatives to increase our exposure to floating interest

rates There can be no assurance that these hedging arrangements will have the desired beneficial impact These arrangements

which can include number of counterparties may expose us to additional risks including failure of any of our counterparties to
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perform under these contracts and may involve extensive costs such as transaction fees or breakage costs if we terminate them

No strategy can completely insulate us from the risks associated with interest rate fluctuations

We Depend on Our Key Personnel

We depend on the efforts of the Chairman of our Board of Trustees Samuel Zell and our executive officers particularly

David Neithercut our President and Chief Executive Officer CEOIf they resign or otherwise cease to be employed by us

our operations could be temporarily adversely affected Mr Zell has entered into retirement benefit and noncompetition

agreements with the Company

Control and Influence by Significant Shareholders Could Be Exercised in Manner Adverse to Other Shareholders

The consent of certain affiliates of ML Zell is required for certain amendments to the Sixth Amended and Restated

Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership the Partnership Agreement As result of their security

ownership and rights concerning amendments to the Partnership Agreement the security holders referred to herein may have

influence over the Company Although to the Companys knowledge these security holders have not agreed to act together on any

matter they would be in position to exercise even more influence over the Companys affairs if they were to act together in the

future This influence could conceivably be exercised in manner that is inconsistent with the interests of other security holders

For additional information regarding the security ownership of our trustees including Mr Zell and our executive officers see

the Companys definitive
proxy statement

Shareholders Ability to Effect Changes in Control of the Company is Limited

Provisions of Our Declaration of Trust and Bylaws Could Inhibit Changes in Control

Certain provisions of our Declaration of Trust and Bylaws may delay or prevent change in control of the Company or

other transactions that could provide the security holders with premium over the then-prevailing market price of their securities

or which might otherwise be in the best interest of our security holders This includes the 5% Ownership Limit described below

While our existing preferred shares do not have these provisions any future series of preferred shares may have certain voting

provisions that could delay or prevent change in control or other transactions that might otherwise be in the interest of our

security holders Our Bylaws require certain information to be provided by any security holder or persons acting in concert with

such security holder who proposes business or nominee at an annual meeting of shareholders including disclosure of

information related to hedging activities and investment strategies with respect to our securities These requirements could delay

or prevent change in control or other transactions that might otherwise be in the interest of our security holders

We Have Share Ownership Limit for REIT Tax Purposes

To remain qualified as REIT for federal income tax purposes not more than 50% in value of our outstanding Shares

may be owned directly or indirectly by five or fewer individuals at any time during the last half of any year To facilitate

maintenance of our REIT qualification our Declaration of Trust subject to certain exceptions prohibits ownership by any single

shareholder of more than 5% of the lesser of the number or value of the outstanding class of common or preferred shares We

refer to this restriction as the Ownership Limit Absent any exemption or waiver granted by our Board of Trustees securities

acquired or held in violation of the Ownership Limit will be transferred to trust for the exclusive benefit of designated

charitable beneficiary and the security holders rights to distributions and to vote would terminate transfer of Shares may be

void if it causes person to violate the Ownership Limit The Ownership Limit could delay or prevent change in control and

therefore could adversely affect our security holders ability to realize premium over the then-prevailing market price for their

Shares To reduce the ability of the Board to use the Ownership Limit as an anti-takeover device the Companys Ownership

Limit requires rather than permits the Board to grant waiver of the Ownership Limit if the individual seeking waiver

demonstrates that such ownership would not jeopardize the Companys status as REIT

Our Preferred Shares May Affect Changes in Control

Our Declaration of Trust authorizes the Board of Trustees to issue up to 100 million preferred shares and to establish the

preferences and rights including the right to vote and the right to convert into common shares of any preferred shares issued

The Board of Trustees may use its powers to issue preferred shares and to set the terms of such securities to delay or prevent

change in control of the Company even if change in control were in the interest of security holders
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Inapplicability of Maryland Law Limiting Certain Changes in Control

Certain provisions of Maryland law applicable to real estate investment trusts prohibit business combinations

including certain issuances of equity securities with any person who beneficially owns ten percent or more of the voting

power of outstanding securities or with an affiliate who at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question was

the beneficial owner often percent or more of the voting power of the Companys outstanding voting securities an Interested

Shareholder or with an affiliate of an Interested Shareholder These prohibitions last for five years after the most recent date

on which the Interested Shareholder became an Interested Shareholder After the five-year period business combination with

an Interested Shareholder must be approved by two super-majority shareholder votes unless among other conditions holders of

common shares receive minimum price for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as

previously paid by the Interested Shareholder for its common shares As permitted by Maryland law however the Board of

Trustees of the Company has opted out of these restrictions with respect to any business combination involving Mr Zell and

certain of his affiliates and
persons acting in concert with them Consequently the five-year prohibition and the super-majority

vote requirements will not apply to business combination involving us and/or any of them Such business combinations may not

be in the best interest of our security holders

Our Success as REIT Is Dependent on Compliance with Federal Income Tax Requirements

Our Failure to Qualfr as REIT Would Have Serious Adverse Consequences to Our Security Holders

We believe that we have qualified for taxation as REIT for federal income tax purposes since our taxable year ended

December31 1992 based in part upon opinions of tax counsel received whenever we have issued equity securities or engaged

in significant merger transactions We plan to continue to meet the requirements for taxation as REIT Many of these

requirements however are highly technical and complex We cannot therefore guarantee that we have qualified or will qualify

in the future as REIT The determination that we are REIT requires an analysis of various factual matters that may not be

totally within our control For example to qualify as REIT our gross income must generally come from rental and other real

estate or passive related sources that are itemized in the REIT tax laws We are also required to distribute to security holders at

least 90% of our REIT taxable income excluding capital gains The fact that we hold our assets through ERP Operating Limited

Partnership and its subsidiaries furthcr complicates the application of the REIT requirements Even technical or inadvertent

mistake could jeopardize our REIT status Furthermore Congress and the IRS might make changes to the tax laws and

regulations and the courts might issue new rulings that make it more difficult or impossible for us to remain qualified as

REIT We do not believe however that any pending or proposed tax law changes would jeopardize our REIT status In addition

Congress and the IRS have recently liberalized the REIT qualification rules to permit REITs in certain circumstances to pay

monetary penalty for inadvertent mistakes rather than lose REIT status

If we fail to qualify as REIT we would be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates Also unless the IRS

granted us relief under certain statutory provisions we would remain disqualified from taxation as REIT for four years

following the year in which we failed to qualify as REIT If we fail to qualify as REIT we would have to pay significant

income taxes We therefore would have less money available for investments or for distributions to security holders This would

likely have significant adverse effect on the value of our securities In addition we would no longer be required to make any

distributions to security holders Even if we qualify as REIT we are and will continue to be subject to certain federal state and

local taxes on our income and property In addition our corporate housing business which is conducted through taxable REIT

subsidiaries generally will be subject to federal and state income tax at regular corporate rates to the extent they have taxable

income

We Could Be DisqualifIed as REIT or Have to Pay Taxes Our Merger Partners Did Not Qualfy as REITs

If any of our prior merger partners had failed to qualify as REIT throughout the duration of their existence then they

might have had undistributed corporation earnings and profits at the time of their merger with us If that was the case and we

did not distribute those earnings and profits prior to the end of thu year in which the merger took place we might not qualify as

REIT We believe based in part upon opinions of legal counsel received pursuant to the terms of our merger agreements as well

as our own investigations among other things that each of our prior merger partners qualified as REIT and that in any event

none of them had any undistributed corporation earnings and profits at the time of their merger with us If any of our prior

merger partners failed to qualify as REIT an additional concern would be that they could have been required to recognize

taxable gain at the time they merged with us We would be liable for the tax on such gain We also could have to pay corporate

income tax on any gain existing at the time of the applicable merger on assets acquired in the merger if the assets are sold within

ten years of the merger
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Compliance wit/i REIT Distribution Requirements May Affect Our Financial Condition

Distribution Requirements May Increase the Indebtedness of the Company

We may be required from time to time under certain circumstances to accrue as income for tax purposes interest and rent

eamed but not yet received In such event or upon our repayment of principal on debt we could have taxable income without

sufficient cash to enable us to meet the distribution requirements of REIT Accordingly we could be required to borrow ftinds

or liquidate investments on adverse terms in order to meet these distribution requirements

Tax Elections Regarding Distributions May Impact Future Liquidity of the Company

During 2008 and 2009 we did make and under certain circumstances may consider making again in the future tax

election to treat future distributions to shareholders as distributions in the current year This election which is provided for in the

REIT tax code may allow us to avoid increasing our dividends or paying additional income taxes in the current year However

this could result in constraint on our ability to decrease our dividends in future years without creating risk of either violating the

REIT distribution requirements or generating additional income tax liability

Federal Income Tax Considerations

General

The following discussion summarizes the federal income tax considerations material to holder of common shares It is

not exhaustive of all possible tax considerations For example it does not give detailed discussion of any state local or foreign

tax considerations The following discussion also does not address all tax matters that may be relevant to prospective

shareholders in light of their particular circumstances Moreover it does not address all tax matters that may be relevant to

shareholders who are subject to special treatment under the tax laws such as insurance companies tax-exempt entities financial

institutions or broker-dealers foreign corporations persons who are not citizens or residents of the United States and persons

whu own shares through partnership or other entity treated as flow-through entity for fedeial income tax purpuses

The specific tax attributes of particular shareholder could have material impact on the tax considerations associated

with the purchase ownership and disposition of common shares Therefore it is essential that each prospective shareholder

consult with his or her own tax advisors with regard to the application of the federal income tax laws to the shareholders personal

tax situation as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state local or foreign taxing jurisdiction

The information in this section is based on the current Internal Revenue Code current temporary and proposed Treasury

regulations the legislative history of the Internal Revenue Code current administrative interpretations and practices of the

Internal Revenue Service including its practices and policies as set forth in private letter rulings which are not binding on the

Internal Revenue Service and existing court decisions Future legislation regulations administrative interpretations and court

decisions could change current law or adversely affect existing interpretations of current law Any change could apply

retroactively Thus it is possible that the Internal Revenue Service could challenge the statements in this discussion which do

not bind the Internal Revenue Service or the courts and that court could agree with the Internal Revenue Service

Our Taxation

We elected REIT status beginning with the year that ended December 31 1992 In any year in which we qualify as

REIT we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on the portion of our REIT taxable income or capital gain that we

distribute to our shareholders This treatment substantially eliminates the double taxation that applies to most corporations

which pay tax on their income and then distribute dividends to shareholders who are in turn taxed on the amount they receive

We elected taxable REIT subsidiary status for certain of our corporate subsidiaries primarily those eugaged in Londomiuiuul

conversion and sale activities As result we will be subject to federal income taxes for activities performed by our taxable REIT

subsidiaries

We will be subject to federal income tax at regular corporate rates upon our REIT taxable income or capital gains that we

do not distribute to our shareholders In addition we will be subject to 4% excise tax if we do not satisfy specific REIT

distribution requirements We could also be subject to the alternative minimum tax on our items of tax preference In addition

any net income from prohibited transactions i.e dispositions of property other than property held by taxable REIT

subsidiary held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business will be subject to 10000 tax We could also be
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subject to 10000 penalty tax on certain payments received from or on certain expenses deducted by taxable REIT subsidiary if

any such transaction is not respected by the Internal Revenue Service If we fail to satisfy the 75c gross income test or the 95%

gross income test described below but have maintained our qualification as REIT because we satisfied certain other

requirements we will still generally be subject to 1000o penalty tax on the taxable income attributable to the
gross income that

caused the income test failure If we fail to satisfy any of the REIT asset tests described below by more than de rniniinis

amount due to reasonable cause and we nonetheless maintain our REIT qualification because of specified cure provisions we

will be required to
pay tax equal to the greater of $50000 or the highest marginal corporate tax rate multiplied by the net

income generated by the non-qualifying assets If we fail to satisfy any provision of the Internal Revenue Code that would result

in our failure to qualify as REIT other than violation of the REIT gross income or asset tests described below and the

violation is due to reasonable cause we may retain our REIT qualification but we will be required to pay penalty of $50000 for

each such failure Moreover we may be subject to taxes in certain situations and on certain transactions that we do not presently

contemplate

We believe that we have qualified as REIT for all of our taxable years beginning with 1992 We also believe that our

current structure and method of operation is such that we will continue to qualify as REIT However given the complexity of

the REIT qualification requirements we cannot provide any assurance that the actual results of our operations have satisfied or

will satisfy the requirements under the Internal Revenue Code for particular year

If we fail to qualify for taxation as REIT in any taxable year and the relief provisions described herein do not apply we

will be subject to tax on our taxable income at regular corporate rates We also may be subject to the corporate alternative

minimum tax As result our failure to qualify as REIT would significantly reduce the cash we have available to distribute to

our shareholders Unless entitled to statutory relief we would not be able to re-elect to be taxed as REIT until our fifth taxable

year after the year of disqualification It is not possible to state whether we would be entitled to statutory relief

Our qualification and taxation as REIT depend on our ability to satisfy various requirements under the Internal

Revenue Code We are required to satisfy these requirements on continuing basis through actual annual operating and other

results Accordingly there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to operate in manner so as to remain qualified as

REIT

Ownership of Taxable REIT Subsidiaries by Us The Internal Revenue Code provides that REITs may own greater than

ten percent of the voting power and value of the securities of taxable REIT subsidiary or TRS provided that the aggregate

value of all of the TRS securities held by the REIT does not exceed 25% of the REITs total asset value TRSs are corporations

subject to tax as regular corporation that have elected jointly with REIT to be TRS Generally taxable REIT

subsidiary may own assets that cannot otherwise be owned by REIT and can perform impermissible tenant services discussed

below which would otherwise taint our rental income under the REIT income tests However the REITwiI1 be obligated to pay

100% penalty tax on some payments that we receive or on certain expenses deducted by our TRSs if the economic

arrangements between us our tenants and the TRS are not comparable to similar arrangements among unrelated parties TRS

may also receive income from prohibited transactions without incurring the 100% federal income tax liability imposed on

REITs Income from prohibited transactions may include the purchase and sale of land the purchase and sale of completed

development properties and the sale of condominium units

TRSs pay
federal and state income tax at the full applicable corporate rates The amount of taxes paid on imperrnissible

tenant services income and the sale of real estate held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business may be

material in amount The TRSs will attempt to reduce if possible the amount of these taxes but we cannot guarantee whether or

the extent to which measures taken to reduce these taxes will be successful To the extent that these companies are required to

pay taxes less cash may be available for distributions to shareholders

Share Ownership Test and Organizational Requirement In order to qualify as REIT our shares of beneficial interest

must be held by minimum of 100 persons for at least 335 days of taxable year that is 12 months or during proportionate part

of taxable year of less than 12 months Also not more than SO/o in value of our shares of beneficial interest may be owned

directly or indirectly by applying certain constructive ownership rules by five or fewer individuals during the last half of each

taxable year In addition we must meet certain other organizational requirements including but not limited to that the

beneficial ownership in us is evidenced by transferable shares and ii we are managed by one or more trustees We believe that

we have satisfied all of these tests and all other organizational requirements and that we will continue to do so in the future In

order to ensure compliance with the 100 person test and the 50% share ownership test discussed above we have placed certain

restrictions on the transfer of our shares that are intended to prevent further concentration of share ownership However such

restrictions may not prevent us from failing these requirements and thereby failing to qualify as REIT
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Gross Income Tests To qualify as REIT we must satisfy two gross income tests

At least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year must be derived directly or indirectly from rents from real

property investments in real estate andlor real estate mortgages dividends paid by another REIT and from some

types of temporary investments excluding certain hedging income
At least 95% of our gross income for each taxable year must be derived from any combination of income qualifying

under the 75% test and dividends non-real estate mortgage interest and gain from the sale or disposition of stock or

securities excluding certain hedging income

To qualify as rents from real property for the purpose of satisfying the gross income tests rental payments must generally

be received from unrelated persons and not be based on the net income of the resident Also the rent attributable to personal

property must not exceed 15% of the total rent We may generally provide services to residents without tainting our rental

income only if such services are usually or customarily rendered in connection with the rental of real property and not

otherwise considered impermissible services If such services are impermissible then we may generally provide them only if

they are considered de minimis in amount or are provided through an independent contractor from whom we derive no revenue

and that meets other requirements or through taxable REIT subsidiary We believe that services provided to residents by us

either are usually or customarily rendered in connection with the rental of real property and not otherwise considered

impermissible or if considered impermissible services will meet the de minimis test or will be provided by an independent

contractor or taxable REIT subsidiary However we cannot provide any assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will agree

with these positions

If we fail to satisfy one or both of the gross income tests for any taxable year we may nevertheless qualify as REIT for

the year ifwe are entitled to relief under certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code In this case penalty tax would still be

applicable as discussed above Generally it is not possible to state whether in all circumstances we would be entitled to the

benefit of these relief provisions and in the event these relief provisions do not apply we will not qualify as REIT

Asset Tests In general at the close of each quarter of our taxable year we must satisfy four tests relating to the nature of

our assets

At least 75% of the value of our total assets must be represented by real estate assets which include for this purpose

shares in other real estate investment trusts and certain cash related items

Not more than 25% of the value of our total assets may be represented by securities other than those in the 75% asset

class

Except for securities included in item above equity investments in other REITs qualified REIT subsidiaries i.e

corporations owned 100% by REIT that are not TRSs or REITs or taxable REIT subsidiaries the value of any

one issuers securities owned by us may not exceed 5% of the value of our total assets and we may not own

securities representing more than 10% of the voting power or value of the outstanding securities of any one

issuer and

Not more than 25% of the value of our total assets may be represented by securities of one or more taxable REIT

subsidiaries

The 10% value test described in clause above does not apply to certain securities that fall within safe harbor

under the Code Under the safe harbor the following are not considered securities held by us for purposes of this 10% value

test straight debt securities ii any loan of an individual or an estate iii certain rental agreements for the use of tangible

property iv any obligation to pay rents from real property any security issued by state or any political subdivision thereof

foreign government or Puerto Rico only if the determination of any payment under such security is not based on the profits of

another entity or payments on any obligation issued by such other entity or vi any security issued by REIT The timing and

payment of interest or principal on security qualifying as straight debt may be subject to contingency provided that such

contingency does not change the effective yield to maturity not considering de ininimis change which does not exceed the

greater of 1/4 of 1% or 5% of the annual yield to maturity or we own $1000000 or less of the aggregate issue price or value of the

particular issuers debt and not more than 12 months of unaccrued interest can be required to be prepaid or the contingency is

consistent with commercial practice and the contingency is effective upon default or the exercise of prepayment right by the

issuer of the debt If we hold indebtedness from any issuer including REIT the indebtedness will be subject to and may cause

violation of the asset tests unless it is qualifying real estate asset or otherwise satisfies the above safe harbor We currently own

equity interests in certain entities that have elected to be taxed as REITs for federal income tax purposes
and are not publicly

traded If any such entity were to fail to qualify as REIT we would not meet the 10% voting stock limitation and the 10% value

limitation and we would unless certain relief provisions applied fail to qualify as REIT We believe that we and each of the
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REITs we own sn interest in have and will comply with the foregoing asset tests for REIT qualification However we cannot

provide any assurance that the Internal Revenue Service will agree with our determinations

If we fail to satisfy the or 10% asset tests described above after 30-day cure period provided in the Internal Revenue

Code we will be deemed to have met such tests if the value of our non-qualifying assets is de rninitnis i.e does not exceed the

lesser of 1% of the total value of our assets at the end of the applicable quarter or $10000000 and we dispose of the non-

qualifying assets within six months after the last day of the quarter in which the failure to satisfy the asset tests is discovered For

violations due to reasonable cause and not willftil neglect that are in excess of the de minimis exception described above we may

avoid disqualification as REIT under any of the asset tests after the 30-day cure period by disposing of sufficient assets to meet

the asset test within such six month period paying tax equal to the greater of $50000 or the highest corporate tax rate

multiplied by the net income generated by the non-qualifying assets and disclosing certain information to the Internal Revenue

Service If we cannot avail ourselves of these relief provisions or if we fail to timely cure any noncompliance with the asset tests

we would cease to qualify as REIT

Annual Distribution Requirements To qualify as REIT we are generally required to distribute dividends other than

capital gain dividends to our shareholders each year in an amount at least equal to 90 of our REIT taxable income These

distributions must be paid either in the taxable year to which they relate or in the following taxable year if declared before we

timely file our tax return for the prior year and if paid with or before the first regular dividend payment date after the declaration

is made We intend to make timely distributions sufficient to satisfy our annual distribution requirements To the extent that we

do not distribute all of our net capital gain or distribute at least 90% but less than 100% of our REIT taxable income as adjusted

we are subject to tax on these amounts at regular corporate rates We will be subject to 4% excise tax on the excess of the

required distribution over the sum of amounts actually distributed and amounts retained for which federal income tax was paid if

we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of 85% of our REIT ordinary income for the year 95% of

our REIT capital gain net income for the year and any undistributed taxable income from prior taxable years REIT may

elect to retain rather than distribute all or portion of its net capital gains and pay the tax on the gains In that case REIT may

elect to have its shareholders include their proportionate share of the undistributed net capital gains in income as long-term

capital gains and receive credit for their share of the tax paid by the REIT For purposes of the 4% excise tax described above

any retained amounts would be treated as having been distributed

Ownership of Partnership Interests By Us As result of our ownership of the Operating Partnership we will be

considered to own and derive our proportionate share of the assets and items of income of the Operating Partnership

respectively for purposes of the REIT asset and income tests including its share of assets and items of income of any subsidiaries

that are partnerships or limited liability companies

State and Local Taxes We may be subject to state or local taxation in various jurisdictions including those in which we

transact business or reside Generally REITs have seen increases in state and local taxes in recent years Our state and local tax

treatment may not conform to the federal income tax treatment discussed above Consequently prospective shareholders should

consult their own tax advisors regarding the effect of state and local tax laws on an investment in common shares

Taxation of Domestic Shareholders Subject to US Tax

General If we qualify as REIT distributions made to our taxable domestic shareholders with respect to their common

shares other than capital gain distributions and distributions attributable to taxable REIT subsidiaries will be treated as ordinary

income to the extent that the distributions come out of earnings and profits These distributions will not be eligible for the

dividends received deduction for shareholders that are corporations nor will they constitute qualified dividend income under

the Internal Revenue Code meaning that such dividends will be taxed at marginal rates applicable to ordinary income rather than

the special capital gain rates currently applicable to qualified dividend income distributed to shareholders who satisfy applicable

holding period requirements In determining whether distributions are out of earnings and profits we will allocate our earnings

and profits first to preferred shares and second to the common shares The portion of ordinary dividends which represent

ordinary dividends we receive from TRS will be designated as qualified dividend income to REIT shareholders For tax

years ending on or before December 31 2012 these qualified dividends are eligible for preferential tax rates if paid to our non-

corporate shareholders

To the extent we make distributions to our taxable domestic shareholders in excess of our earnings and profits such

distributions will be considered return of capital Such distributions will be treated as tax-free distribution and will reduce the

tax basis of shareholders common shares by the amount of the distribution so treated To the extent such distributions
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cumulatively exceed taxable domestic shareholders tax basis such distributions are taxable as gain from the sale of shares

Shareholders may not include in their individual income tax returns any of our net operating losses or capital losses

Dividends declared by REIT in October November or December are deemed to have been paid by the REIT and

received by its shareholders on December 31 of that year so long as the dividends are actually paid during January of the

following year However this treatment only applies to the extent of the REITs earnings and profits existing on December31 To

the extent the shareholder distribution paid in January exceeds available earnings and profits as of December 31 the excess will

be treated as distribution taxable to shareholders in the year paid As such for tax reporting purposes January distributions

paid to our shareholders may be split between two tax years

Distributions made by us that we properly designate as capital gain dividends will be taxable to taxable domestic

shareholders as gain from the sale or exchange of capital asset held for more than one year This treatment applies only to the

extent that the designated distributions do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable year It applies regardless of the

period for which domestic shareholder has held his or her common shares Despite this general rule corporate shareholders

may be required to treat up to 20% of certain capital gain dividends as ordinary income

Generally we will classify portion of our designated capital gain dividends as 1500 rate gain distribution and the

remaining portion as an unrecaptured Section 1250 gain distribution 15% rate gain distribution would be taxable to taxable

domestic shareholders that are individuals estates or trusts at maximum rate of 15% which 15% rate is currently scheduled to

increase to 20% for taxable years beginning on and after January 2013 An unrecaptured Section 1250 gain distribution would

be taxable to taxable domestic shareholders that are individuals estates or trusts at maximum rate of 25%

If for any taxable year we elect to designate as capital gain dividends any portion of the dividends paid or made available

for the year to holders of all classes of shares of beneficial interest then the portion of the capital gains dividends that will be

allocable to the holders of common shares will be the total capital gain dividends multiplied by fraction The numerator of the

fraction will be the total dividends paid or made available to the holders of the common shares for the year The denominator of

the fraction will be the total dividends paid or made available to holders of all classes of shares of beneficial interest

We may elect to retain rather than distribute as is generally required net capital gain for taxable year and pay the

income tax on that gain If we make this election shareholders must include in income as long-term capital gain their

proportionate share of the undistributed net capital gain Shareholders will be treated as having paid their proportionate share of

the tax paid by us on these gains Accordingly they will receive tax credit or reftnd for the amount Shareholders will increase

the basis in their common shares by the difference between the amount of capital gain included in their income and the amount of

the tax they are treated as having paid Our earnings and profits will be adjusted appropriately

In general shareholder will recognize gain or loss for federal income tax purposes on the sale or other disposition of

common shares in an amount equal to the difference bet\veen

the amount ot cash and the fair market value ot any property received in the sale or other disposition and

the shareholders adjusted tax basis in the common shares

The gain or loss will be capital gain or loss if the common shares were held as capital asset Generally the capital gain or

loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the common shares were held for more than one year

In general loss recognized by shareholder upon the sale of common shares that were held for six months or less

determined after applying certain holding period rules will be treated as long-term capital loss to the extent that the shareholder

received distributions that were treated as long-term capital gains For shareholders who are individuals trusts and estates the

long-term capital loss will be apportioned among the applicable long-term capital gain rates to the extent that distributions

received by the shareholder were previously so treated

Taxation of Domestic Tax-Exempt Shareholders

Most tax-exempt organizations are not subject to federal income tax except to the extent of their unrelated business

taxable income which is often referred to as UBTI Unless tax-exempt shareholder holds its common shares as debt financed

property or uses the common shares in an unrelated trade or business distributions to the shareholder should not constitute

UBTI Similarly if tax-exempt shareholder sells common shares the income from the sale should not constitute UBTI unless

the shareholder held the shares as debt financed property or used the shares in trade or business
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However for tax-exempt shareholders that are social clubs voluntary employee benefit associations supplemental

unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans income from owning or selling common shares will

constitute UBTI unless the organization is able to properly deduct amounts set aside or placed in reserve so as to offset the

income generated by its investment in common shares These shareholders should consult their own tax advisors concerning

these set aside and reserve requirements which are set forth in the Internal Revenue Code

In addition certain pension trusts that own more than 1000 of pension-held REIT must report portion of the

distributions that they receive from the REIT as VU We have not been and do not expect to be treated as pension-held RE
for purposes of this rule

Taxation of Foreign Shareholders

The following is discussion of certain anticipated United States federal income tax consequences of the ownership and

disposition of common shares applicable to foreign shareholder For purposes of this discussion foreign shareholder is any

person other than

citizen or resident of thc United States

corporation or partnership created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States or of any

state thereof or

an estate or trust whose income is includable in gross income for United States federal income tax purposes

regardless of its source

Distributions by Us Distributions by us to foreign shareholder that are neither attributable to gain from sales or

exchanges by us of United States real property interests nor designated by us as capital gains dividends will be treated as

dividends of ordinary income to the extent that they are made out of our earnings and profits These distributions ordinarily will

be subject to withholding of United States federal income tax on gross basis at 30% rate or lower treaty rate unless the

dividends are treated as effectively connected with the conduct by the foreign shareholder of United States trade or business

Please note that under certain treaties lower withholding rates generally applicable to dividends do not apply to dividends from

RETs Dividends that are effectively connected with United States trade or business will be subject to tax on net basis at

graduated rates and are generally not subject to withholding Certification and disclosure requirements must be satisfied before

dividend is exempt from withholding under this exemption foreign shareholder that is corporation also may be subject to

an additional branch profits tax at 30% rate or lower treaty rate

We expect to withhold United States income tax at the rate of 30c on any such distributions made to foreign

shareholder unless

lower treaty rate applies and any required form or certification evidencing eligibility for that reduced rate is filed

with us or

the foreign shareholder files an IRS Form W-8ECI with us claiming that the distribution is effectively connected

income

If such distribution is in excess of our current or accumulated earnings and profits it will not be taxable to foreign

shareholder to the extent that the distribution does not exceed the adjusted basis of the shareholders common shares Instead the

distribution will reduce the adjusted basis of the common shares To the extent that the distribution exceeds the adjusted basis of

the common shares it will give rise to gain from the sale or exchange of the shareholders common shares The tax treatment of

this gain is described below

We intend to withhold at rate of 30% or lower applicable treaty rate on the entire amount of any distribution not

designated as capital gain distribution In such event foreign shareholder may seek refhnd of the withheld amount from the

IRS if it is subsequently determined that the distribution was in fact in excess of our earnings and profits and the amount

withheld exceeded the foreign shareholders United States tax liability with respect to the distribution

Any capital gain dividend with respect to any class of our stock which is regularly traded on an established securities

market will be treated as an ordinary dividend described above if the foreign shareholder did not own more than 5% of such

class of stock at any time during the one year period ending on the date of the distribution Foreign shareholders generally will

not be required to report such distributions received from us on U.S federal income tax returns and all distributions treated as
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dividends for U.S federal income tax purposes including any capital gain dividends will be subject to 30% U.S withholding

tax unless reduced or eliminated under an applicable income tax treaty as described above In addition the branch profits tax

will no longer apply to such distributions

Distributions to foreign shareholder that we designate at the time of the distributions as capital gain dividends other

than those arising from the disposition of United States real property interest generally will not be subject to United States

federal income taxation unless

the investment in the common shares is effectively connected with the foreign shareholders United States trade or

business in which case the foreign shareholder will be subject to the same treatment as domestic shareholders

except that shareholder that is foreign corporation may also be subject to the branch profits tax as discussed

above or

the foreign shareholder is nonresident alien individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more

during the taxable year and has tax home in the United States in which case the nonresident alien individual will

be subject to 30% tax on the individuals capital gains

Under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act which is known as FIRPTA distributions to foreign

shareholder that are attributable to gain from sales or exchanges of United States real property interests will cause the foreign

shareholder to be treated as recognizing the gain as income effectively connected with United States trade or business This rule

applies whether or not distribution is designated as capital gain dividend Accordingly foreign shareholders generally would

be taxed on these distributions at the same rates applicable to U.S shareholders subject to special alternative minimum tax in

the case of nonresident alien individuals In addition foreign corporate shareholder might be subject to the branch profits tax

discussed above as well as U.S federal income tax return filing requirements We are required to withhold 35% of these

distributions The withheld amount can be credited against the foreign shareholders United States federal income tax liability

Although the law is not entirely clear on the matter it appears that amounts we designate as undistributed capital gains in

respect of the common shares held by U.S shareholders would be treated with respect to foreign shareholders in the same manner

as actual distributions of capital gain dividends Under that approach foreign shareholders would be able to offset as credit

against their United States federal income tax liability their proportionate share of the tax paid by us on these undistributed

capital gains In addition if timely requested foreign shareholders might be able to receive from the IRS refiJnd to the extent

their proportionate share of the tax paid by us were to exceed their actual United States federal income tax liability

Foreign Shareholders Sales of Common Shares Gain recognized by foreign shareholder upon the sale or exchange of

common shares generally will not be subject to United States taxation unless the shares constitute United States real property

interest within the meaning of FIRPTA The common shares will not constitute United States real property interest so long as

we are domestically controlled REIT domestically controlled REIT is REIT in which at all times during specified testing

period less than 50% in value of its stock is held directly or indirectly by foreign shareholders We believe that we are

domestically controlled REIT Therefore we believe that the sale of common shares will not be subject to taxation under

FIRPTA However because common shares and preferred shares are publicly traded we cannot guarantee that we will continue

to be domestically controlled REIT In any event gain from the sale or exchange of common shares not otherwise subject to

FIRPTA will be subject to U.S tax if either

the investment in the common shares is effectively connected with the foreign shareholders United States trade or

business in which case the foreign shareholder will be subject to the same treatment as domestic shareholders with

respect to the gain or

the foreign shareholder is nonresident alien individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more

during the taxable year and has tax home in the United States in which case the nonresident alien individual will be

subject to 30% tax on the individuals capital gains

Even if we do not qualify as or cease to be domestically controlled REIT gain arising from the sale or exchange by

foreign shareholder of common shares still would not be subject to United States taxation under FIRPTA as sale of

United States real property interest if

the class or series of shares being sold is regularly traded as defined by applicable IRS regulations on an

established securities market such as the New York Stock Exchange and

the selling foreign shareholder owned 5% or less of the value of the outstanding class or series of shares being sold

throughout the five-year period ending on the date of the sale or exchange
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If gain on the sale or exchange of common shares were subject to taxation under FIRPTA the foreign shareholder would

be subject to regular United States income tax with respect to the gain in the same manner as taxable U.S shareholder subject

to any applicable alternative minimum tax special alternative minimum tax in the case of nonresident alien individuals and the

possible application of the branch profits tax in the case of foreign corporations The purchaser of the common shares would be

required to withhold and remit to the IRS 10% of the purchase price

Information Reporting Requirement and Backup Withholding

We will report to our domestic shareholders and the Internal Revenue Service the amount of distributions paid during

each calendar year and the amount of tax withheld if any Under certain circumstances domestic shareholders may be subject to

backup withholding Backup withholding will apply only if such domestic shareholder fails to flirnish certain information to us

or the Internal Revenue Service Backup withholding will not apply with respect to payments made to certain exempt recipients

such as corporations and tax-exempt organizations Domestic shareholders should consult their own tax advisors regarding their

qualification for exemption from backup withholding and the procedure for obtaining such an exemption Backup withholding is

not an additional tax Rather the amount of any backup withholding with respect to payment to domestic shareholder will be

allowed as credit against such persons United States federal income tax liability and may entitle such person to refund

provided that the required information is timely furnished to the Internal Revenue Service

Medicare Tax on Unearned Income

Newly enacted legislation requires certain U.S shareholders that are taxed as individuals estates or trusts to pay an

additional 3.8 tax on among other things dividends on and capital gains from the sale or other disposition of shares for taxable

years beginning after December 31 2012

Withholding on Foreign Financial Institutions and Non-US Shareholders

Newly enacted legislation may impose withholding taxes on certain types of payments made to foreign financial

institutions and certain other non-U.S shareholders Under this legislation the failure to comply with additional certification

information reporting and other specified requirements could result in withholding tax being imposed on payments 0f dividends

and sales proceeds to U.S shareholders that own their shares through foreign accounts or foreign intermediaries and certain

non-U.S shareholders The legislation imposes 30 withholding tax on dividends on and gross proceeds from the sale or other

disposition of our shares paid to foreign financial institution or to foreign non-financial entity unless the foreign financial

institution undertakes certain diligence and reporting obligations or ii the foreign non-financial entity either certifies it does

not have any substantial U.S owners or furnishes identifying information regarding each substantial U.S owner In addition if

the payee is foreign financial institution it generally must enter into an agreement with the U.S Treasury that requires among

other things that it undertake to identify accounts held by certain U.S persons or U.S.-owned foreign entities annually report

certain information about such accounts and withhold 30% on payments to certain other account holders The legislation applies

to payments made after December 31 2012
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Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

As of December31 2010 the Company directly or indirectly through investments in title holding entities owned all or

portion of 451 properties located in 17 states and the District of Columbia consisting of 129604 apartment units The Companys

properties are summarized by building type in the following table

Average

Type Properties Apartment Units Apartment Units

Garden 354 100551 284

MidfHigh-Rise 95 24315 256

Military Housing 4738 2369

Total 451 129604

The Companys properties are summarized by ownership type in the following table

Properties Apartment Units

Wholly Owned Properties 425 119634

Partially Owned Properties

Consolidated 24 5232

Military Housing 4738

451 129604

The following table sets forth certain information by market relating to the Companys properties at December 31 2010
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PORTFOLIO SUMMARY

of Average

of Total Stabilized Rental

Markets
Properties Apartment Units Apartment Units NOl Rate

New York Metro Area 28 8290 6.4% l2.7 $2843

DC Northern Virginia 31 10393 8.0o 12.10o 1869

South Florida 38 12869 9.9o 1o 1313

Los Angeles 39 8311 6.4c 8.10o 1717

Boston 28 5711 4.4o lo 2204

Seattle/Tacoma 43 9748 7.5c 6.7c 1293

San Francisco Bay Ares 35 6606 5.1o 6.0% 1683

San Diego 14 4963 3.8% 5.2o 1789

Phoenix 36 10769 8.3o 4.8o 848

10 Denver 23 7967 6.2c 4.7c 1044

11 Suburban Maryland 21 5782 4.5o 4.5 1346

12 Orlando 26 8042 6.2% 4.2% 961

13 Orange County CA II 3490 2.7% 3.2o 1518

14 Atlanta 20 6183 4.8o 3.04 061

15 Inland Empire CA II 3639 2.8o 2.8% 1352

16 All Other Markets2 45 12103 9.3o 5.8o 975

Total 449 124866 96.3% 100.0% 1444

Military Housing 4738 3.7o

Grand Total 451 t29604 100.0% 100.0% 1444

Average rental rate is defined as total rental revenues divided by the weighted average occupied apartment units for the month of

December 2010

All Other Markets Each individual market is less than 2.0% of stabilized NOT

Note Projects under development are not included in the Portfolio Summary until construction has been completed at which

time the projects are included at their stabilized NOT Projects under lease-up are included at their stabilized NOT

The Companys properties had an average occupancy of approximately 94.1% 94.5% on same store basis at

December 31 2010 Certain of the Companys properties are encumbered by mortgages and additional detail can be found on

Schedule III Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation Resident leases are generally for twelve months in length and can

require security deposits The garden-style properties are generally defined as properties with two and/or three story buildings

while the mid-rise/high-rise are defined as properties with greater than three story buildings These two property types typically

provide residents with amenities which may include clubhouse swimming pool laundry facilities and cable television access

Certain of these properties offer additional amenities such as saunas whirlpools spas sports courts and exercise rooms or other

amenities In addition many of our urban properties have parking garage and/or retail components The military housing

properties are defined as those properties located on military bases

The distribution of the properties throughout the United States reflects the Companys belief that geographic

diversification helps insulate the portfolio from regional and economic influences At the same time the Company has

sought to create clusters of properties within each of its primary markets in order to achieve economies of scale in management

and operation The Company may nevertheless acquire additional multifamily properties located anywhere in the United States

The properties currently in various stages of development and lease-up at December 31 2010 are included in the

following table
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Consolidated Deselopment and Lease Up Projects as of December 31 2010

Amnonts In Ibonsands enehpt for project and apartment noit amoonts

Savoy Ill

220 Peechtog Dose

Projects Under Deeelopmeot Wholly Ooeed

Projects Under I3osotopmenl

Completed Not Stabilized Wholly Owned

Reoetoo at Redmoed Ridge

Wostgate

425 Mass

Vantage rotate ts
__________ ______________ ______________ ______________ _____________

Peojects Completed Not Stabdtzed Wholly Osseed

Completed Net Stabilized Partially OwnedS

The Beoohlyoee foenteely Ill Lasoeenee
__________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________

Peojects Completed Not Stahtheed Patttally Osseed

Projects Completed Not Stabilized

Completed and Stabilized Doring the Qnaeler Whelly

Owned

70 Oeeeee fonoetly 77 t1odson

Thted Sqaam foemeely 503 Third
_________ _____________ _____________ _____________ _____________

Projects Completed aod Stabtltaed Onang the Qoaetoe

Wholly Owned

Projects Completed and Stabilized Daring the Qoarter

Total Projects
________________ ________________ ________________ ________________

Land Itrtd mr Deselnpment
__________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________

Total Capital cost represents estimated cost for projects under development and/or developed and all capitalized costs incurred to

date plus any estimates of costs remaining to be funded for all projects all in accordance with GAAP

500 West 23ret Street The land Under this development is subject to long term ground lease

Properties included here are substantially complete However they may still require additional exterior and interior work for all

apartment units to be available for leasing

Debt is tax-exempt bonds that are entirely outstanding with $16.8 million held in escrow by the lender and released as draw

requests are made This escrowed amount is classified as Deposits restricted in the consolidated balance sheets at

December 31 2010 The Company paid off the $28.2 million in taxable bonds during the fourth quarter of 2010

The Company acquired these completed development projects prior to stabilization and has begun/continued lease-up activities

Total book value not placed in service excludes $5.9 million of construction-in-progress related to the reconstruction of the

Prospect Towers garage

Protects

Projects Under Desetnpmrnt Wholly Owned

Owl 160 thsmreto Redmond
SPar

500 West 23ed 5teet forinetly 10 Chelsea

Total tsnoh

No 0r Total Total Valor Nat

Ap.srtment Capttal Boah Valor Placed so

Location Units Cost In Oale 5ervsee

710 04107

III 55555

160 23856

188 Ol242

Estimated Estimated

Total Percentage Percentage Percentage Completten Slabtlization

Oebl Completed Leased Ocenpied Oate Date

7h9h4

27382

5409

14 707

76964

27382

5409

14707

Relmond WA

New Yaeh NY

Anmea CO

Aelteglon VA

Redmond WA

Pa adena CA

Washtngton DC

Oan Otega CA

97

33e

7e

717 228035 24462 24462
____________

717 228035 124362 123462
______________

321 53175 531St

400 105550 154886 135000

550 60750 166750

o7y 20aa0n 2bonoo
_____________ ____________

2039 585483 574787 135000

06% 60% QI 2011

Q4 2011

Q3 2012

Q3 2012

940 93 Completed

80 76 Completed

61 58 Completed

42 41 Completed

QI 2012

Q4 2012

Q2 2013

Q3 2013

QI 2011

Q3 2011

QI 2012

Q3 2012

Brooklyn NY 499 272368

490 272368

2529 897851

257748

257748
____________

832830
______________

141741

141741

276741

Jeesey Ctty NJ 480 260458 267403

Cambedge MA 482 257457 256546
_____________ _____________

93 89 Completed Q2 2011

93 91 Completed Stabtltzed

94 92% Completed Stabtlceed

91/2 525915 523040
____________

962 528915 823949
_____________

4208 1611801 1488946 1244626

N/A N/A 238247 235247

276741

18342
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Item Legal Proceedings

The Company is party to housing discrimination lawsuit brought by non-profit civil rights organization in April 2006

in the U.S District Court for the District of Maryland The suit alleges that the Company designed and built approximately 300 of

its properties in violation of the accessibility requirements of the Fair Housing Act and Americans With Disabilities Act The suit

seeks actual and punitive damages injunctive relief including modification of non-compliant properties costs and attorneys

fees The Company believes it has number of viable defenses including that majority of the named properties were completed

before the operative dates of the statutes in question and/or were not designed or built by the Company Accordingly the

Company is defending the suit vigorously Due to the pendency of the Companys defenses and the uncertainty of many other

critical factual and legal issues it is not possible to determine or predict the outcome of the suit or possible loss or range of

loss and no amounts have been accrued at December 312010 While no assurances can be given the Company does not believe

that the suit if adversely determined would have material adverse effect on the Company

The Company does not believe there is any other litigation pending or threatened against it that individually or in the

aggregate may reasonably be expected to have material adverse effect on the Company

Item Reserved
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity

Securities

Common Share Market Prices and Dividends

The following table sets forth for the years indicated the high low and closing sales prices for and the distributions

declared on the Companys Common Shares which trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol EQR

Sales Price

High Low Closing Distributions

2010

Fourth Quarter Ended December 31 2010 52.64 47.01 51.95 0.4575

Third Quarter Ended September 30 2010 50.80 39.69 47.57 0.3375

Second Quarter Ended June 30 2010 48.46 38.84 41.64 0.3375

First Quarter Ended March 31 2010 40.43 31.40 39.15 0.3375

2009

Fourth Quarter Ended December 31 2009 36.38 27.54 33.78 0.3375

Third Quarter Ended September 30 2009 33.06 18.80 30.70 0.3375

Second Quarter Ended June 30 2009 26.24 17.73 22.23 0.4825

First Quarter Ended March 31 2009 29.87 15.68 18.35 0.4825

The number of record holders of Common Shares at February 16 2011 was approximately 3000 The number of

outstanding Common Shares as of February 16 2011 was 293981029

Unregistered Common Shares Issued in the Quarter Ended December 31 2010

During the quarter ended December 31 2010 the Company issued 262151 Common Shares in exchange for 262151

OP Units held by various limited partners of the Operating Partnership OP Units are generally exchangeable into Common

Shares of EQR on one-for-one basis or at the option of the Operating Partnership the cash equivalent thereof at any time one

year afler the date of issuance These shares were either registered under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended the Securities

Act or issued in reliance on an exemption from registration under Section 42 of the Securities Act and the rules and

regulations promulgated thereunder as these were transactions by an issuer not involving public offering In light of the manner

of the sale and information obtained by the Company from the limited partners in connection with these transactions the

Company believes it may rely on these exemptions

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31 2010 with respect to the Companys Common Shares that

may be issued under its existing equity compensation plans

Number of seeunties

remaining available

Number of seeunties Weighted average for fi.iture issuance

tn be issued upon exercise
price

of under
equity

exercise of outstanding compensation plans

outstanding options options warrants excluding securities

Plan Category warrants and
rights and rights in column

Equity compensation plans

approved by shareholders 10106488 $33.00 8799709

Equity compensation plans noi

approved by shareholders N/A N/A N/A

The amounts shown in columns andb of the above table do not include 911950 outstanding Common Shares all of which

are restricted and subject to vesting requirements that were granted under the Companys Amended and Restated 1993 Share

Option and Share Award Plan as amended the 1993 Plan and the Companys 2002 Share Incentive Plan as restated the

2002 Plan and outstanding Common Shares that have been purchased by employees and trustees under the Companys ESPP
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Includes 5395739 Common Shares that maybe issued under the 2002 Plan of which only 25% maybe in the form of restricted

shares and 3403970 Common Shares that may be sold to employees and trustees under the ESPP

The aggregate number of securities available for issuance inclusive of restricted shares previously granted and

outstanding and shares underlying outstanding options under the 2002 Plan equals 7.5% of the Companys outstanding

Common Shares calculated on filly diluted basis determined annually on the first day of each calendar year On January

2011 this amount equaled 227S5696 of which 5395739 shares were available for future issuance No awards may be granted

under the 2002 Plan after February 20 2012

Item Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating information on historical basis for the Company The

following information should be read in conjunction with all of the financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in

this Form 10-K The historical operating and balance sheet data have been derived from the historical financial statements of the

Company All amounts have also been restated in accordance with the guidance on discontinued operations Certain capitalized

terms as used herein are defined in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Financial information in thonsands except for per share and property data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

OPERATING DATA

Total revenues from continuing opemtioon 1995519 1156503 816911 1739444 1501666

Intereot and other income 5469 16515 33337 19660 30430

Loan income from continuing operations 19144 2931 40054 4982 29983

Discontinued operationo net 315827 379098 476467 1052338 1177600

Net income 295983 382029 436413 1047356 1147617

Net income available to Comoton Sharon 269242 347794 393115 951242 1028381

Eamings per
ohare banic

Loan from
continuing opemtions

available to Common

Sharen Oil 004 020 0.12 0.25

Net income available to Common Sharco 0.95 1.27 1.46 3.40 3.55

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 282888 273609 270012 279406 290019

Earniugn per
ohare diluted

Loot from continuing operatious available to Common

Sharen 0.11 0.04 0.20 0.12 0.25

Net iocomc available to Commou Shares 0.95 27 1.46 3.40 3.55

Weighted average Common Sharen outstanding 282888 273609 270012 279406 290019

Distributiono declared per
Common Shore

outotaudiug
1.47 1.64 1.93 1.87 1.79

BALANCE SHEET DATA at cod of period

Real estate before accumulated depreciation 19702371 18465144 18690239 18333350 17235175

Real
entate after accumulated

depreciation 15365014 14587580 15128939 15163225 14212695

Total assets 16184194 15417515 165351 lO 15689777 15062219

Total debt 9948076 9392570 10483942 9478157 8017008

Redeemable Noocoutrolliag Interests

Operatiug Partnernhip 383540 258280 264394 345165 509310

Total Noacoutrolling Interento 118390 127174 163349 188605 224783

Total Shareholders
equity 5090186 5047339 4905356 4917370 5602236

OTHER DATA

Total
properties at end of period 451 495 548 579 617

Total
apartment units at end of period 129604 137007 147244 152821 165716

Funds from
operations

available to Common Shares and

Units basic l34 622786 615505 618372 713412 712524

Normalized hinds from opcmtiouo available to Common

Sharon and Units banic 234 682422 661542 735062 699029 699276

Canh flow provided by used for

Operating activities 732693 672462 755252 793232 755774

Inventing activities 646114 103579 344028 200749 259780

Financiug activities 151541 1473547 428739 801929 324545

Ttte National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT defines finds from operations FF0 April 2002

White Paper as net income computed in accordance with accounttng principles generally accepted in the United States

GAAP excluding gains or losses from sales of depreciable property plus depreciation and antortization and after

adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures Adjustments for umtconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures

will be calculated to reflect funds from operations on the same basis The April 2002 White Paper states that gain or loss on sales

of property is excluded froot FF0 for previously depreciated operating properties only Once the Company commences the

conversion of apartment units to condominiums ii simultaneously discontinues depreciation of such property
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Normalized funds from operations Norozalized FF0 begins with FF0 and excludes

the impact of any expenses relating to asset impairment and valuation allowances

property acquisition and other transaction costs related to mergers and acquisitions and pursuit cost write-offs

other expenses

gains and losses fmm early debt extinguishment including prepayment penalties preferred share redemptions

and the cost related to the implied option value of non-cash convertible debt discounts

gains and losses on the sales of non operating assets including gains and losses from land parcel and

condominium sales net of the effect of income tax benefits or expenses and

other miscellaneous non-comparable items

The Company believes that FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and Units are helpful to investors as

supplemental measures of the operating petformance of real estate company because they are recognized

measures of performance by the real estate industry and by excluding gains or losses related to dispositions of

depreciable property and excluding real estate depreciation which can vary among owners of identical assets in

similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful 4fe estimates FF0 and FF0 available to

Common Shares and Units can help compare the operating performance of company real estate between periods

or as compared to dffferent companies The company also believes that Normalized FF0 and Normalized FF0

available to Common Shares and Units are helpful to investors as supplemental measures of the operating

performance of real estate company because they allow investors to compare the company operating

performance to its performance in prior reporting periods and to the operating performance of other real

estate companies without the effect of items that by their nature are not comparable from period to period and

tend to obscure the Company actual operating results FF0 FF0 available to Common Shares and Units

Normalized FF0 and Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units do not represent net income net

income available to Common Shares or net cash flows from operating activities in accordance with GAAP

Therefore FF0 FF0 available to Common Shares and Units Normalized FF0 and Normalized FF0 available to

Common Shares and Units should not be exclusively considered as alternatives to net income net income available

to Common Shares or net cash flows from operating activities as determined by GAAP or as measure of liquidity

The Company calculation of FF0 FF0 available to Common Shares and Units Normalized FF0 and Normalized

FF0 available to 6ommon Shares and Units may differ from other real estate companies due to among other items

variations in cost capitalization policies for capital expenditures and accordingly may not be comparable to such

other real estate companies

FF0 available to Common Shares and Units and Nor nalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units are

calculated on basis consistent with net income available to Comnmnon Shares and reflects adjustments to net income

for prefrrred distributions and premiums on redemption of prefrrred shares in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States The equity positions of various individuals and entities that

contributed their properties to the Operating Partnership in exchange for OP Units are collectively refrrred to as

the Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Subject to certain restrictions the Noncon trolling

Interests Operating Partnership may exchange their OP Units for EQR Common Shares on one-for-one basis

Note See Item for reconciliation of net income to FF0 FF0 available to Common Shares and Units Normalized FF0 and Normalized FF0

available to Common Shares and Units

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition of the Company should be read

in connection with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto Due to the Companys ability to control the

Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries the Operating Partnership and each such subsidiary entity has been consolidated with

the Company for financial reporting purposes except for an unconsolidated development land parcel and our military housing

properties Capitalized terms used herein and not defined are as defined elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2010

Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this Item as well as elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are intended to be

made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 These statements are based

on current expectations estimates projections and assumptions made by management While the Companys management

believes the assumptions underlying its forward-looking statements are reasonable such information is inherently subject to

uncertainties and may involve certain risks which could cause actual results performance or achievements of the Company to
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differ materially from anticipated future results performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking

statements Many of these uncertainties and risks are difficult to predict and beyond managements control Forward-looking

statements are not guarantees of future performance results or events The forward-looking statements contained herein are

made as of the date hereof and the Company undertakes no obligation to update or supplement these forward-looking statements

Factors that might cause such differences include but are not limited to the following

We intend to actively acquire and/or develop multifamily properties for rental operations as market conditions

dictate We may also acquire multifamily properties that are unoccupied or in the early stages of lease up We may be

unable to lease up these apartment properties on schedule resulting in decreases in expected rental revenues and/or

lower yields due to lower occupancy and rates as well as higher than expected concessions We may underestimate

the costs necessary to bring an acquired property up to standards established for its intended market position or to

complete development property Additionally we expect that other major real estate investors with significant

capital will compete with us for attractive investment opportunities or may also develop properties in markets where

we focus our development efforts This competition or lack thereof may increase or depress prices for

multifamily properties We may not be in position or have the opportunity in the future to make suitable

property acquisitions on favorable terms The total number of development units costs of development and

estimated completion dates are subject to uncertainties arising from changing economic conditions such as the cost

of labor and construction materials competition and local government regulation

Debt financing and other capital required by the Company may not be available or may only be available on adverse

terms

Labor and materials required for maintenance repair capital expenditure or development may be more expensive

than anticipated

Occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely affected by national and local economic and market conditions

including without limitation new construction and excess inventory of multifamily housing and single family

housing slow or negative employment growth availability of low interest mortgages for single family home buyers

and the potential for geopolitical instability all of which are beyond the Companys control and

Additional factors as discussed in Part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K particularly those under Item IA

Risk Factors

Forward-looking statements and related uncertainties are also included in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements in this report

Overview

Equity Residential EQR Maryland real estate investment trust REIT formed in March 1993 is an SP
500 company focused on the acquisition development and management of high quality apartment properties in top

United States growth markets EQR has elected to be taxed as REIT

The Company is one of the largest publicly traded real estate companies and is the largest publicly traded owner of

multifamily properties in the United States based on the aggregate market value of its outstanding Common Shares the number

of apartment units wholly owned and total revenues earned The Companys corporate headquarters are located in Chicago

Illinois and the Company also operates property management offices in each of its markets As of December 31 2010 the

Company had approximately 4000 employees who provided real estate operations leasing legal financial accounting

acquisition disposition development and other support functions

EQR is the general partner of and as of December 31 2010 owned an approximate 95.5% ownership interest in ERP

Operating Limited Partnership an Illinois limited partnership the Operating Partnership All of EQRs property ownership

development and related business operations are conducted through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries References to

the Company inchide EQR the Operating Partnership and those entities owned or controlled by the Operating Partnership

and/or EQR

Business Objectives and Operating and Investing Strategies

The Company invests in apartment communities located in strategically targeted markets with the goal of maximizing

our risk adjusted total return operating income plus capital appreciation on invested capital

Our operating focus is on balancing occupancy and rental rates to maximize our revenue while exercising tight cost

control to generate the highest possible return to our shareholders Revenue is maximized by driving qualified
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resident prospects to our properties converting this traffic cost-effectively into new leases at the highest rent possible keeping

our residents satisfied and renewing their leases at yet higher rents While we believe that it is our high-quality well-located

assets that bring our customers to us it is our customer service that keeps them renting with us and recommending us to their

friends

We use technology to engage our customers in the way that they want to be engaged Many of our residents utilize our

web-based resident portal which allows them to review their account and make payments provide feedback and make service

requestc on-line

We seek to maximize capital appreciation of our properties by investing in markets that are characterized by conditions

favorable to multifamily property appreciation These markets generally feature one or more of the following

High barriers to entry where because of land scarcity or government regulation it is difficult or costly to build new

apartment properties leading to low supply

High single family home prices making our apartments more economical housing choice

Strong economic growth leading to household formation and job growth which in turn leads to high demand for our

apartments and

An attractive quality of life leading to high demand and retention and allowing us to more readily increase rents

Acquisitions and developments may be financed from various sources of capital which may include retained cash flow

issuance of additional equity and debt securities sales of properties joint venture agreements and collateralized and

uneollateralized borrowings In addition the Company may acquire properties in transactions that include the issuance of

limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership OP Units as consideration for the acquired properties Such

transactions may in certain circumstances enable the sellers to defer in whole or in part the recognition of taxable income or

gain that might otherwise result from the sales EQR may also acquire land parcels to hold andlor sell based on market

opportunities The Company may also seek to acquire properties by purchasing defaulted or distressed debt that encumbers

desirable properties in the hope of obtaining title to property through foreclosure or deed-in-lieu of foreclosure proceedings The

Company has also in the past converted some of its properties and sold them as condominiums but is not currently active in this

line of business

The Company primarily sources the funds for its new property acquisitions in its core markets with the sales proceeds

from selling assets that are older or located in non core markets During the last five years the Company has sold over 97000

apartment units for an aggregate sales price of $7.2 billion and acquired nearly 25000 apartment units in its core markets for

approximately $5.5 billion We are currently acquiring and developing assets primarily in the following targeted metropolitan

areas Boston New York Washington DC South Florida Southern California San Francisco Seattle and to lesser extent

Denver We also have investments in the aggregate about 18 of our NOI in other markets including Atlanta Phoenix

Portland Oregon New England excluding Boston Tampa Orlando and Jacksonville but do not intend to acquire or develop

assets in these markets

As part of its strategy the Company purchases completed and fully occupied apartment properties partially completed or

partially unoccupied properties or land on which apartment properties can be constructed We intend to hold diversified

portfolio of assets across our target markets Currently no single metropolitan area accounts for more than I7/ of our NOt

though no guarantee can be made that NOl concentration may not increase in the future

We endeavor to attract and retain the best employees by providing them with the education resources and opportunities to

succeed We provide many classroom and on-line training courses tosisto employees in interacting with prospects and residents as

well as extensively train our customer service specialists in maintaining the equipment and appliances on our property sites We

actively promote from within and many senior corporate and property leaders have risen from entry level or junior positions We

monitor our employees engagement by surveying them annually and have consistently received high engagement scores

We have commitment to sustainability and consider the environmental impacts of our business activities With its high

density multifamily housing is by its nature an environmentally friendly property type Our recent acquisition and development

activities have been primarily concentrated in pedestrian-friendly urban locations near public transportation When developing

and renovating our properties we strive to reduce energy and water usage by investing in energy saving technology while

positively impacting the experience of our residents and the value of our assets We continue to implement combination of

irrigation lighting and HVAC improvements at our properties that will reduce energy and water consumption

Current Environment

Through much of 2009 the Company assumed highly cautious outlook given uncertainty in the general economy and

the capital markets and expected reduction in our property pperations In late 2009 the Company saw that occupancy was
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firming This was an especially encouraging sign as it came during the Companys seasonally slower fourth quarter At the same

time the Company also saw marked improvement in the capital markets In
response the Company began acquiring assets and

increasing rents for both new and renewing residents which led to better operating and investment performance for the

Company 2010 was characterized by higher occupancy and rent levels than 2009 The Company increased rents to greater

extent in markets like the Northeast where the economy was stronger and multifamily operating conditions were better In 2010
the Company ceased to hold the large cash balances often $1.0 billion or more that it held in 2009 in anticipation of debt

maturities in an unsure capital markets climate This had the result of increasing the Companys earnings by decreasing debt

preftinding costs Finally the Company was aggressive in acquiring $1.5 billion of assets in its target markets in 2010

Improvement materialized throughout 2010 and as we enter 2011 we expect strong growth in same store revenue anticipated

increases ranging from 4.0% to 5.0% and NOl anticipated increases ranging from 5.0% to 7.5% and are optimistic that the

improvement realized in 2010 will be sustained for the foreseeable future

We currently have access to multiple sources of capital including the equity markets as well as both the secured and

unsecured debt markets In July 2010 the Company completed $600.0 million unsecured ten year notes offering with coupon

of 4.75% and an all-in effective interest rate of 5.09% The all-in rate combined with its accretive nature compared to maturing

2011 fixed rate debt led the Company to pursue this transaction The Company also raised $291.9 million in equity under its

ATM Common Share offering program in 2010 and has raised an additional $154.5 million under this program thus far in 2011

Given the strong market for many of our disposition assets and increased competition for assets in our target markets we

expect to be net seller of assets in 2011 in contrast to being net buyer of assets in 2010 The Company acquired 16

consolidated properties consisting of 4445 apartment units for $1.5 billion and six land parcels for $68.9 millionduring the year

ended December 31 2010 While competition for the properties we were interested in acquiring increased as 2010 progressed

due to the overall improvement in market fundamentals we were able to close several of what we believe are long-term value

added acquisition opportunities Our acquisition pipeline has moderated and we expect greater concentration of our 2011

acquisitions to occur in the latter half of the year We believe our access to capital our ability to execute large complex

transactions and our ability to efficiently stabilize large scale lease
up properties provide us with competitive advantage

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company sold 35 consolidated properties consisting of 7171 apartment units for

$718.4 million and 27 unconsolidated properties consisting of 6275 apartment units generating cash proceeds to the Company

pf $26.9 million as well as condominium units for $0.4 million and one land parcel for $4.0 million We expect to continue

strategic dispositions and see an increase in dispositions in 2011 as we believe there is currently robust market and favorable

pricing for certain of our non-strategic assets Our dispositions in 2010 were at higher capitalization cap rates see definition

in Results of Operations than the acquisitions we completed We expect this to continue in 2011 and expect to experience

dilution from past and future transactions

We believe that cash and cash equivalents securities readily convertible to cash current availability on our revolving

credit facility and disposition proceeds for 2011 will provide sufficient liquidity to meet our funding obligations relating to asset

acquisitions debt maturities and existing development projects through 2011 We expect that our remaining longer-term funding

requirements will be met through some combination of new borrowings equity issuances including the Companys ATM share

offering program property dispositions joint ventures and cash generated from operations There is significant uncertainty

surrounding the futures of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac Any changes to their mandates could have significant impact on the

Company and may among other things lead to lower values for our disposition assets and higher interest rates on our

borrowings Such changes may also provide an advantage to us by making the cost of financing single family home ownership

more expensive and provide us competitive advantage given the size of our balance sheet and the multiple sources of capital to

which we have access

We believe that the Company is well-positioned as of December31 2010 our properties are geographically diverse and

were approximately 94.1% occupied 94.5% on same store basis little new multifamily rental supply will be added to most of

our markets over the next several years and the long-term demographic picture is positive We believe our strong balance sheet

and ample liquidity will allow us to fund our debt maturities and development fundings in the near term and should also allow us

to take advantage of investment opportunities in the future As economic conditions continue to improve the short-term nature

of our leases and the limited supply of new rental housing being constructed should allow us to realize revenue growth and

improvement in our operating results

The Company anticipates that 2011 same store expenses will only increase 1.0% to 2.0% primarily due to modest

increases in payroll expenses real estate tax rates and utility cost growth same store expenses increased 0.9% for 2010 when

compared with the same period in the prior year This follows three consecutive years of excellent expense control same store

expenses declined 0.1% between 2009 and 2008 and grew 2.2% between 2008 and 2007 and 2.lo between 2007 and 2006

The current environment information presented above based on current expectations and is forward-looking
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Results of Operations

In conjunction with our business objectives and operating strategy the Company continued to invest in apartment

properties located in strategically targeted markets during the years ended December 31 2010 and December 2009 In

summary we

Year Ended December 31 2010

Acquired $1.1 billion of apartment properties consisting of 14 consolidated properties and 3207 apartment units at

weighted average cap rate see definition below of 5.4% and six land parcels for $68.9 million all of which we

deem to be in our strategic targeted markets

Acquired one unoccupied property in the second quarter of 2010 425 Mass in Washington D.C for $166.8 million

consisting of 559 apartment units that is expected to stabilize in its third year of ownership at an 8.5% yield on cost

and one property in the third quarter of 2010 Vantage Pointe in San Diego CA for $200.0 million consisting of 679

apartment units that was in the early stages of lease up and is expected to stabilize in its third year of ownership at

7.0% yield on cost

Acquired the 75% equity interest it did not own in seven previously unconsolidated properties consisting of 1811

apartment units at an implied cap rate of 8.4/o in exchange for an approximate $30.0 million payment to its joint

venture partner

Sold $718.4 million of consolidated apartment properties consisting of35 properties and 7171 apartment units at

weighted average cap rate of 6.7% condominium units for $0.4 million and one land parcel for $4.0 million the

majority of which was in exit or less desirable markets and

Sold the last of its 25 equity interests in an institutional joint venture consisting of 27 unconsolidated properties

containing 6275 apartment units These properties were valued in their entirety at $417.8 million which results in an

implied weighted average cap rate of 7.5% generating cash to the Company net of debt repayments of

$26.9 million

Year Ended December 31 2009

Acquired $145.0 million of apartment properties consisting of two properties and 566 apartment units excluding

the Companys buyout of its partners interest in one previously unconsolidated property and long-term leasehold

interest in land parcel for $1 1.5 million all of which we deem to be in our strategic targeted markets and

Sold $1.0 billion of apartment properties consisting of 60 properties and 12489 apartment units excluding the

Companys buyout of its partners interest in one previously unconsolidated property as well as 62 condominium

units for $12.0 million the majority of which was in exit or less desirable markets

The Companys primary financial measure for evaluating each of its apartment communities is net operating income

NOT NOl represents rental income less property and maintenance expense real estate tax and insurance expense and

property management expense The Company believes that NOT is helpful to investors as supplemental measure of its

operating performance because it is direct measure of the actual operating results of the Companys apartment communities

The cap rate is generally the first year NOT yield net of replacements on the Companys investment

Properties that the Company owned for all of both 2010 and 2009 the 2010 Same Store Properties which represented

112042 apartment units impacted the Companys results of operations Properties that the Company owned for all of both 2009

and 2008 the 2009 Same Store Properties which represented 113598 apartment units also impacted the Companys results

of operations Both the 2010 Same Store Properties and 2009 Same Store Properties are discussed in the following paragraphs

The Companys acquisition disposition and completed development activities also impacted overall results of operations

for the years ended December31 2010 and 2009 Dilution as result of the Companys net asset sales in 2009 partially offset by

net asset acquisitions and lease up activity in 2010 negatively impacts property net operating income The impacts of these

activities are discussed in greater detail in the following paragraphs

mparison of the year ended December 31 2010 to the year ended December 31 2009

For the year ended December 31 2010 the Company reported diluted earnings per share of $0.95 compared to $1.27 per

share for the year ended December31 2009 The difference is primarily due to $37.3 million in lower gains from property sales

in 2010 vs 2009 and $34.3 million in higher impairment losses in 2010 vs 2009
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For the year ended December 31 2010 loss from continuing operations increased approximately $22.8 million when

compared to the year ended December 31 2009 The decrease in continuing operations is discussed below

Revenues from the 2010 Same Store Properties decreased $2.1 million primarily as result of decrease in average

rental rates charged to residents partially offset by an increase in occupancy Expenses from the 2010 Same Store Properties

increased $6.2 million primarily due to increases in repairs and maintenance expenses mostly due to greater storm-related costs

such as snow removal and roof repairs incurred during the first quarter of 2010 higher property management costs and

increases in utility costs partially offset by lower real estate taxes and leasing and advertising expenses The following tables

provide comparative same store results and statistics for the 2010 Same Store Properties

2010 vs 2009

Same Store Results/Statistics

in thousands except for Average Rental Rate 112042 Same Store Units

Results Statistics

Average

Rental

Description Revenues Expenses NOt Rate Occupancy Turnover

2010 1728268 654663 1073605 1358 94.8% 56.7%

2009 1730335 648508 1081827 1375 93.7% 61.5%

Change 2067 6155 8222 17 1.1% 4.8%

Change 0.1% 0.9% 0.8o l.2o

Average rental rate is defined as total rental revenues divided by the weighted average occupied units for the period

The following table provides comparative same store operating expenses for the 2010 Same Store Properties

2010 vs 2009

Same Store Operating Expenses

in thousands 112042 Same Store Units

of Actual

2010

Actual Actual Operating

2010 2009 Change Change Expenses

Real estate taxes 174131 177180 3049 1.7% 26.6o

On-site payroll 156668 156446 222 0.1% 23.9%

Utilities 102553 100441 2112 2.1% 15.7%

Repairs and maintenance 97166 94223 2943 3.1% 14.8%

Property management costs 69995 64022 5973 9.3o 10.7%

Insurance 21545 21525 20 0.1% 3.3%

Leasing and advertising 14892 16029 1137 7.1% 2.3%

Other on site operating expenses 17713 18642 929 5.0o 2.7%

Same store operating expenses 654663 648508 6155 0.9% 100.0%

On-site payroll Includes payroll and related expenses for on-site personnel including property managers leasing consultants and

maintenance staff

Utilities Represents gross expenses prior to any recoveries under the Resident Utility Billing System RUBS Recoveries are

reflected in rental income

Repairs and maintenance Includes general maintenance costs unit turnover costs including interior painting routine landscaping

security extenninating fire protection snow removal elevator roof and parking lot repairs and other miscellaneous building repair

costs

Property management costs Includes payroll and related expenses for departments or portions of departments that directly support

on-site management These include such departments as regional and corporate property management property accounting human

resources training marketing and revenue management procurement real estate tax property legal services and information

technology

Other on-site operating expenses Includes administrative costs such as office supplies telephone and data charges and association and

business licensing fees
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The following table presents reconciliation of operating income
per

the consolidated statements of operations to NOl

for the 2010 Same Store Properties

Year Ended December

2010 2009

Amounts in thousands

Operating income 442001 496601

Adjustments

Non same store operating results 105960 21336

Fee and asset management revenue 9476 10346

Fee and asset management expense 5140 7519

Depreciation 656633 559271

General and administrative 39887 38994

Impairment 45380 t124

Same store NOl 1073605 1081827

For properties that the Company acquired prior to January 2010 and expects to continue to own through December

2011 the Company anticipates the following same store results for the fill year ending December 31 2011

2011 Same Store Assumptions

Physical occupancy 95.0%

Revenue change 4.Oo to 5.Oo

Expense change l.00o to 2.Oo

NOt change 5.0% to 7.5o

The Company anticipates consolidated rental acquisitions of $1.0 billion and consolidated rental dispositions of

$1.25 billion and expects that acquisitions will have l.2So lower cap rate than dispositions for the full year ending

December 31 2011

These 2011 assumptions are based on current expectations and are forward-looking

Non-same store operating results increased approximately $84.6 million and consist primarily of properties acquired in

calendar years 2009 and 2010 as well as operations from the Companys completed development properties and corporate

housing business While the operations of the non-same store assets have been negatively impacted during the year ended

December 31 2010 similar to the same store assets the non-same store assets have contributed greater percentage of total NOl

to the Companys overall operating results primarily due to increasing occupancy for properties in lease-up and longer

ownership period in 2010 than 2009 This increase primarily resulted from

Development and other miscellaneous properties in lease-up of $32.4 million

Newly stabilized development and other miscellaneous properties of $0.2 million

Properties acquired in 2009 and 2010 of $56.2 million and

Partially offset by an allocation of property management costs not included in same store results and operating

activities from other miscellaneous operations such as the Companys corporate housing business

See also Note 19 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the Companys

segment disclosures

Fee and asset management revenues net of fee and asset management expenses increased approximately $1.5 million or

53.4% primarily due to an increase in revenue earned on management of the Companysmilitary housing ventures at Fort Lewis

and McChord Air Force Base as well as decrease in asset management expenses partially offset by the unwinding of the

Companys institutional joint ventures during 2010 see Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further

discussion

Property management expenses
from continuing operations include off-site expenses associated with the self

management of the Companys properties as well as management fees paid to any third party management companies

These expenses increased approximately $9.2 million or 12.8% This increase is primarily attributable to an increase in payroll

related costs due primarily to higher health insurance and bonus costs acceleration of long-term compensation expense for

retirement eligible employees and the creation of the Companys central business group which moved administrative functions

off-site legal and professional fees education/conference expenses real estate tax consulting fees and travel expenses
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Depreciation expense from continuing operations which includes depreciation on non-real estate assets increased

approximately $97.4 million or 17.4% primarily as result ofadditional depreciation expense on properties acquired in 2009 and

2010 development properties placed in service and capital expenditures for all properties owned

General and administrative
expenses from continuing operations which include corporate operating expenses increased

approximately $0.9 million or 2.3% primarily due to higher overall payroll-related costs due primarily to higher bonus costs

partially offset by lower tax compliance fees and office rents The Company anticipates that general and administrative expenses

will approximate $40.0 million to $42.0 million for the year ending December 31 2011 The above assumption is based on

current expectations and is forward-looking

Impairment from continuing operations increased approximately $34.3 million due to $45.4 millionimpairment charge

taken during the fourth quarter of 2010 on land held for development related to two potential development projects compared to

an $11.1 million impairment charge taken during 2009 on land held for development See Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements for further discussion

Interest and other income from continuing operations decreased approximately $11.1 million or 67.0% primarily as

result of decrease in interest eamed on cash and cash equivalents and investment securities due to lower interest rates during the

year ended December 31 2010 and lower overall balances as well as gains on debt extinguishment and the sale of investment

securities recognized during the year ended December 31 2009 that did not reoccur in 2010 partially offset by an increase in

insurance/litigation settlement proceeds The Company anticipates that interest and other income will approximate $2.0 million

to $3.0 million for the year ending December 31 2011 The above assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-

looking

Other expenses from continuing operations increased approximately $5.4 million or 83.9% primarily due to an increase

in the expensing of overhead pursuit cost write-offs as result of the Companys decision to reduce its development activities in

prior periods as well as an increase in property acquisition costs incurred in conjunction with the Companys significantly higher

acquisition volume in 2010

Interest expense from continuing operations including amortization of deferred financing costs decreased

approximately $27.8 million or 5.500 primarily as result of lower overall debt balances and higher debt extinguishment

costs due to the significant debt repurchases in 2009 and lower rates in 2010 partially offset by interest expense on the

$500.0 million mortgage pool that closed in 2009 the $600.0 million of unsecured notes that closed in July 2010 and lower

capitalized interest During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company capitalized interest costs of approximately

$13.0 million as compared to $34.9 million for the year ended December 31 2009 This capitalization of interest primarily

relates to consolidated projects under development The effective interest cost on all indebtedness for the year ended

December 31 2010 was 5.14% as compared to 5.62o for the year ended December 31 2009 The Company anticipates

that interest expense excluding debt extinguishment costs and convertible debt discounts will approximate $470.0 million to

$480.0 million for the year ending December 31 2011 The above assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-

looking

Income and other tax expense from continuing operations decreased approximately $2.5 million or 88.1% primarily due

to decrease in franchise taxes for Texas and decrease in business taxes for Washington D.C The Company anticipates that

income and other tax expense will approximate $0.5 million to $1.5 million for the year ending December 31 2011 The above

assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-looking

Loss from investments in unconsolidated entities decreased approximately $2.1 million or 73.9% as compared to the year

ended December 31 2009 primarily due to the Companys $1.8 million share of defeasance costs incurred in conjunction with

the extinguishment of cross-collateralized mortgage debt on one of the Companys partially owned unconsolidated joint ventures

taken during the year ended December 31 2009 that did not reoccur in 2010

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities increased approximately $17.4 million primarily due to larger gains on sale

and revaluation of seven previously unconsolidated properties that were acquired from the Companys joint venture partner and

the gain on sale for 27 properties sold during the year ended December31 2010 compared with unconsolidated properties sold in

the same period in 2009

Net loss on sales of land parcels increased approximately $1.4 million primarily due to the loss on sale of one land parcel

during the year ended December 31 2010

Discontinued operations net decreased approximately $63.3 million or 16.7% between the periods under comparison

This decrease is primarily due to lower gains from property sales during the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the

same period in 2009 and the operations of those properties In addition properties sold in 2010 reflect operations for none of or
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partial period in 2010 in contrast to full or partial period in 2009 See Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements for further discussion

Cotnparison of the year ended December 31 2009 to the year ended December 31 2008

For the year ended December 31 2009 the Company reported diluted earnings per
share of$ 1.27 compared to $1.46 per

share for the year ended December 2008 The difference is primarily due to the following

$57.6 million in lower net gains on sales of discontinued operations in 2009 vs 2008

$84.0 million in lower property NOL in 2009 vs 2008 primarily driven by $51.6 million in lower same store NOl

and dilution from transaction activities partially offset by higher NOT contributions from lease-up properties and

Partially offset by $105.3 million in lower impairment losses in 2009 vs 2008

For the year ended December31 2009 income from continuing operations increased approximately $43.0 million when

compared to the year ended December 31 2008 The increase in continuing operations is discussed below

Revenues from the 2009 Same Store Properties decreased $52.4 million primarily as result of decrease in average

rental rates charged to residents and decrease in occupancy Expenses from the 2009 Same Store Properties decreased

$0.8 million primarily due to lower property management costs partially offset by higher real estate taxes and utility costs The

following tables provide comparative same store results and statistics for the 2009 Same Store Properties

2009 vs 2008

Same Store Results/Statistics

in thousands except for Average Rental Rate 113598 Same Store Units

Results Statistics

Average

Rental

Description Revenues Expenses NOT Rate Occupancy Turnover

2009 1725774 644294 1081480 1352 93.8o 6l.0

2008 1778183 645123 1133060 1383 94.5c 63.7%

Change 52409 829 51580 31 0.7o 2.7%

Change 2.9% 0.1% 4.6o 2.2%

Average rental rate is defined as total rental revenues divided by the weighted average occupied units for the period

The following table provides comparative same store operating expenses for the 2009 Same Store Properties

2009 vs 2008

Same Store Operating Expenses

in thousands l359 Same Store Units

of Actual

2009

Actual Actual Operating

2009 2008 Change Change Expenses

Real estate taxes 173113 171234 1879 1.1% 26.9o

On-site payroll 155912 156601 689 0.4o 24.2%

Utilities 100184 99045 1139 1.1% l5.5o

Repairs and maintenance 94556 95142 586 0.6o 14.7%

Property management costs 63854 67126 3272 4.9% 9.9%

Insurance 21689 20890 799 3.8o 3.4%

Leasing and advertising 15664 15043 621 4.lOo 2.4%

Other on-site operating expenses 19322 20042 720 3.6% 3.0o

Same store operating expenses 644294 645123 829 0.1% 100.0%

On-site payroll Includes payroll and related expenses for on-site personnel including property managers leasing consultants and

maintenance staff

39



Utilities Represents gross expenses prior to any recoveries under the Resident Utility Billing System RUBS Recoveries are

reflected in rental income

Repairs and maintenance Includes general maintenance costs unit turnover costs including interior painting routine landscaping

security exterminating fire protection snow removal elevator roof and parking lot repairs and other miscellaneous building repair

costs

Property management costs Includes payroll and related expenses for departments or portions of departments that directly support

on-site management These include such departments as regional and corporate property management property accounting human

resources training marketing and revenue management procurement real estate tax property legal services and information

technology

Other on-site operating expenses Includes administrative costs such as office supplies telephone and data charges and association and

business licensing fees

Non-same store operating results increased approximately $34.3 million or 79.4% and consist primarily of properties

acquired in calendar years 2008 and 2009 as well as operations from the Companys completed development properties and our

corporate housing business While the operations of the non-same store assets have been negatively impacted during the year

ended December 31 2009 similar to the same store assets the non-same store assets have contributed greater percentage of

total NOT to the Companys overall operating results primarily due to increasing occupancy for properties in lease-up and

longer ownership period in 2009 than 2008 This increase primarily resulted from

Development and other miscellaneous properties in lease-up of $22.4 million

Newly stabilized development and other miscellaneous properties of $1.6 million

Properties acquired in 2008 and 2009 of $11.9 million and

Partially offset by operating activities from other miscellaneous operations

See also Note 19 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the Companys

segment disclosures

Fee and asset management revenues net of fee and asset management expenses increased approximately $0.1 million or

3.4% primarily due to an increase in revenue earned on management of the Companys military housing ventures at Fort Lewis

and McChord Air Force Base as well as decrease in asset management expenses As of December 31 2009 and 2008 the

Company managed 12681 apartment units and 14485 apartment units respectively primarily for unconsolidated entities and its

military housing ventures at Fort Lewis and MeChord

Property management expenses from continuing operations include off-site expenses associated with the self-

management of the Companys properties as well as management fees paid to any third party management companies

These expenses decreased approximately $5.1 million or 6.7c This decrease is primarily artributable to lower overall payroll-

related costs as result of decrease in the number of properties in the Companys portfolio as well as decreases in temporary

help/contractors telecommunications and travel expenses

Depreciation expense from continuing operations which includes depreciation on non real estate assets increased

approximately $23.0 million or4.3o primarily as result of additional depreciation expense on properties acquired in 2008 and

2009 development properties placed in service and capital expenditures for all properties owned

General and administrative expenses from continuing operations which include corporate operating expenses decreased

approximately $6.0 million or 13.3% primarily due to lower overall payroll-related costs as result of decrease in the number of

properties in the Companys portfolio as well as $2.9 million decrease in severance related costs in 2009 and decrease in tax

consulting costs

Impairment from continuing operations decreased approximately $105.3 million due to an $11.1 million impairment

charge taken during 2009 on land parcel held for development compared to $116.4 million impairment charge taken in the

fourth quarter of 2008 on land held for development related to five potential development projects that are no longer being

pursued See Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

Interest and other income from continuing operations decreased approximately $16.8 million or 50.3% primarily as

result of an $18.7 million gain recognized during 2008 related to the partial debt extinguishment of the Companys notes

compared to $4.5 million gain recognized in 2009 see Note In addition interest earned on cash and cash equivalents

decreased due to decrease in interest rates and because the Company received less insurance/litigation settlement proceeds and

forfeited deposits in 2009 partially offset by $4.9 million gain on the sale of investment securities realized in 2009

Other expenses from continuing operations increased approximately $0.7 million or 12.6% primarily due to an increase

in transaction costs incurred in conjunction with the Companys acquisition of two properties consisting of 566 apartment units

from unaffiliated parties as well as expensing transaction costs associated with the Companys acquisition of all of its partners

interests in five previously partially owned properties consisting of 1587 apartment units in 2009
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Interest expense from continuing operations including amortization of deferred financing costs increased

approximately $16.9 million or 3.4% primarily as result of an increase in debt extinguishment costs and lower

capitalized interest During the year ended December 2009 the Company capitalized interest costs of approximately

$34.9 million as compared to $60.1 million for the year ended December 31 2008 This capitalization of interest primarily

relates to consolidated projects under development The effective interest cost on all indebtedness for the year ended

December 31 2009 was 5.62% as compared to 5.56% for the year ended December 31 2008

Income and other tax expense from continuing operations decreased approximately $2.5 millionor 46.9% primarily due

to change in the estimate for Texas state taxes and lower overall state income taxes partially offset by an increase in business

taxes for Washington D.C

Loss from investments in unconsolidated entities increased approximately $2.7 million as compared to the year ended

December 31 2008 primarily due to the Companys $1.8 million share of defeasance costs incurred in conjunction with the

extinguishment of cross-collateralized mortgage debt on one of the Companys partially owned unconsolidated joint ventures as

well as decline in the operating performance of these properties

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities increased approximately $7.8 million as the Company sold seven

unconsolidated properties in 2009 inclusive of the one property where the Company acquired its partners interest

compared to three unconsolidated properties in 2008

Net gain on sales of land parcels decreased approximately $3.0 million due to the sale of vacant land located in Florida

during the year ended December 31 2008 versus no land sales in 2009

Discontinued operations net decreased approximately $97.4 million or 20.4% between the periods under comparison

This decrease is primarily due to lower gains from property sales during the year ended December 31 2009 compared to the

same period in 2008 and the operations of those properties In addition properties sold in 2009 reflect operations for partial

period in 2009 in contrast to frill period in 2008 See Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for ftirther

discussion

Liquidity and Capital Resources

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

As of January 12010 the Company had approximately $193.3 million of cash and cash equivalents its restricted 1031

exchange proceeds totaled $244.3 million and it had $1.37 billion available under its revolving credit facility net of

$56.7 million which was restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and $75.0 million which had been committed by

now bankrupt financial institution and is not available for borrowing After taking into effect the various transactions discussed

in the following paragraphs and the net cash provided by operating activities the Companys cash and cash equivalents balance at

December 31 2010 was approximately $431.4 million its restricted 1031 exchange proceeds totaled $103.9 million and the

amount available on the Companys revolving credit facility was $1.28 billion net of $147.3 million which was restrictedl

dedicated to support letters of credit and net of the $75.0 million discussed above

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company generated proceeds from various transactions which included

the following

Disposed of 35 consolidated properties 27 unconsolidated properties condominium units and one land parcel

receiving net proceeds of approximately $699.6 million

Obtained $173.6 million in new mortgage financing

Issued $600.0 million of unsecured notes receiving net proceeds of $595.4 million before underwriting fees and other

expenses and

Issued approximately 8.8 million Common Shares including shares issued under the ATM program see further

discussion below and received net proceeds of $406.2 million

During the year ended December 31 2010 the above proceeds were primarily utilized to

Acquire 16 rental properties and six land parcels for approximately $1.2 billion

Acquire the 75 equity interest it did not own in seven previously unconsolidated properties consisting of 1811

apartment units in exchange for an approximate $26.9 million payment to its joint venture partner net of $3.1 million in

cash acquired

Invest $131.3 million primarily in development projects
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Repurchase 58130 Common Shares utilizing cash of $1.9 million see Note

Repay $652.1 million of mortgage loans and

Settle forward starting swap utilizing cash of $10.0 million

In September 2009 the Company announced the establishment of an At-The-Market ATM share offering program which

would allow the Company to sell up to 17.0 million Common Shares from time to time over the next three years into the existing trading

market at current market prices as well as through negotiated transactions The Company may but shall have no obligation to sell

Common Shares through the ATM share offering program in amounts and at times to be determined by the Company Actual sales will

depend on variety of factors to be determined by the Company from time to time including among others market conditions the

trading price of the Companys Common Shares and determinations of the appropriate sources of funding for the Company During the

year ended December31 2010 the Company issued approximately 6.2 million Common Shares at an avenge price of $47.45 per share

for total consideration of approximately $291.9 million through the ATM share offering program During the year ended December31

2009 the Company issued approximately 3.5 million Common Shares at an average price of $35.38 per
share for total consideration of

approximately $123.7 million through the ATM share offering program In addition during the first quarter of 2011 through

January 132011 the Company has issued approximately 3.0 million Common Shares at an average price of $50.84 per share for total

consideration of approximately $154.5 million The Company has not issued any shares under this program since January 13 2011

Through February 162011 the Company has cumulatively issued approximately 12.7 million Common Shares at an avenge price of

$44.94 per share for total consideration of approximately $570.1 million Including its recently filed prospectus supplement which

added 5687478 Common Shares the Company has 10.0 million Common Shares remaining available for issuance under the ATM

program

Depending on its analysis of market prices economic conditions and other opportunities for the investment of available

capital the Company may repurchase its Common Shares pursuant to its existing share repurchase program authorized by the

Board of Trustees The Company repurchased $1.9 million 58130 shares at an average price per share of $32.46 of its

Common Shares all related to the vesting of employee restricted shares during the year ended December 31 2010 As of

December 2010 the Company had authorization to repurchase an additional $464.6 million of its shares See Note in the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

Depending on its analysis of prevailing market conditions liquidity requirements contractual restrictions and other

factors the Company may from time to time seek to repurchase and retire its outstanding debt in open market or privately

negotiated transactions

The Companys total debt summary and debt maturity schedules as of December 31 2010 are as follows

Debt Summary as of December 31 2010

Amounts in thousands

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Maturities

Amounts of Total Rates years

Secured 4762896 47.900 4.79o 8.1

Unsecured 5185180 52.1% 4.96% 4.5

Total 9948076 100.0% 4.88% 6.2

Fixed Rate Debt

Secured Conventional 3831393 38.5% 5.68% 6.9

Unsecured Public/Private 4375860 44.0% 5.78% 5.1

Fixed Rate Debt 8207253 82.5o 5.7300 5.9

Floating Rate Debt

Secured Conventional 326009 3.3% 2.56% 0.7

Secured Tax Exempt 605494 6.1% 0.48% 20.4

Unsecured Public/Pnvate 809320 8.1% 1.72% 1.3

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility _____________
0.66o 1.2

Floating Rate Debt 1740823 17.5% 1.39o 7.5

Total 9948076 100.0% 4.88% 6.2

Net of the effect of any derivative instruments Weighted average rates are for the year ended December 31 2010

Note The Company capitalized interest of approximately $13.0 million and $34.9 million during the years ended December 31 2010 and

2009 respectively
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Debt Maturity Schedule as of December 31 2010

Amounts in thousands

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Fixed Floating Rates on Fixed Rates on

Year Rate Rate Total of Total Rate Debt Total Debt

2011 906266 759725 1665991 16.8o 5.28% 3.49o

2012 778181 38128 816309 8.2% 5.65% 5.57%

2013 269159 309828 578987 5.8% 6.72% 4.89%

2014 562583 22034 584617 5.9% 5.3l0o 5.24%

2015 357713 357713 3.6% 6.40c 6.40c

2016 1167662 1167662 11.7% 5.33o 5.33%

2017 1355830 456 1356286 13.6% 5.87% 5.87%

2018 80763 44677 125440 1.3% 5.72% 4.28%

2019 801754 20766 822520 8.3% 5.49o 5.36o

2020 1671836 809 1672645 16.8% 5.50% 5.50%

7071 255506 544400 799906 8.0% 6.62% 2.67%

Total 8207253 1740823 9948076 100.0% 5.63o 4.93%

Net of the effect of any derivative instruments Weighted average rates are as of December 2010

Includes $482.5 million face value of 3.85% convertible unsecured debt with final maturity of 2026 The notes are callable by the

Company on or after August 18 2011 The notes are putable by the holders on August 18 2011 August 15 2016 and August 15 2021

Includes the Companys $500.0 million term loan facility
which originally matured on October 2010 Effective April 12 2010 the

Company exercised the first of its two one-year extension options As result the maturity date is now October 2011 and there is one

remaining one-year extension option exercisable by the Company

The following table provides summary of the Companys unsecured debt as of December 31 2010
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Unsecured Debt Summary as of December 31 2010

Amounts in thousands

Unamortized

Coupon Due Face Premium Net

Rate Date Amount Discount Balance

Fixed Rate Notes

o.950n 03/02/I 93096 205 93301

625o 03/15/12 253858 229 253629

5.500o 10/01/12 222133 383 221750

5.200% 04/01/13 400000 266 399734

Fair Value Derivative Adjustments 300000 300000

5.250o 09/15/14 500000 228 499772

6.584o 04/13/15 300000 469 299531

5.125o 03/15/16 500000 278 499722

5.375o 08/01/16 400000 1036 398964

5.750o 06/15/17 650000 3306 646694

7.125% 10/15/17 150000 441 149559

4.750o 07/15/20 600000 4349 595651

7.570o 08/15/26 140000 140000

3.850% 08/15/26 482545 4992 477553

4391632 15772 4375860

Floating Rate Notes

04/01/13 300000 300000

Fair Value Derivative Adjustments 9320 9320

Term Loan Facility LIBOR0.500 10/05/Il 34 500000 500000

809320 809320

Revolving Credit Facility LIBOR0 S0n 02/29/12 15

Total Unsecured Debt 200952 15772 5185180

$300.0 million in fair value interest rate swaps converts portion of the 5.200% notes due April 2013 to floating interest rate

Convertible notes mature on August 15 2026 The notes are callable by the Company on or after August 18 2011 The notes are

putable by the holders on August 18 2011 August 15 2016 and August 15 2021

Facilities are private All other unsecured debt is public

Represents the Companys $500.0 million term loan facility which originally matured on October 2010 Effective April 12 2010

the Company exercised the first of its two one-year extension options As result the maturity date is now October 2011 and there is

one remaining one-year extension option exercisable by the Company

As of December 31 2010 there was approximately $1.28 billion available on the Companys unsecured revolving credit facility

An unlimited amount of equity and debt securities remains available for issuance by EQR and the Operating Partnership

under effective shelf registration statements filed with the SEC Most recently EQR and the Operating Partnership filed

universal shelf registration statement for an unlimited amount of equity and debt securities that became automatically effective

upon filing with the SEC in October 2010 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration statement automatically

expires on October 14 2013 and does not contain maximum issuance amount However as of February 16 2011 issuances

under the ATM share offering program are limited to 10.0 million additional shares
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The Companys Consolidated Debt-to-Total Market Capitalization Ratio as of December 31 2010 is presented in the

following table The Company calculates the equity component of its market capitalization as the sum ofi the total outstanding

Common Shares and assumed conversion of all Units at the equivalent market value of the closing price of the Companys

Common Shares on the New York Stock Exchange and ii the liquidation value of all perpetual preferred shares outstanding

Capital Structure as of December 31 2010

Amounts in thousands except for share/unit and per share amounts

Secured Debt 4762896 47.9%

Unsecured Debt 5185180 52.lo

Total Debt 9948076 100.0% 38.4%

Common Shares includes Restricted Shares 290197242 95.5%

Units includes OP Units and LTIP Units 13612037 4.5%

Total Shares and Units 303809279 100.0%

Common Share Price at December 31 2010 51.95

15782892 98.7%

Perpetual Preferred Equity see below 200000 1.3%

Total Equity 15982892 100.0% 61.6%

Total Market Capitalization 25930968 100.0%

Perpetual Preferred Equity as of December 31 2010

Amounts in thousands except for share and per share amounts

Annual Annual Weighted

Redemption Outstanding Liquidation Dividend Dividend Average

Senes Date Shares Value Per Share Amount Rate

Preferred Shares

8.29% Series 12/10/26 1000000 50000 4.145 4145

6.48 Series 6/19/08 600000 150000 16.20 9720

Total Perpetual Preferred Equity 1600000 200000 13865 6.93%

On November 2010 the Company redeemed its Series and Series Cumulative Convertible Preferred Shares for

cash consideration of $0.8 million and 355539 Common Shares

The Company generally expects to meet its short-term liquidity requirements including capital expenditures related to

maintaining its existing properties and certain scheduled unsecured note and mortgage note repayments through its working

capital net cash provided by operating activities and borrowings under its revolving credit facility Under normal operating

conditions the Company considers its cash provided by operating activities to be adequate to meet operating requirements and

payments of distributions However there may be times when the Company experiences shortfalls in its coverage of

distributions which may cause the Company to consider reducing its distributions and/or using the proceeds from property

dispositions or additional financing transactions to make up the difference Should these shortfalls occur for lengthy periods of

time or be material in nature the Companys financial condition may be adversely affected and it may not be able to maintain its

current distribution levels The Company reduced its quarterly common share dividend beginning with the dividend for the third

quarter of 2009 from $0.4825 per share to 50.3375 per share

During the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company announced new dividend policy which it believes will generate payouts

more closely aligned with the actual annual operating results of the Companys core business and provide transparency to

investors The Company intends to pay an annual cash dividend equal to approximately 65% of Normalized FF0 During the

year ended December31 2010 the Company paid 50.3375 per share for each of the first three quarters and $04575 per share for

the fourth quarter to bring the total payment for the year an annual rate of $1.47 per share to approximately 65% of Normalized

FF0 The Company anticipates the expected dividend payout will be $1.56 to $1.62 per share 50.3375 per share for each of the

first three quarters with the balance for the fourth quarter for the year ending December 31 2011 The above assumption is

based on current expectations and is forward-looking While the new dividend policy makes it less likely that the Company will

over distribute it will also lead to dividend reduction more quickly than in the past should operating results deteriorate The

Company believes that its expected 2011 operating cash flow will be sufficient to cover capital expenditures and distributions
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The Company also expects to meet its long-term liquidity requirements such as scheduled unsecured note and mortgage

debt maturities property acquisitions financing of construction and development activities and capital improvements through

the issuance of secured and unsecured debt and equity securities including additional OP Units and proceeds received from the

disposition of certain properties as well as joint ventures In addition the Company has significant unencumbered properties

available to secure additional mortgage borrowings in the event that the public capital markets are unavailable or the cost of

alternative sources of capital is too high The fair value of and cash flow from these unencumbered properties are in excess of the

requirements the Company must maintain in order to comply with covenants under its unsecured notes and line of credit Of the

$19.7 billion in investment in real estate on the Companys balance sheet at December 31 2010 $12.6 billion or 63.9% was

unencumbered However there can be no assurances that these sources of capital will be available to the Company in the future

on acceptable terms or otherwise

The Operating Partnerships credit ratings from Standard Poors SPMoodys and Fitch for its outstanding senior

debt are BBB Baal and BBB respectively The Companys equity ratings from Moodys and Fitch for its outstanding

preferred equity are BBB Baa2 and BBB- respectively During the fourth quarter of 2010 Fitch downgraded the Operating

Partnerships credit rating from A- to BBB and the Companys equity rating from BBB to BBB- which does not have an effect

on the Companys cost of funds During the first quarter of 2011 Moodys raised its outlook for both the Company and the

Operating Partnership from negative outlook to stable outlook

The Operating Partnership has $1 .425 billion net of $75.0 million which had been committed by now bankrupt

financial institution and is not available for borrowing long-term revolving credit facility with available borrowings as of

February 16 2011 of$ 1.34 billion net of $83.8 million which was restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and net of the

$75.0 million discussed above that matures in February 2012 See Note 10 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

for further discussion This facility may among other potential uses be used to fund property acquisitions costs for certain

properties under development and short-term liquidity requirements

On July 162010 portion of the parking garage collapsed at one of the Companys rental properties Prospect Towers in

Hackensack New Jersey The Company estimates that the costs related to such collapse both expensed and capitalized

including providing for residents interim needs lost revenue and garage reconstruction will be approximately $12.0 million

after insurance reimbursements of $8.0 million Costs to rebuild the garage will be capitalized as incurred Other costs like those

to acconmiodate displaced residents lost revenue due to portion of the property being temporarily unavailable for occupancy

and legal costs will reduce earnings as they are incurred Generally insurance proceeds will be recorded as increases to earnings

as they are received An impairment charge of $1.3 million was recognized to write-off the net book value of the collapsed

garage During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company received approximately $4.0 million in insurance proceeds

which fully offset the impairment charge and partially offset expenses of $5.5 million that were recorded relating to this loss and

are included in real estate taxes and insurance on the consolidated statements of operations In addition the Company estimates

that its lost revenues approximated $1.6 million during the year ended December31 2010 as result of the high-rise tower being

unoccupied following the garage collapse

See Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of the events which occurred subsequent to

December 31 2010

Capitalization of Fixed Assets and Improvements to Real Estate

Our policy with respect to capital expenditures is generally to capitalize expenditures that improve the value of the

property or extend the useful life of the component asset of the property We track improvements to real estate in two major

categories and several subcategories

Replacements inside the unit These include

flooring such as carpets hardwood vinyl linoleum or tile

appliances

mechanical equipment such as individual furnace/air units hot water heaters etc

furniture and fixtures such as kitchen/bath cabinets light fixtures ceiling fans sinks tubs toilets minors

countertops etc and

blinds/shades

All replacements are depreciated over five-year estimated useful life We expense as incurred all make-ready

maintenance and turnover costs such as cleaning interior painting of individual apartment units and the repair of any

replacement item noted above

Building improvements outside the unit These include

roof replacement and major repairs
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paving or major resurfacing of parking lots curbs and sidewalks

amenities and common areas such as pools exterior sports and playground equipment lobbies clubhouses

laundry rooms alarm and security systems and offices

major building mechanical equipment systems

interior and exterior structural repair and exterior painting and siding

major landscaping and grounds improvement and

vehicles and office and maintenance equipment

All building iniprovements are depreciated over five to ten-year estimated useful life We capitalize building

improvements and upgrades only if the item exceeds $2500 selected projects must exceed $10000 ii extends the

useful life of the asset and iii improves the value of the asset

For the year ended December 2010 our actual improvements to real estate totaled approximately $138.2 million This

includes the following amounts in thousands except for apartment unit and per apartment unit amounts

Capital Expenditures to Real Estate

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Total Avg Per Avg Per Avg Per

Apartment Apartment Building Apartment Apartment

Units Replacements Unit Improvements Untt Total Unit

Same Store Properties 112042 70620 630 54118 483 124738 1113

Non Same Store Properties 12824 4180 457 5547 607 9727 1064

Other 1509 2234 3743

Total 124866 76309 61899 138208

Total Apartment Units Excludes 4738 military housing apartment units for which repairs and maintenance expcnses and capital

expenditures to real estate are self-funded and do not consolidate into the Companys results

Replacements Includes new expenditures inside the apartment units such as appliances mechanical equipment fixtures and flooring

tncludtng carpettng Replacements tor same store properttes also tnclude $31 mtllton spent tn 2010 on apartment unit renovations

rehabs primarily kitchens and baths on 4331 apartment units equating to about $7300 per apartment unit rehabbed designed to

reposition these assets for higher rental levels in their respective markets

Same Store Properties Primarily includes all properties acquired or completed and stabilized prior to January 2009 less properties

subsequently sold

Non-Same Store Properties Primarily includes all properties acquired during 2009 and 2010 plus any properties in lease-up and not

stabilized as of January 2009 Per unit amounts are based on weighted average of 9141 apartment units

Other Primarily includes expenditures for properties sold during the period

For the year ended December31 2009 our actual improvements to real estate totaled approximately $123.9 million This

includes the following amounts in thousands except for apartment unit and
per apartment unit amounts

Capital Expenditures to Real Estate

For the Year Ended December 3t 2009

Total Avg Per Avg Per Avg Per

Apartment Apartment Bsttding Apartment Apartment

Units Replacements Unit Improvements Unit Total Unit

Same Store Properties3 113598 69808 614 44611 393 114419 1007

Non-Same Store Properttes4 10728 2361 240 3675 374 6036 614

OtherS 2130 1352 3482

Total 124326 74299 49638 123937

Total Apartment Jnits Excludes RIt56 uncnnsnlidated apartment units and 4595 military hnusing apartment units fnr which capital

expenditures to real estate are self-funded and do not consolidate into the Companys results

Replacements For same store properties includes $28.0 million spent on various assets related tu unit renovationsrehabs primarily

kitchens and baths designed to reposition these assets for higher rental levels in their respective markets

Same Store Properties Primarily includes all properties acquired or completed and stabilized prtor to January 12008 less properties

subsequently sold

Non Same Store Properties Primarily includes all properties acquired during 2008 and 2009 plus any properties in lease-up and not

stabilized as of January 2008 Per unit amounts are based on weighted average of 9823 apartment units

Other Primarily includes expenditures for properties sold durtng the period
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For 2011 the Company estimates that it will spend approximately $1200 per apartment unit of capital expenditures for

its same store properties inclusive of unit renovation/rehab costs or $850 per apartment unit excluding unit renovationlrehab

costs For 2011 the Company estimates that it will spend $41.0 million rehabbing 5500 apartment units equating to about

$7500 per apartment unit rehabbed The above assumptions are based on current expectations and are forward-looking

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Companys total non-real estate capital additions such as computer

software computer equipmcnt and furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements to the Companys property management

offices and its corporate offices were approximately $3.0 million The Company expects to fund approximately $8.5 million in

total additions to non-real estate property
in 2011 The above assumption is based on current expectations and is forward-

looking

Improvements to real estate and additions to non-real estate property are generally funded from net cash provided by

operating activities and from investment cash flow

Derivative Instruments

In the normal course of business the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes The Company seeks to

manage these risks by following established risk management policies and procedures including the use of derivatives to hedge

interest rate risk on debt instruments

The Company has policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based upon their credit ratings

and other factors When viewed in conjunction with the underlying and offsetting exposure that the derivatives are designed to

hedge the Company has not sustained material loss from these instruments nor does it anticipate any material adverse effect on

its net income or financial position in the future from the use of derivatives it currently has in place

See Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of derivative instruments at

December 31 2010

Other

Total distributions paid in January 2011 amounted to $141.3 million excluding distributions on Partially Owned

Properties which included certain distributions declared during the fourth quarter ended December 31 2010

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

The Company had co-invested in various properties that were unconsolidated and accounted for under the equity method

of accounting Management does not believe these investments had materially different impact upon the Companys liquidity

cash flows capital resources credit or market risk than its other property management and ownership activities During 2000

and 2001 the Company entered into institutional ventures with an unaffiliated partner At the respective closing dates the

Company sold andlor contributed 45 properties containing 10846 apartment units to these ventures and retained 25%

ownership interest in the ventures The Companys joint venture partner contributed cash equal to 75% of the agreed-upon equity

value of the properties comprising the ventures which was then distributed to the Company The Companys strategy with

respect to these ventures was to reduce its concentration of properties in variety of markets As of December 31 2010 the

Company had sold its interest in these unconsolidated ventures with the exception of eight properties consisting of 2061

apartment units which were acquired by the Company All of the related debt encumbering these ventures was extinguished

As of December 31 2010 the Company has four projects totaling 717 apartment units in various stages of development

with estimated completion dates ranging through September 30 2012 as well as other completed development projects that are

in various stages of lease up or are stabilized The development agreements currently in place are discussed in detail in Note 18 of

the Companys Consolidated Financial Statements

See also Notes and in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion regarding the

Companys investments in partially owned entities

The following table summarizes the Companys contractual obligations for the next five years and thereafter as of

December 31 2010
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Payments Due by Year in thousands

Contractual Obligations 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

Debt

Principal 1665991 816309 578987 584617 357713 5944459 9948076

Interest 460045 407793 367642 344599 309043 1016041 2905163

Operating Leases

Minimum Rent Payments ci 5.478 4285 4.43 4.736 4.729 320.928 344.587

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Deferred Compensation 1457 1770 1485 1677 1677 9182 17248

Total 2132971 1230157 952545 935629 673162 7290610 13215074

Amounts include aggregate principal payments only and includes in 2011 $500.0 million term loan that the Company has the right to

extend to 2012

Amounts include interest expected to be incurred on the Companys secured and unsecured debt based on obligations outstanding at

December 31 2010 and inclusive of capitalized interest For floating rate debt the current rate in effect for the most recent payment

through December 31 2010 is assumed to be in effect through the respective maturity date of each instrument

Minimum basic rent due for various office space the Company leases and fixed base rent due on ground leases for four properties/

parcels

Estimated payments to the Companys Chairman Vice Chairman and two former CEOs based on planned retirement dates

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

requires management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies including making estimates and assumptions If

our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions had been different or different

assumptions were made it is possible that different accounting policies would have been applied resulting in different financial

results or different presentation of our financial statements

The Companys significant accounting policies are described in Note in the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements These policies were followed in preparing the consolidated financial statements at and for the year ended

December 31 2010 and are consistent with the
year ended December 31 2009

The Company has identified five significant accounting policies as critical accounting policies These critical

accounting policies are those that have the most impact on the reporting of our financial condition and those requiring

significant judgments and estimates With respect to these critical accounting policies management believes that the application

of judgments and estimates is consistently applied and produces financial information that fairly presents the results of

operations for all periods presented The five critical accounting policies are

Acquisition of Investment Properties

The Company allocates the purchase price of properties to net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired based on

their fair values In making estimates of fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price the Company utilizes number of

sources including independent appraisals that may be obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing of the respective

property our own analysis of recently acquired and existing comparable properties in our portfolio and other market data The

Company also considers information obtained about each property as result of its pre-acquisition due diligence marketing and

leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets including its investments in real estate for indicators of

impairment The judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators are based on factors such as operational

performance market conditions and legal and environmental concerns as well as the Companys ability to hold and its

intent with regard to each asset Future events could occur which would cause the Company to conclude that impairment

indicators exist and an impairment loss is warranted
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Depreciation of Investment in Real Estate

The Company depreciates the building component of its investment in real estate over 30-year estimated useful life

building improvements over 5-year to 10-year estimated useful life and both the furniture fixtures and equipment and

replacements components over 5-year estimated useful life all of which are judgmental determinations

Cost Capitalization

See the Capitalization of Fixed Assets and Improvements to Real Estate section for discussion of the Companys policy

with respect to capitalization vs expensing of fixed asset/repair and maintenance costs In addition the Company capitalizes an

allocation of the payroll and associated costs of employees directly responsible for and who spend all of their time on the

supervision of major capital and/or renovation projects These costs are reflected on the balance sheet as an increase to

depreciable property

For all development projects the Company uses its professional judgment in determining whether such costs meet the

criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred The Company capitalizes interest real estate taxes and insurance and

payroll and associated costs for those individuals directly responsible for and who spend all of their time on development

activities with capitalization ceasing no later than 90 days following issuance of the certificate of occupancy These costs are

reflected on the balance sheet as construction-in-progress for each specific property The Company expenses as incurred all

payroll costs of on-site employees working directly at our properties except as noted above on our development properties prior

to certificate of occupancy issuance and on specific major renovations at selected properties when additional incremental

employees are hired

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Including Derivative Instruments

The valuation of financial instruments requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the fair value

of the instruments The Company where possible bases the fair values of its financial instruments including its derivative

instruments on listed market prices and third party quotes Where these are not available the Company bases its estimates on

current instruments with similar terms and maturities or on other factors relevant to the financial instruments

Funds From Operations and Normalized Funds From Operations

For the year ended December 31 2010 Funds From Operations FF0 available to Common Shares and Units and

Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units increased $7.3 million or 1.2% and $20.9 million or 3.2%

respectively as compared to the year ended December 31 2009 For the year ended December 31 2009 FF0 available to

Comirion Shares and Units and Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units decreased $2.9 million or 0.5% and

$73.5 million or 10.0% respectively as compared to the year ended December 31 2008
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The following is reconciliation of net income to FF0 available to Common Shares and Units and Normalized FF0

available to Common Shares and Units for each of the five years ended December 31 2010

Funds From Operatious and Normalized Fuos From Operations

Amowits in thousands

year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Net income 295983 382029 436413 1047356 1147617

Adjustments

Net income loss attributable to Noneontrolling
Interests

Preference Interests and Units 15 441 2002

Partially Owned Properties 726 558 2650 2200 3132

Premium on redemption
of Preference Interests 684

Depreciation 656633 559271 536283 509358 429737

Depreciation
Non real estate additions 6788 7355 8269 8279 7840

Depreciation Partially Owned and Unconsolidated Properties 1619 759 4157 4379 4338

Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entitiea 28101 10689 2876 2629 370

Discontinued operations

Depreciation 16770 41104 66625 107056 162780

Net gain on sales of discontinued operations 297956 335299 392857 933013 1025803

Net incremental gain loss on sales of condominium unite 1506 385 3932 20771 48961

FF0 l3 637154 629984 632879 742358 753602

Adjustments

Asset impairment and valuation allowances 45380 11124 116418 30000

Property acquisition costs and write-off of psreait costs other expenses 11928 6488 5760 1830 4661

Debt extinguishment game losses including prepayment penalties preferred share

redemptions and non-cash convertible debt discounts 8594 34333 2784 24004 21563

Gains losses on sales of non-operating assets net of income and other tax
expense

benetit 80 5737 979 34450 48592

Other miscellaneous non comparable items 6186 171 1725 5767 20880

Normalized FF0 23 696790 676021 749569 727975 740354

FF0 Us 637154 629984 632879 742358 753602

Preferred distributions 14368 t4479 14507 22792 37113

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares 6154 3965

FF0 available to Common Shares and Units l34 622786 615505 618372 713412 712524

Normalized FF0 23 696790 676021 749569 727975 740354

Preferred diatrihutinne 14368 14470 14507 22702 37113

Premium on redemption of Preferred Shares 6154 3965

Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units 234 682422 661542 735062 699029 699276

The National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts NAREIT defines funds from operations FF0 April 2002 White

Paper as net income computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States GAAP excluding

gains or losses from sales of depreciable property plus depreciation and amortization and after adjustments for unconsolidated

partnerships and joint ventures Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures will be calculated to reflect funds from

operations on the same basis The April2002 White Paper states that gain or loss on sales ofproperty is excludedfrom FF0for previously

depreciated operating properties only Once the Company cooimences the conversion of apartment units to condominiums it

sitnultaneously discontinues depreciation of such property

Normalized funds from operations Normalized FF0 begins with FF0 and excludes

lhe impact of any expenses relating to asset itnpairment and valuation allowances

property acquisition and other transaction costs related to mergers and acquisitions and purs uit cost write-offs other

expenses

gains and losses from early debt extinguishment including prepayment penalties preferred share redemptions and the

cost related to the implied option value of non-cash convertible debt discounts
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gains and losses on the sales of non-operating assets including gains and losses from land parcel and condominium

sales net of the ejfrct ojincome tax benefits or expenses and

other miscellaneous non-comparable items

The Company believes that FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and Units are helpful to investors as supplemental

measures of the operating performance of real estate company because they are recognized measures ofperformance by

the real estate industry and by excluding gains or losses related to dispositions of depreciable property and excluding real

estate depreciation which can vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition based on historical cost

accounting and useful life estimates FF0 and FF0 available to Common Shares and Units can help compare the

operating performance of company real estate between periods or as compared to different companies The company

also believes that Normalized FF0 and Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units are helpful to investors as

supplemental measures of the operating performance of real estate company because they allow investors to compare the

companys operating performance to its performance in prior reporting periods and to the operating performance of other

real estate companies without the effrct of items that by their nature are not comparable from period to period and tend to

obscure the Company actual operating results FF0 FF0 available to Common Shares and Units Normalized FF0 and

Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units do not represent net income net income available to Common

Shares or net cash flows from operating activities in accordance with GAAP Therefore FF0 FF0 available to Common

Shares and Units Normalized FF0 and Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units should not be exclusively

considered as alternatives to net income net income available to Common Shares or net cash flows from operating

activities as determined by GAAP or as measure of liquidity The Companys calculation of FF0 FF0 available to

Common Shares and Units Normnalized FF0 and Normnalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units may djferfromn

other real estate companies due to among other items variations in cost capitalization policies for capital expenditures

and accordingly may not be comparable to such other real estate companies

FF0 available to Conimon Shares and Units and Normalized FF0 available to Common Shares and Units are calculated

on basis consistent with net income available to Common Shares and reflects adjustments to net income for prefrrred

distributions and premiums on redemption of prefrrred shares in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States The equity positions of various individuals and entities that contributed their properties to

the Operating Partnership in exchange for OP Units are collectively refrrred to as the Noncontrolling Interests

Operating Partnership Subject to certain restrictions the Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership may

exchange their OP Units for EQR Common Shares on one-for-one basis
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market risks relating to the Companys financial instruments result primarily from changes in short-term LIBOR interest

rates and changes in the SIFMA index for tax-exempt debt The Company does not have any direct foreign exchange or other

significant market risk

The Companys exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the unsecured revolving and term

credit facilities as well as floating rate tax-exempt debt The Company typically incurs fixed rate debt obligations to finance

acquisitions while it typically incurs floating rate debt obligations to finance working capital needs and as temporary measure

in advance of securing long-term fixed rate financing The Company continuously evaluates its level of floating rate debt with

respect to total debt and other factors including its assessment of the current and future economic environment To the extent the

Company carries substantial cash balances this will tend to partially counterbalance any increase or decrease in interest rates

The Company also utilizes certain derivative financial instruments to manage market risk Interest rate protection

agreements are used to convert floating rate debt to fixed rate basis or vice versa as well as to partially lock in rates on friture

debt issuances Derivatives are used for hedging purposes rather than speculation The Company does not enter into financial

instruments for trading purposes See also Note 11 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of

derivative instruments

The fair values of the Companys financial instruments including such items in the financial statement captions as cash

and cash equivalents other assets lines of credit accounts payable and accrued expenses and other liabilities approximate their

carrying or contract values based on their nature terms and interest rates that approximate current market rates The fair value of

the Companys mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately $4.7 billion and $5.5 billion respectively at

December 31 2010

At December 31 2010 the Company had total outstanding floating rate debt of approximately $1.7 billion or 17.500 of

total debt net of the effects of any derivative instruments If market rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt permanently

increased by 14 basis points l0 increase from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the increase in

interest expense on the floating rate debt would decrease future earnings and cash flows by approximately $2.4 million If market

rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt permanently decreased by 14 basis points 10% decrease from the Companys

existing weighted average interest rates the decrease in interest expense on the floating rate debt would increase ftiture earnings

and cash flows by approximately $2.4 million

At December 31 2010 the Company had total outstanding fixed rate debt of approximately $8.2 billion or 82.5% of

total debt net of the effects of any derivative instruments If market rates of interest permanently increased by 57 basis points

10% increase from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the Companys fixed rate

debt would be approximately $7.5 billion If market rates of interest permanently decreased by 57 basis points 10% decrease

from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the Companys fixed rate debt would be

approximately $9.1 billion

At December 31 2010 the Companys derivative instruments had net liability fair value of approximately

$23.3 million If market rates of interest permanently increased by 12 basis points 10% increase from the Companys

existing weighted average interest rates the net liability fair value of the Companys derivative instruments would be

approximately $9.8 million If market rates of interest permanently decreased by 12 basis points 10% decrease from the

Companys existing weighted average interest rates the net liability fair value of the Companys derivative instruments would be

approximately $37.0 million

At December 31 2009 the Company had total outstanding floating rate debt of approximately $1.8 billion or 19.7% of

total debt net of the effects of any derivative instruments If market rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt permanently

increased by 13 basis points 10% increase from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the increase in

interest expense on the floating rate debt would decrease future earnings and cash flows by approximately $2.4 million If market

rates of interest on all of the floating rate debt permanently decreased by 13 basis points 10% decrease from the Companys

existing weighted average interest rates the decrease in interest expense on the floating rate debt would increase future earnings

and cash flows by approximately $2.4 million

At December 31 2009 the Company had total outstanding fixed rate debt of approximately $7.5 billion or 80.3c of

total debt net of the effects of any derivative instruments If market mtes of interest permanently increased by 59 basis points

10% increase from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the Companys fixed rate

debt would be approximately $6.9 billion If market rates of interest permanently decreased by 59 basis points 10% decrease

from the Companys existing weighted average interest rates the estimated fair value of the Companys fixed rate debt would be

approximately $8.4 billion
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At December31 2009 the Companys derivative instruments had net asset fair value of approximately $25.2 million If

market rates of interest permanently increased by 20 basis points 1000 increase from the Companys existing weighted average

interest rates the net asset fair value of the Companys derivative instruments would be approximately $35.5 million If market

rates of interest permanently decreased by 20 basis points 10% decrease from the Companys existing weighted average

interest rates the net asset fair value of the Companys derivative instruments would be approximately $15.9 million

These amounts were determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest rates on the Companys financial

instruments The foregoing assumptions apply to the entire amount of the Companys debt and derivative instruments and do not

differentiate among maturities These analyses do not consider the effects of the changes in overall economic activity that could

exist in such an environment Further in the event of changes of such magnitude management would likely take actions to

further mitigate its exposure to the changes However due to the uncertainty of the specific actions that would be taken and their

possible effects this analysis assumes no changes in the Companys financial structure or results

The Company cannot predict the effect of adverse changes in interest rates on its debt and derivative instruments and

therefore its exposure to market risk nor can there be any assurance that long-term debt will be available at advantageous

pricing Consequently future results may differ materially from the estimated adverse changes discussed above

Item Financial Statements andSupplementary Data

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page
F-i of this Form 10-K

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Effective as of December 31 2010 the Company carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the

participation of the Companys management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the

effectiveness of the Companys disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 3a-l and Sd-iS

Based on that evaluation the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the disclosure controls

and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its Exchange Act

filings is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules and forms

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Equity Residentials management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such term is defined in Rule 3a- 15f under the Exchange Act Under the supervision and

with the participation of management including the Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Therefore even those systems determined to be effective can only provide reasonable

assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation

Based on the Cothpanys evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework

management concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31

2010 Our internal control over financial reporting has been audited as of December 31 2010 by Ernst Young

LLP an independent registered public accounting firm as stated in their report which is included herein

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to the internal control over financial reporting of the Company identified in connection with

the Companys evaluation referred to above that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2010 that have materially

affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Items 10 11 12 13 and 14

Trustees Executive Officers and Corporate Governance Executive Compensation Security Ownership of Certain

Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

and Trustee Independence and Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 10 Item 11 Item 12 Item 13 and Item 14 is incorporated by reference to and will be contained

in the Companys Proxy Statement which the Company intends to file no later than 120 days after the end of its fiscal year

ended December 31 2010 and thus these items have been omitted in accordance with General Instruction G3 to Form 10-K
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Report

Financial Statements See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-i of this Form 10-K

Exhibits See the Exhibit Index

Financial Statement Schedules See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-I of this

Form 10-K
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

By Is David Neithercut

David Neithercut President and

Chief Executive Officer

Date February 24 2011



EQUTY RESIDENTIAL

ERP OPERATING LIMITED PARTNERSHIP

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN/WOMEN BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below hereby

constitutes and appoints David Neithercut Mark Parrell and Ian Kaufman or any of them his or her attomeys-in

fact and agents with thu power of substitution and resubstitution for him or her in any and all capacities to do all acts and things

which said attomeys and agents or any of them deem advisable to enable the company to comply with the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended and any requirements or regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in

connection with the companys filing of an annual report on Form 10-K for the companys fiscal year 2010 including

specifically but without limitation of the general authority hereby granted the power and authority to sign his or her name as

trustee or officer or both of the company as indicated below opposite his or her signature to the Form 10-K and any

amendment thereto and each of the undersigned does hereby filly ratify and confirm all that said attorneys and agents or any of

them or the substitute of any of them shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities set forth below and on the dates indicated

Name Title Date

Is David Neithercut President Chief Executive Officer and Trustee February 24 2011

David Neithercut

Is Mark Parrell Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer February 24 2011

Mark Parrell

/s/Ian Kaufman Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer February 24 2011

lan Kaufman

Is John Alexander Trustee February 24 2011

John Alexander

Is Charles Atwood Trustee February 24 2011

Charles Atwood

Is Linda Walker Bynoe Trustee February 24 2011

Linda Walker Bynoe

Is John Neal Trustee February 24 2011

John Neal

Is Mark Shapiro Trustee February 24 2011

Mark Shapiro

Is Joseph White Trustee February 24 2011

Joseph White

Is Gerald Spector Vice Chairman of the Board of Trustees February 24 2011

Gerald Spector

Is Samuel Zell Chainnan of the Board of Trustees February 24 2011

Samuel Zell
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders

Equity Residential

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Equity Residential the Company as of December31 2010

and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of operations changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31 2010 Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index to

the consolidated financial statements and schedule These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the

Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of Equity Residential at December31 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles Also in our opinion the related financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic consolidated

financial statements taken as whole presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Equity Residentials internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based on criteria established in Internal

Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our

report dated February 24 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 24 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders

Equity Residential

We have audited Equity Residentials the Company internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2010 based

on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission the COSO Criteria Equity Residentials management is responsible for maintaining effective

internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of

internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and

operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures

that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and

dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the

company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or

disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to thture periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate

because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Equity Residential maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2010 based on the COSO Criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated balance sheets of Equity Residential as of December 31 2010 and 2009 and the related consolidated statements of

operations changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2010 of Equity

Residential and our report dated February 24 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is ERNST YOUNG LLP

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 24 2011
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Amounts in thousands except for share amounts

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

ASSETS

Investment in real estate

Land 4110275 3650324

Depreciable property 15226512 13893521

Projects under development 130337 668979

Land held for development 235247 252320

Investment in real estate 19702371 18465144

Accumulated depreciation 4337357 3877564

Investment in real estate net 15365014 14587580

Cash and cash equivalents 431408 193288

Investments in unconsolidated entities 3167 6995

Deposits restricted 180987 352008

Escrow deposits mortgage 12593 17292

Deferred financing costs net 42033 46396

Other assets 148992 213956

Total assets 16184194 15417515

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities

Mortgage notes payable 4762896 4783446

Notes net 5185180 4609124

Lines of credit

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 39452 58537

Accrued interest payable 98631 101849

Other liabilities 304202 272236

Security deposits 60812 59264

Distributions payable 140905 100266

Total liabilities 10592078 9984722

Cornmittnents and contingencies

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership 383540 258280

Equity

Shareholders equity

Preferred Shares of beneficial interest $0.01 par value

100000000 shares authorized 1600000 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31 2010 and 1950925

shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2009 200000 208773

Common Shares of beneficial interest $0.01 par value

1000000000 shares authorized 290197242 shares issued

and outstanding as of December 31 2010 and 279959048

shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 2009 2902 2800

Paid in capital 4741521 4477426

Retained earnings 203581 353659

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 57818 4681

Total shareholders equity 5090186 5047339

Noncontrolling Interests

Operating Partnership 110399 116120

Purtidlly Owued Properties 7991 11054

Total Noneontrolling Interests 118390 127174

Total equity 5208576 5174513

Total liabilities and equity 16184194 15417515

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Amounts in thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

REVENUES
Rental incume 1986043 1846157 1876273

Fee and asset management 9476 10346 10715

Total revenues 1995519 1856503 1886988

EXPENSES

Property and maintenance 498634 464809 485754

Real estate taxes and insurance 226718 206247 194671

Property management 81126 71938 77063

Fee and asset management 5140 7519 7981

Depreciation 656633 559271 536283

General and administrative 39887 38994 44951

Impairment 45380 11124 116418

Total expenses l5j3518 1359902 1403121

Operating income 442001 496601 423867

Interest and other income 5469 16585 33337

Other expenses 11928 6487 5760
Interest

Expense incurred net 470654 496272 482317
Amortization of deferred financing costs 10369 12566 9647

Loss before income and other taxes loss from

investments in unconsolidated entities net gain loss on sales of

unconsolidated entities and land parcels and discontinued operations 45481 2139 40520
Income and other tax expense benefit 334 2804 5279
Loss from investments in unconsolidated entities 735 2815 107
Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities 28101 10689 2876

Net loss gain on sales of land parcels 1395 2976

Loss income from continuing operations 19844 2931 40054
Discontinued operations net 315827 379098 476467

Net income 295983 382029 436413

Net income loss attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Operating Partnership 13099 20305 26126
Preference Interests and Units 15
Partially Owned Properties 726 558 2650

Net income attributable to controlling interests 283.610 362273 407622

Preferred distributions 14368 14479 14507

Net income available to Common Shares 269242 347794 393115

Earnings per share basic

Loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares 0.11 0.04 0.20

Net income available to Common Shares 0.95 1.27 1.46

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 282888 273609 270012

Earnings per share diluted

Loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares 0.11 0.04 0.20

Net income available to Common Shares 0.95 1.27 1.46

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 282888 273609 270012

Sec accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS Continued

Amounts in thousands except per share data

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Comprehensive income

Net income 295983 382029 436413

Other comprehensive loss income derivative instruments

Unrealized holding losses gains arising during the year 65894 37676 23815
Losses reclassified into earnings from other comprehensive income 3338 3724 2696

Other 449

Other comprehensive income loss other instruments

Unrealized holding gains arising during the year 57 3574 1202

Gains realized during the year 4943

Comprehensive income 233484 422509 416496

Comprehensive income attributable to Noncontrolling Interests 12373 19756 28791

Comprehensive income attributable to controlling interests 221111 402753 387705

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 295983 382029 436413

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation 673403 600375 602908

Amortization of deferred financing costs 10406 13127 9701

Amortization of discounts on investment securities 1661 365
Amortization of discounts and premiums on debt 471 5857 9730

Amortization of deferred settlements on derivative instruments 2804 2228 1317

Impairment 45380 11124 116418

Write off of pursuit costs 5272 4838 5535

Property acquisition costs 6656 1650 225

Loss from investments in unconsolidated entities 735 2815 107

Distributions from unconsolidated entities return on capital
61 153 116

Net gain on sales of investment securities 4943
Net gain on sales of unconsolidated entities 28101 10689 2876
Net loss gain on sales of land parcels 1395 2976
Net gain on sales of discontinued operations 297956 335299 392857

Loss gain on debt extinguishments 2457 17525 18656
Unrealized loss gain on derivative instruments 500

Compensation paid with Company Common Shares 18875 17843 22311

Changes in assets and liabilities

Decrease increase in deposits restricted 3316 3117 1903

Increase decrease in other assets 9048 11768 1488
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses 5454 34524 821

Decrease in accrued interest payable 4000 11997 10871
Increase decrease in other liabilities 9972 2220 19412
Increase decrease in security deposits 1007 5091 2196

Net cash provided by operating activities 732693 672462 755252

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in real estate acquisitions 1189210 175531 388083

Investment in real estate development/other 131301 330623 521546

Improvements to real estate 138208 123937 169838

Additions to non-real estate property 2991 2028 2327
Interest capitalized for real estate under development 13008 34859 60072
Proceeds from disposition of real estate net 672700 887055 887576

Distributions from unconsolidated entities return of capital 26924 6521 3034

Purchase of investment securities 77822 158367

Proceeds from sale of investment securities 25000 215753

Property acquisition costs 6656 1650 225
Decrease increase in deposits on real estate acquisitions net 137106 250257 65395

Decrease in mortgage deposits 4699 2437 445

Consolidation of previously unconsolidated properties 26854
Deconsolidation of previously consolidated properties 11708

Acquisition of Noncontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties 16023 11480 20

Net cash used for provided by investing activities 646114 103579 344028

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

173561

73232

635285

16769

2457

595422

5513125

5513125
10040

329452

5112

71596

1887

877
4657

48
222

379969

14471

18867
2918

151541

238120

193288

431408

738798

46664

939022

17763

2400

850115

19.9251

11253

86184

5292

9136

1124

2536

16
893

78

488604

14479

12
28935
2423

1473547

697506

890794

193288

1841453

37262

411391

24034

81

304043

18.73

841000

980000

26781

6170

24634

12548

102
16

2083

522195

14521

15
34584
3056

428739

839963

50831

890794

See accompanying notes

2010 2009 2008

8811 9291 9233

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCINU ACTIVITIES

Loan and bond acquisition costs

Mortgoge notes poyo b/c

Proceeds

Restricted cash

Lump sum payoffs

Scheduled principal repayments

Loss gain on debt extinguishments

Notes net

Proceeds

Lump sum payoffs

Loss gain on debt extinguishments

Lines of credit

Proceeds

Repayments

Payments on proceeds from settlement of derivative instruments

Proceeds from sale of Common Shares

Proceeds from Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP
Proceeds from exercise of options

Common Shares repurchased and retired

Redemption of Preferred Shares

Payment of offering costs

Other financing activities net

Contributions Noncontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties

Contributions Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership

Distributions

Common Shares

Preferred Shares

Preference Interests and Units

Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership

Noncontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties

Net cash provided by used for financing activities

Net increase decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents end of year
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Continued

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest net of amounts capitalized 475374 508847 4Ql8tt3

Net cash received paid for income and other taxes 2740 3968 1252

Real estate acquistttons/dtspositions/other

Mortgage loans assumed 359082 24946

Valuation of OP Units issued 8245 1034 849

Mortgage loans assumed by purchaser 39999 17313

Amorttzatton of deferred financing costs

Investment in real estate net 2768 3585 1986

Deferred financing costs net 13174 16712 11687

Amortization of discounts and premtums on debt

Investment in real estate net

Mortgage notes payable 9208 6097 6287

Notes net 8737 11957 16023

Amortization of deft rred settlements on derivative instruments

Other liabilities 534 1496 1379

Accumulated other comprehensive income 3338 3724 2696

Unrealized loss gain on derivative instruments

Other assets 13019 33261 6680

Mortgage notes payable 163 1887 6272

Notes net 7497 719 1846

Other liabilities 45542 3250 22877

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 65894 37676 23815

Payments on proceeds frooz settlement of derivative instruments

Other assets 11253 98

Other liabilities 10040 26683

Consolidation of previously unconsolidated properties

Investment in real estate net 105065

Investments in unconsolidated entities 7376

Deposits restricted 42b33

Mortgage notes payable 112631

Net other assets recorded 837

Deconsolidaiion of previously consolidated properties
_______________ _______________ _______________

Investment in real estate net 14875

Investments in unconsolidated entities 3167

Other

Receivable on sale of Common Shares 37550

Transfer from notes net to mortgage notes payable 35600

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQifiTY

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 2010 2009 2008

PREFERRED SHARES

Balance beginning of year 208773 208786 209662

Redemption of 7.00% Series Cumulative Convertible 834
Conversion of 7.00o Series Cumulative Convertible 7378 13 828
Conversion of 700% Series Cumulative Convertible 561 48

Balance end of year 200000 208773 208786

COMMON SHARES $0.01 PAR VALUE

Balance beginning of year 2800 2728 2696

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares

Conversion of OP Units into Common Shares 27 17

Issuance of Common Shares 61 35

Exercise of share options 25 10

Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP
Share-based employee compensation expense

Restrictedlperformance shares

Common Shares repurchased and retired

Balance end of year 2902 2800 2728

PAID IN CAPITAL

Balance beginning of year 4477426 4273489 4134209

Common Share Issuance

Conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares 7936 13 876

Cnnversinn nf OP Units into Common Shares 19.713 48.776 49.884

Issuance of Common Shares 291841 123699

Exercise of share optioos 71571 9132 24624

Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP 51 10 5289 6168

Share-based employee compensation expense

Performance shares 179

Restricted shares 9779 11129 17273

Share options 7421 5996 5846

ESPP discount 1290 1303 1289

Common Shares repurchased and retired 1887 1124 7906

Offering costs 4657 2536 102
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan SERP 8559 27809 7304
Acquisition of Nooeontrolliog Interests Partially Owned Properties 16888 1496

Change in iiiciiket value 0f Redeemable Nooeootrulliog Interests Operating

Partnership 129918 14544 65524

Adjustment for Noncontrolling Interests ownership in Operating Partnership 5775 9688 16884

Balance end of year $4741521 $4477426 $4273489

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY Continued

Amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY continued 2010 2009 2008

RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance beginning of year 353659 456.152 586.685

Net income attributable to controlling interests 283610 362273 407622

Common Share distributions 419320 450287 523648

Preferred Share distributions 14368 14479 14507

Balance end of year $203581 353659 456152

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS INCOME
Balance beginning of year 4681 35799 15882

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income derivative instruments

Unrealized holding losses gains ansing during the year 65894 37676 23815
Losses reclassified into eamings from other comprehensive income 3338 3724 2696

Other 449

Accumulated other comprehensive income lossi other instruments

Unrealized holding gains arising during the year 57 3574 1202

Gains realized during the year 4943

Balance end of year 57818 4681 35799

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

OPERATING PARTNERSHIP

Balance beginning of year $116120 137645 162185

Issuance of OP Units to Noneontrolling Interests 8245 1034 849

Issuance of LTIP Units to Noneontrolling Interests 78

Conversion of OP Units held by Noncontrolling Interests into

OP Units held by General Partner 19722 48803 4OI
Equity compensation associated with Noneontrolling Interests 2524 1194

Net income attributable to Noneontrollmg Interests 13099 20305 26126

Distributions to Noneontrolling Interests 20300 25679 33745
Change in carrying value of Redeemable Noneontrolling Interests Operating

Partnership 4658 20658 15247

Adjustment for Noneontrolling Interests ownership in Operating Partnership 5775 9688 16884

Balance end of year $110399 116120 137645

PREFERENCE INTERESTS AND UNITS

Balance beginning of year 184 184

Conversion of Series Junior Preference Units 184

Balance end of year 184

PARTIALLY OWNED PROPERTIES

Balance beginning of year 11054 25520 26236

Net loss income attributable to Noneontrolling Interests 726 558 2650

Contributions by Noneontrolling Interests 222 893 2083

Distributions to Noneontrolling Interests 2952 2439 3072
Acquisition of Noneontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties 175 11705 1877
Other 218 657 500

Balance end of year 7991 11054 25520

See accompanying notes
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EQUITY RESIDENTIAL

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Business

Equity Residential EQR Maryland real estate investment trust REIT formed in March 1993 is an

SP 500 company focused ou the acquisition development and management of high quality apartment properties in top

United States growth markets EQR has elected to be taxed as REIT

EQR is the general partner of and as of December 31 2010 owned an approximate 95.5% ownership interest in ERP

Operating Limited Partnership an Illinois limited partnership the Operating Partnership The Company is structured as an

umbrella partnership REIT UPREIT under which all property ownership and related business operations are conducted

through the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries References to the Company include EQR the Operating Partnership

and those entities owned or controlled by the Operating Partnership and/or EQR

As of December31 2010 the Company directly or indirectly through investments in title holding entities owned all or

portion of 451 properties located in 17 states and the District of Columbia consisting of 129604 apartment units The ownership

breakdown includes table does not include various uncompleted development properties

Apartment

Properties Units

Wholly Owned Properties 425 119634

Partially Owned Properties Consolidated 24 5232

Military Housing 4738

451 129604

The Wholly Owned Properties are accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting The Company

beneficially owns 10000 fee simple title to 422 of the 425 Wholly Owned Properties and all but one of its wholly owned

development properties and land parcels The Company owns the building and improvements and leases the land underlying the

improvements under long-term ground leases that expire in 20262077 and 2101 for the three operating properties respectively

and 2104 for one land parcel These properties are consolidated and reflected as real estate assets while the ground leases are

accounted for as operating leases

The Partially Owned Properties Consolidated are controlled by the Company but have partners with noncontrolling

interests and are accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting The Military Housing properties consist of

investments in limited liability companies that as result of the terms of the operating agreements are accounted for as

management contract rights with all fees recognized as fee and asset management revenue

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

Due to the Companys ability as general partner to control either through ownership or by contract the Operating

Partnership and its subsidiaries the Operating Partnership and each such subsidiary has been consolidated with the Company for

financial reporting purposes except for an unconsolidated development land parcel and our military housing properties The

consolidated financial statements also include all variable interest entities for which the Company is the primary beneficiary

Real Estate Assets and Depreciation of Investment in Real Estate

Effective for business combinations on or after January 2009 an acquiring entity is required to recognize all assets

acquired and liabilities assumed in transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions In addition an

acquiring entity is required to expense acquisition-related costs as incurred amounts are included in the other expenses line item

in the consolidated statements of operations value noncontrolling interests at fair value at the acquisition date and expense

restructuring costs associated with an acquired business

The Company allocates the purchase price of properties to net tangible and identified intangible assets acquired based on

their fair values In making estimates of fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price the Company utilizes number of

sources including independent appraisals that may be obtained in connection with the acquisition or financing of the respective

property our own analysis of recently acquired and existing comparable properties in our portfolio and other market data The

Company also considers information obtained about each property as result of its pre-acquisition due diligence marketing and
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leasing activities in estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired The Company allocates the purchase

price of acquired real estate to various components as follows

Land Based on actual purchase price if acquired separately or market research/comparables if acquired with an

operating property

Furniture Fixtures and Equipment Ranges between $8000 and $13000 per apartment unit acquired as an

estimate of the fair value of the appliances and fixtures inside an apartment unit The per-apartment unit amount

applied depends on the type of apartment building acquired Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method

over an estimated useful life of five years

In Place Leases The Company considers the value of acquired in-place leases and the amortization period is the

average remaining term of each respective in-place acquired lease

Other Intangible Assets The Company considers whether it has acquired other intangible assets including any

customer relationship intangibles and the amortization period is the estimated useful life of the acquired intangible

asset

Building Based on the fair value determined on an as-if vacant basis Depreciation is calculated on the straight-

line method over an estimated useful life of thirty years

Replacements inside an apartment unit such as appliances and carpeting are depreciated over five-year estimated useful

life Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred and significant renovations and

improvements that improve and/or extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized over their estimated useful life generally five

to ten years Initial direct leasing costs are expensed as incurred as such
expense approximates the deferral and amortization of

initial direct leasing costs over the lease terms Property sales or dispositions are recorded when title transfers to unrelated third

parties contingencies have been removed and sufficient cash consideration has been received by the Company Upon

disposition the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts Any gain or loss on

sale is recognized in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

The Company classifies real estate assets as real estate held for disposition when it is certain property will be disposed

of see further discussion below

The Company classifies properties under development and/or expansion and properties in the lease-up phase including

land as construction-in-progress until construction has been completed and all certificates of occupancy permits have been

obtained

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates its long-lived assets including its investments in real estate for indicators of

impairment The judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators are based on factors such as operational

performance market conditions and legal and environmental concerns as well as the Companys ability to hold and its

intent with regard to each asset Future events could occur which would cause the Company to conclude that impairment

indicators exist and an impairment loss is warranted

For long-lived assets to be held and used the Company compares the expected future undiscounted cash flows for the

long-lived asset against the carrying amount of that asset If the sum of the estimated nndiscounted cash flows is less than the

carrying amount of the asset the Company would record an impairment loss for the difference between the estimated fair value

and the carrying amount of the asset

For long-lived assets to be disposed of an impairment loss is recognized when the estimated fair value of the asset less

the estimated cost to sell is less than the carrying amount of the asset measured at the time that the Company has determined it

will sell the asset Long-lived assets held for disposition and the related liabilities are separately reported with the long lived

assets reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or their estimated fair values less their costs to sell and are not depreciated

after reclassification to real estate held for disposition

Cost Capitalization

See the Real Estate Assets and Depreciation of Investment in Real Estate section for discussion of the Companyspolicy

with respect to capitalization vs expensing of fixed asset/repair and maintenance costs In addition the Company capitalizes an

allocation of the payroll and associated costs of employees directly responsible for and who spend all of their time on the
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supervision of major capital andlor renovation projects These costs are reflected on the balance sheet as an increase to

depreciable property

For all development projects the Company uses its professional judgment in determining whether such costs meet the

criteria for capitalization or must be expensed as incurred The Company capitalizes interest real estate taxes and insurance and

payroll and associated costs for those individuals directly responsible for and who spend all of their time on development

activities with capitalization ceasing no later than 90 days following issuance of the certificate of occupancy These costs are

reflected on the balance sheet as construction-in-progress for each specific property The Company expenses as incurred all

payroll costs of on-site employees working directly at our properties except as noted above on our development properties prior

to certificate of occupancy issuance and on specific major renovations at selected properties when additional incremental

employees are hired

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all demand deposits money market accounts and investments in certificates of deposit and

repurchase agreements purchased with maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents The

Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions The combined account balances at one or more

institutions typically exceed the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation FDIC insurance coverage and as result there

is concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage The Company believes that

the risk is not significant as the Company does not anticipate the financial institutions non-performance

Investment Securities

Investment securities are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets These securities are classified as

held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost if management has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity

Otherwise the securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at estimated fair value with unrealized gains and losses

included in accumulated other comprehensive loss income separate component of shareholders equity

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs include fees and costs incurred to obtain the Companys lines of credit and long-term

financings These costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt Unamortized financing costs are written off when debt is

retired before the maturity date The accumulated amortization of such deferred financing costs was $43.9 million and

$34.6 million at December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Fair Value of Financial Instruments Including Derivative Instruments

The valuation of financial instruments requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the fair value

of the instruments The Company where possible bases the fair values of its financial instruments including its derivative

instruments on listed market prices and third party quotes Where these are not available the Company bases its estimates on

current instruments with similar terms and maturities or on other factors relevant to the financial instruments

In the normal course of business the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes The Company seeks to

manage these risks by following established risk management policies and procedures including the use of derivatives to hedge

interest rate risk on debt instruments

The Company has policy of only entering into contracts with major financial institutions based upon their credit ratings

and other factors When viewed in conjunction with the underlying and offsetting exposure that the derivatives are designed to

hedge the Company has not sustained material loss from these instruments nor does it anticipate any material adverse effect on

its net income or financial position in the future from the use of derivatives

The Company recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and measures

those instruments at fair value In addition fair value adjustments will affect either shareholders equity or net income depending

on whether the derivative instruments qualify as hedge for accounting purposes and if so the nature of the hedging activity

When the terms of an underlying transaction are modified or when the underlying transaction is terminated or completed all

changes in the fair value of the instrument are marked-to-market with changes in value included in net income each period until

the instrument matures Any derivative instrument used for risk management that does not meet the hedging criteria is

marked-to-market each period The Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes
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Revenue Recognition

Rental income attributable to residential leases is recorded on straight-line basis which is not materially different than

if it were recorded when due from residents and recognized monthly as it was earned Leases entered into between resident and

property for the rental of an apartment unit are generally year-to-year renewable upon consent of both parties on an annual or

monthly basis Fee and asset management revenue and interest income are recorded on an accrual basis

Shore Based ompensation

The Company expenses share-based compensation such as restricted shares and share options The fair value of the

option grants are recognized over the vesting period of the options The fair value for the Companys share options was estimated

at the time the share options were granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average

assumptions

2010 2009 2008

Expected volatility 32.4% 26.8% 20.3o

Expected life years years years

Expected dividend yield 4.85% 4.68o 4.95%

Risk-free interest rate 2.29% 1.89% 2.67o

Option valuation per share $6.18 $3.38 $4.08

Expected volatility Estimated based on the historical volatility of EQRs share price on monthly basis for period matching

the expected life of each grant

Expected life Approximates the actual weighted average life of all share options granted since the Company went public in

1993

Expected dividend yield Calculated by averaging the historical annual yield on EQR shares for period matching the expected

life of each grant with the annual yield calculated by dividing actual dividends by the average price of EQRs shares in given

year

Risk-free interest rate The most current U.S Treasury rate available prior to the grant date for period matching the expected

life ot each grant

The valuation method and assumptions are the same as those the Company used in accounting for option expense in its

consolidated financial statements The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value

of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable This model is only one method of valuing options

and the Companys use of this model should not be interpreted as an endorsement of its accuracy Because the Companys share

options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input

assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate in managements opinion the existing models do not necessarily

provide reliable single measure of the fair value of its share options and the actual value of the options may be significantly

different

Income and Other Taxes

Due to the structure of the Company as REIT and the nature of the operations of its operating properties no provision

for federal income taxes has been made at the EQR level Historically the Company has generally only incurred certain state and

local income excise and franchise taxes The Company has elected Taxable REIT Subsidiary TRS status for certain of its

corporate subsidiaries primarily those entities engaged in condominium conversion and corporate housing activities and as

result these entities will incur both federal and state income taxes on any taxable income of such entities after consideration of

any net operating losses

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for future tax consequences attributable to dttterences between the

financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases These assets and liabilities

are measured using enacted tax rates for which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled The effects of

changes in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized in eamings in the period enacted The Companys

deferred tax assets are generally the result of tax affected amortization of goodwill differing depreciable lives on capitalized

assets and the timing of expense recognition for certain accrued liabilities As of December 312010 the Company has recorded

deferred tax asset of approximately $38.7 million which is frilly offset by valuation allowance due to the uncertainty in

forecasting future TRS taxable income
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The Company provided for income franchise and excise taxes allocated as follows in the consolidated statements of

operations for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Income and other tax expense benefit 334 2804 5279

Discontinued operations net 44 1161 1841

Provision for income franchise and excise taxes 378 1643 3438

Primarily includes state and local income excise and franchise taxes

Primarily represents federal income taxes recovered on the gains on sales of condominium units owned by TRS and included

in discontinued operations Also represents state and local income excise and franchise taxes on operating properties sold and

included in discontinued operations

All provisions for income tax amounts are current and none are deferred

The Companys TRSs carried back approximately $7.3 million of 2008 net operating losses NOL to 2006 The

remaining NOL from the 2008 tax year as well as the NOLs generated in 2009 and 2W are available for carryforward to future

tax years The Companys TRSs have approximately $59.3 million of NOL carryforwards available as of January 2011 that

will expire in 2028 2029 and 2030

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Companys tax treatment of dividends and distributions

were as follows

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Tax treatment of dividends and distributions

Ordinary dividends 0.607 0.807 0.699

Long-term capital gain 0.622 0.558 0.755

Unrecaptured section 1250 gain 0.241 0.275 0.476

Dividends and distributions declared per

Common Share outstanding 1.470 1.640 1.930

The cost of land and depreciable property net of accumulated depreciation for federal income tax purposes as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 was approximately $1 1.1 billion and $10.4 billion respectively

Noncontrolling Interests

nnnrnntrnlling interest in suhsidiary minority interest is in mnst cases an ownership interest in the consolidated

entity that should be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements and separate from the parent companys equity

In addition consolidated net income is required to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent

and the noncontrolling interest and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to the parent and the noncontrolling

interest are required to be disclosed on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Operations See Note for further discussion

Operating Partnership Net income is allocated to noncontrolling interests based on their respective ownership

percentage of the Operating Partnership The ownership percentage is calculated by dividing the number of units of limited

partnership interest OP Units held by the noncontrolling interests by the total OP Units held by the noncontrolling interests

and EQR Issuance of additional common shares of beneficial interest $0.01 par value per share the Common Shares and

OP Units changes the ownership interests of both the noncontrolling interests and EQR Such transactions and the related

proceeds are treated as capital transactions

Partially Owned Properties The Company reflects noncontrolling interests in partially owned properties on the balance

sheet for the portion of properties consolidated by the Company that are not wholly owned by the Company The earnings or

losses from those properties attributable to the noncontrolling interests are reflected as noncontrolling interests in partially

owned properties in the consolidated statements of operations

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership The Company classifies Redeemable Noncontrolling

Interests Operating Partnership in the mezzanine section of the consolidated balance sheets for the portion of OP Units that the

Company is required either by contract or securities law to deliver registered EQR Common Shares to the exchanging OP Unit
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hoidec The redeemable nonconfrolling interest units are adjusted to the greater of carrying value or fkir market value based on

the Common Share price of EQR at the end of each respective reporting period

Use of Estimates

In preparation of the Companys financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States management makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues

and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from these estimates

ReclassijIcations

Certain reclassifications considered necessary for fair presentation have been made to the prior period financial

statements in order to conform to the current year presentation These reclassifications have not changed the results of operations

or equity

Other

In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Staudards Board FASB issued The FASB Accounting Standards Goc4jIcation

and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles which superseded all then-existing non-SEC accounting and

reporting standards and became the source of authoritative U.S generally accepted accounting principles recognized by the

FASB to be applied by non-governmental entities The Company adopted the codification as required effective for the quarter

ended September 30 2009 The adoption of the codification has no impact on the Companys consolidated results of operations

or financial position but changed the way we refer to accounting literature in our reports

Effective January 2010 in an effort to improve financial standards for transfers of financial assets more stringent

conditions for reporting transfer of portion of financial asset as sale e.g loan participations are required the concept of

qualifying special-purpose entity and special guidance for guaranteed mortgage securitizations are eliminated other sale-

accounting criteria is clarified and the initial measurement of transferors interest in transferred financial assets is changed

This does not have material ettect on the Companys consolidated results of operations or financial position

Effective January 2010 the analysis for identifying the primary beneficiary of Variable Interest Entity VIE has

been simplified by replacing the previous quantitative-based analysis with framework that is based more on qualitative

judgments The analysis requires the primary beneficiary of VIE to be identified as the party that both has the power to

direct the activities of VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and has an obligation to absorb losses

or right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE For the Company this includes its consolidated

development partnerships as the Company provides substantially all of the capital for these ventures other than third party

mortgage debt if any For the Company these requirements affected only disclosures and had no impact on the Companys
consolidated results of operations or financial position See Note for further discussion

The Company is required to make certain disclosures regarding noncontrolling interests in consolidated limited-Ide

subsidiaries The Company is the controlling partner in various consolidated partnerships owning 24 properties and 5232

apartment units and various completed and uncompleted development properties having noncontrolling interest book value of

$8.0 million at December 31 2010 Some of these partnership agreements contain provisions that require the partnerships to be

liquidated through the sale of their assets upon reaching date specified in each respective partnership agreement The

Company as controlling partner has an obligation to cause the property owning partnerships to distribute the proceeds of

liquidation to the Noncontrolling Interests in these Partially Owned Properties only to the extent that the net proceeds received

by the partnerships from the sale of their assets warrant distribution based on the partnership agreements As of December31

2010 the Company estimates the value of Noncontrolling Interest distributions would have been approximately $53.0 million

Settlement Value had the partnerships been liquidated This Settlement Value is based on estimated third party consideration

realized by the partnerships upon disposition of the Partially Owned Properties and is net of all other assets and liabilities

including yield maintenance on the mortgages encumbering the properties that would have been due on December31 2010 had

those mortgages been prepaid Due to among other things the inherent uncertainty in the sale of real estate assets the amount of

any potential distribution to the Noncontrolling Interests in the Companys Partially Owned Properties is subject to change To

the extent that the partnerships underlying assets are worth less than the underlying liabilities the Company has no obligation to

remit any consideration to the Noncontrolling Interests in these Partially Owned Properties

Effective beginning the quarter ended June 30 2009 disclosures about fair value of financial instruments are required for

interim reporting periods in summarized financial information for publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial
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statements This does not have material effect on the Companys consolidated results of operations or financial position See

Note 11 for further discussion

Effective January 2010 companies are required to separately disclose the amounts of significant transfers of assets and

liabilities into and out of Level Level and Level of the fair value hierarchy and the reasons for those transfers Companies

must also develop and disclose their policy for determining when transfers between levels are recognized In addition

companies are required to provide fair value disclosures for each class rather than each major category of assets and liabilities

For fair value measurements using significant other observable inputs Level or significant unobservable inputs Level

companies are required to disclose the valuation technique and the inputs used in determining fair value for each class of assets

and liabilities This does not have material effect on the Companys consolidated results of operations or financial position See

Note 11 for further discussion

Effective January 12011 companies will be required to separately disclose purchases sales issuances and settlements

on gross basis in the reconciliation of recurring Level fair value measurements The Company does not expect this will have

material effect on its consolidated results of operations or financial position

Effective January 2009 in an effort to improve financial standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities

companies are required to enhance disclosures to enable investors to better understand their effects on an entitys financial

position financial performance and cash flows Among other requirements entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures

about how and why an entity uses derivative instruments how derivative instruments and related hedged items are

accounted for and how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entitys financial position financial

performance and cash flows Other than the enhanced disclosure requirements this does not have material effect on the

Companys consolidated financial statements See Note 11 for further discussion

Effective January 12009 issuers of certain convertible debt instruments that maybe settled in cash on conversion were

required to separately account for the liability and equity components of the instrument in manner that reflects each issuers

nonconvertible debt borrowing rate As the Company is required to apply this retrospectively the accounting for the Operating

Partnerships $650.0 million $482.5 million outstanding at December 31 2010 3.85o convertible unsecured notes that were

issued in August 2006 and mature in August 2026 was affected The Company recognized $18.6 million $20.6 million and

$24.4 million in interest expense related to the stated coupon rate of3.5o for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively The amount of the conversion option as of the date of issuance calculated by the Company using 5.80%

effective interest rate was $44.3 million and is being amortized to interest expense over the expected life of the convertible notes

through the first put date on August 18 2011 Total amortization of the cash discount and conversion option discount on the

unsecured notes resulted in reduction to eamings of approximately $7.8 million and $10.6 million respectively or $0.03 per

share and $0.04 per share respectively for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 and is anticipated to result in

reduction to eamings of approximately $5.0 million or $0.02 per share for the year ended December 31 2011 In addition the

Company decreased the January 12009 balance of retained eamings by $27.0 million decreased the January 12009 balance of

notes by $17.3 million and increased the January 2009 balance of paid in capital by $44.3 million Due to the required

retrospective application it resulted in reduction to earnings of approximately $13.3 million or $0.05 per share for the year

ended December 31 2008 The carrying amount of the conversion option remaining in paid in capital was $44.3 million at both

December 31 2010 and 2009 The unamortized cash and conversion option discounts totaled $5.0 million and $12.8 million at

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively
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Equity and Redeemable Noneontrolling Interests

The following tables present the changes in the Companys issued and outstanding Common Shares and Units which

includes OP Units and Long-Term Incentive Plan LTIP Units for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

2010 2009 2008

Common Shares

Common Shares outstanding at January 279959048 272786760 269554661

Common Shares Issued

Conversion of Series Preferred Shares 328363 612 36830

Conversion of Series Preferred Shares 32516 2750

Conversion of OP Units 884472 2676002 1759560

Issuance of Common Shares 6151198 3497300

Exercise of share options 2506645 422713 995129

Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP 157363 324394 195961

Restricted share grants net 235767 298717 461954

Common Shares Other

Repurchasn4 and retired 58130 47450 220085

Common Shares outstanding at December 31 290197242 279959048 272786760

Units

Units outstanding at January 14197969 16679777 18420320

CUP Units net 92892 154616

OP Units issued through acquisitions/consolidations 205648 32061 19017

Conversion of Series Junior Preference Units 7517

Conversion of OP Units to Common Shares 884472 2676002 1759560

Units outstanding at December 31 13612037 14197969 16679777

Total Common Shares and Units outstanding at December 31 303809279 294157017 289466537

Units Ownership Interest in Operating Partnership 4.So 4.8% 5.8%

LTIP Units Issued

Issuance per unit $0.50

Issuance contribution valuation $0.1 million

OP Units Issued

Acquisitions/consolidations per unit $40.09 $26.50 $44.64

Acquisitions/consolidations valuation $8.2 million $0.8 million $0.8 million

Conversion of Series Junior Preference Units
per unit $24.50

Conversion of Series Junior Preference Units valuation $0.2 million

An unlimited amount of equity and debt securities remains available for issuance by the Company and the Operating

Partnership under effective shelf registration statements filed with the SEC Most recently the Company and the Operating

Partnership filed universal shelf registration statement for an unlimited amount of equity and debt securities that became

automatically effective upon filing with the SEC in October 2010 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration

statement automatically expires on October 14 2013 and does not contain maximum issuance amount

In September 2009 the Company announced the establishment of an At-The-Market ATM share offering program

which would allow the Company to sell up to 17.0 million Common Shares from time to time over the next three years into the

existing trading market at current market prices as well as through negotiated transactions During the year ended December 31

2010 the Company issued approximately 6.2 million Common Shares at an average price of $47.45 per share for total

consideration of approximately $291.9 million through the ATM program During the year ended December 31 2009 the

Company issued approximately 3.5 million Common Shares at an average price of $35.38 per share for total consideration of

approximately $123.7 million through the ATM program As of December 31 2009 transactions to issue approximately

1.1 million of the 3.5 million Common Shares had not yet settled As of December31 2009 the Company increased the number

of Common Shares issued and outstanding by this amount and recorded receivable of approximately $37.6 million included in

other assets on the consolidated balance sheets See Note 20 for further discussion on shares available under this program
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EQR has share repurchase program authorized by the Board of Trustees Considering the repurchase activity for the

year ended December 2010 EQR has remaining authorization to repurchase an additional $464.6 million of its shares as of

December 31 2010

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company repurchased 58130 of its Common Shares at an average price

of $32.46 per
share for total consideration of $1.9 million These shares were retired subsequent to the repurchases All of the

shares repurchased during the year ended December31 2010 were repurchased from employees at the then current market prices

to cover the minimum statutory tax withholding obligations related to the vesting of employees restricted shares

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company repurchased 47450 of its Common Shares at an average price

of $23.69 per share for total consideration of$l.l million These shares were retired subsequent to the repurchases All of the

shares repurchased during the year ended December31 2009 were repurchased from employees at the then current market prices

to cover the minimum statutory tax withholding obligations related to the vesting of employees restricted shares

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company repurchased 220085 of its Common Shares at an average price

of $35.93 per share for total consideration of $7.9 million These shares were retired subsequent to the repurchases Of the total

shares repurchased 120085 shares were repurchased from employees at an average price of $36.10 per share the average of the

then current market prices to cover the minimum statutory tax withholding obligations related to the vesting of employees

restricted shares The remaining 100000 shares were repurchased in the open market at an average price of $35.74 per share

The equity positions of various individuals and entities that contributed their properties to the Operating Partnership in

exchange for OP Units as well as the equity positions of the holders of LTIP Units are collectively referred to as the

Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Subject to certain exceptions including the book-up requirements of

LTIP Units the Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership may exchange their Units with EQR for Common Shares on

one-for-one basis The carrying value of the Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership including redeemable interests

is allocated based on the number of Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units in total in proportion to the number

of Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units in total plus the number of EQR Common Shares Net income is

allocated to the Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership based on the weighted average ownership percentage during

the period

The Operating Partnership has the right but not the obligation to make cash payment instead of issuing Common Shares

to any and all holders of Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units requesting an exchange of their OP Units with

EQR Once the Operating Partnership elects not to redeem the Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units for cash

EQR is obligated to deliver Common Shares to the exchanging holder of the Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership

Units

The Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units are classified as either mezzanine equity or permanent

equity If EQR is required either by contract or securities law to deliver registered Common Shares such Noncontrolling

Interests Operating Partnership are differentiated and referred to as Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating

Partnership Instruments that require settlement in registered shares can not be classified in permanent equity as it is not

always completely within an issuers control to deliver registered shares Therefore settlement in cash is assumed and that

responsibility for settlement in cash is deemed to fall to the Operating Partnership as the primary source of cash for EQR
resulting in presentation in the mezzanine section of the balance sheet The Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating

Partnership are adjusted to the greater of carrying value or fair market value based on the Common Share price of EQR at the end

of each respective reporting period EQR has the ability to deliver unregistered Common Shares for the remaining portion of the

Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units that are classified in permanent equity at December 31 2010 and 2009

The carrying value of the Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership is allocated based on the

number of Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units in proportion to the number of Noncontrolling

Interests Operating Partnership Units in total Such percentage of the total carrying value of Units which is ascribed to the

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership is then adjusted to the greater of carrying value or fair market

value as described above As of December 31 2010 the Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership have

redemption value of approximately $383.5 million which represents the value of Common Shares that would be issued in

exchange with the Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership Units
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The following table presents the changes in the redemption value of the Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Operating Partnership for the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively amounts in thousands

20/0 2009 2008

Balance at January 258280 264394 345165

Change in market value 129918 14544 65524

Change in carrying value 4658 20658 15247

Balance at December 31 383540 258280 264394

Net proceeds from the Companys Common Share and Preferred Share see definition below offerings are contributed

by the Company to the Operating Partnership In return for those contributions EQR receives number of OP Units in the

Operating Partnership equal to the number of Common Shares it has issued in the equity offering or in the case of preferred

equity offering number of preference units in the Operating Partnership equal in number and having the same terms as the

Preferred Shares issued in the equity offering As result the net offering proceeds from Common Shares and Preferred Shares

are allocated between shareholders equity and Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership to account for the change in

their respective percentage ownership of the underlying equity of the Operating Partnership

The Companys declaration of trust authorizes the Company to issue up to 100000000 preferred shares of beneficial

interest $0.01 par value per share the Preferred Shares with specific rights preferences and other attributes as the Board of

Trustees may determine which may include preferences powers and rights that are senior to the rights of holders of the

Companys Common Shares

The following table presents the Companys issued and outstanding Preferred Shares as of December 31 2010 and 2009

Annual Anounts in thousands

Rvdeniption conversion Dividend per December 31 Decenber 31

Oak 12 Rate Share 2010 2009

Preferred Shares of beaefietal
interest $0.01 par

value 100000000 shares authorized

7.00n Series cumulative coavenible Preferred 111/98 1.1128 1.75 8.212

liquidation
value $25 per share and

328466 nhares ianued and outstanding at

December 31 2010 and December 31 2009

respectively

7.00% Series cumulative convenible Preferred 6/30/98 1.4480 1.75 561

liquidation value $25 per share and 22459 shares

issued and
outstanding at Decenther 31 2010 and

December31 2009 respectively

8.29n Series cumulative Redeemable Preferred 12/10/26 N/A 54.145 50000 50000

liquidation value $50 per share 1000000 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31 2010 and

December 31 2009

6.48 Senes cumulative Redeemable Preferred 6/19/08 NA $16.20 150000 150000

liquidation value $250 per share 600000 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31 2010 and

December 31 2009

200000 208773

On or after the redemption date redeemable preferred shares Series and may be redeemed for cash at the nption of the Company in

whole or in part at redemption price equal to the liquidation price per share plus accrued and unpaid dtstributions if any

On or after the redemption date convertible preferred shares Series and may be redeemed under certain circumstances at the option

of the Company for cash in the case of Series or Common Shares in the case of Series in whole or in part at various redemption

prices per share based upon the contractual conversion rate plus accrued and unpaid distributions if any On November 2010 the

Company redeemed its Series and Series Cumulattve Convertible Preferred Shares for cash consideration of $0.8 million and

355539 Common Shares

Dividends on all series of Preferred Shares are payable quarterly at various pay dates The dividend listed for Series is Preferred Share

rate and the equivalent Depositary Share annual dividend is $1.62 per share

The Series Preferred Shares have corresponding depositary share that consists of ten times the number of shares and one-tenth the

liquidation value and dividend
per share

On July 30 2009 the Operating Partnership elected to convert all 7367 Series Junior Convertible Preference Units

into 7517 OP Units The actual preference unit dividends declared for the period outstanding in 2009 was $1.17 per unit
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On March 31 2010 the Operating Partnership issued 188571 OP Units at price of $39.15 per OP Unit for total

valuation of $7.4 million as partial consideration for the acquisition of one rental property As the value of the OP Units issued

was agreed by contract to be $35.00 per OP Unit the difference between the contracted value and fair value the closing price of

Common Shares on the closing date was recorded as an increase to the purchase price

During the year ended December31 2010 the Company acquired all of its partners interest in two consolidated partially

owned properties consisting of 432 apartment units one consolidated partially owned development project and one consolidated

partially owned land parcel for $0.7 million One of these partially owned property buyouts was funded through the issuance of

1129 OP Units valued at $50000 The Company also increased its ownership in three consolidated partially owned properties

through the buyout of certain equity interests which were funded through the issuance of 15948 OP Units valued at $0.8 million

and cash payments of $15.3 million In conjunction with these transactions the Company reduced paid in capital by

$16.9 million and other liabilities by $0.2 million and increased Noncontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties by

$0.2 million

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company acquired all of its partners interests in five consolidated

partially owned properties consisting of 1587 apartment units for $9.2 million In addition the Company also acquired portion

of the outside partner interests in two consolidated partially owned properties one funded using cash of $2.1 million and the

other funded through the issuance of 32Ool UP Units valued at $o.tt million In conjunction with these transactions the

Company reduced paid in capital by $1.5 million and Noncontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties by $1 1.7 million

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company acquired all of its partners interests in one consolidated

partially owned property consisting of 144 apartment units for $5.9 million and three consolidated partially owned land parcels

for $1.6 million In addition the Company made an additional payment of$I.3 million related to an April 2006 acquisition of

partners interest in now wholly owned property partially funded through the issuance of 19017 OP Units valued at

$0.8 million

Real Estate

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for the Companys investment in real estate at cost as of

December 31 2010 and 2009 amounts in thousands

2010 2009

Land 4110275 3650324

Depreciable property

Buildings and improvements 13995121 12781543

Fumiture fixtures and equipment 1231391 1111978

Projects under development

Land 28260 106716

Construction-in-progress 102077 562263

Land held for development

Land 198465 181430

Construction-in-progress 36782 70890

Investment in real estate 19702371 18465144

Accumulated depreciation 4337357 3877564

Investment in real estate net 15365014 14587580

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company acquired the entire equity interest in the following from

unaffiliated parties purchase price in thousands

Purchase

Properties Apartment Units Price

Rental Properties 16 4445 1485701

Land Parcels six 68869

Total 16 4445 1554570

In addition to the properties discussed above the Company acquired the 75% equity interest it did not own in seven

previously unconsolidated properties containing 1811 apartment units with real estate value of $105.1 million
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During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company acquired the entire equity interest in the following from

unaffiliated parties purchase price in thousands

Properties Apartment Units Purchase Price

Rental Properties 566 145036

Land Parcel one 11500

Total 566 156536

The Company also acquired the 75% equity interest in one previously unconsolidated property it did not already own

consisting of 250 apartment units for gross sales price of $18.5 million from its institutional joint venture partner

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company disposed of the following to unaffiliated parties sales price in

thousands

Properties Apartment Units Sales Price

Rental Properties

Consolidated 35 7171 718352

Unconsolidated 27 6275 417779

Land Parcel one 4000

Condominium Conversion Properties 360

Total 63 13448 1140491

The Company owned 2So interest in these unconsolidated rental properties Sales price listed is the gross sales price

The Company recognized net gain on sales of discontinued operations of approximately $298.0 million net gain on

sales of unconsolidated entities of approximately $28.1 million and net loss on sales of land parcels of approximately

$1.4 million on the above sales

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company disposed of the following to unaffiliated parties sales price in

thousands

Properties Apartment Units Sales Price

Rental Properties

Consolidated 54 11055 905219

Unconsolidated 1434 96018

Condominium Conversion Properties 62 12021

Total 61 12551 1013258

The Company owned 25% interest in these unconsolidated rental properties Sales price listed is the gross sales price The

Companys buyout of its partners interest in one previously unconsolidated property is not included in the above totals

The Company recognized net gain on sales of discontinued operations of approximately $335.3 million and net gain

on sales of unconsolidated entities of approximately $10.7 million on the above sales

Commitments to Acquire/Dispose of Real Estate

In addition to the properties that were subsequently acquired as discussed in Note 20 the Company had entered into

separate agreements to acquire the following purchase price in thousands

Properties Apartment Units Purchase Price

Rental Properties 683 125250

Total 683 125250
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In addition to the properties that were subsequently disposed of as discussed in Note 20 the Company had entered into

separate agreements to dispose of the following sales price in thousands

Properties Apartment Units Sales Price

Rental Properties 15 4152 378650

Total 15 4152 378650

The closings of these pending transactions are subject to certain conditions and restrictions therefore there can be no

assurance that these transactions will be consummated or that the final terms will not differ in material respects from those

summarized in the preceding paragraphs

Investments in Partially Owned Entities

The Company has co-invested in various properties with unrelated third parties which are either consolidated or

accounted for under the equity method of accounting unconsolidated The following tables and information summarize the

Companys investments in partially owned entities as of December 31 2010 amounts in thousands except for project and

apartment unit amounts

Consolidated

Development Projects VIEs

Held for Completed Completed

and/or Under Not and

Development Stabilizcd4 Stabilized Other Total

Total projects 19 24

Total apartment units 490 1302 3440 5232

Balance sheet information

at 12/31/10 at 100%

ASSETS

Investment in real estate 44006 257747 390465 438329 1130547

Accumulated depreciation 18471 124347 142818

Investment in real estate net 44006 257747 371994 313982 987729

Cash and cash equivalents 877 1288 7384 11581 21130

Deposits rcstnctcd 1115 922 3205 5250

Escrow deposits mortgage 222 2321 2543

Deferred financing costs net 2800 412 505 3717

Other assets 339 268 308 143 1058

Total assets 46337 263025 383525 328540 1021427

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Mortgage notes payable 18342 141741 275348 314535 749966

Accounts payable accrued expenses 346 2215 1070 1259 4890

Accrued interest payable 1294 521 605 1531 3951

Other liabilities 1617 1568 910 1001 5096

Security deposits 1021 955 1392 3368

Total liabilities 21599 147066 278888 319718 767271

Noncontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties 3418 5025 4278 4730 7991

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 1322 1322

EQR equity 21320 112256 100359 13552 247487

Total equity 24738 115959 104637 8822 254156

Total liabilities and equity 46337 263025 383525 328540 1021427
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Consolidated

Development Projects VIEs

Held for Completed Completed

andlor Under Not and

Development Stabilized4 Stabilized Other Thtal

Debt Secured

EQR Ownership 18342 141741 275348 2522S7 688288

Noncontrolling Ownership
_________

61678 61678

Total at 100% 18342 141741 $275348 314535 749966

Operating information for the year

ended 12/31/10 at 100%

Operating revenue 6344 25607 55928 87883

Operating expenses 758 3458 9370 19906 33492

Net operating loss income 754 2886 16237 36022 54391

Depreciation 12239 14882 27121

Oeneral and administrative/other 51 127 92 270

Impairment 8959 8959

Operating loss income 9764 2886 3871 21048 18041

Interest and other income 23 10 30 63

Other expenses 493 548 1041
Interest

Expense incurred net 925 2872 6596 20576 30969

Amortization of deferred financing costs 753 238 991

Loss income before income and other taxes

and discontinued operations 11159 14 3468 284 14897

Income and other tax expense benefit 31 36
Net loss on sales of land parcels 234 234
Net gain on sales of discontinued operations 711 34842 35553

Net loss income 10713 14 3468 34553 $20386

Project and apartment unit counts exclude all uncompleted development projects until those projects are substantially completed

All debt is non-recourse to the Company with the exception of $14.0 million in mortgage debt on one development project

Represents the Companys current economic ownership interest

Projects included here are substantially complete However they may still require additional exterior and interior work for all

apartment units to be available for leasing

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company acquired the 75% equity interest it did not own in seven

previously unconsolidated properties containing 1811 apartment units in exchange for an approximate $30.0 million payment to

its partner In addition the Company repaid the net $70.0 million mortgage loan which was to mature on May 2010

concurrent with closing using proceeds drawn from the Companys line of credit The Compnny also sold its 25% equity interest

in the remaining 24 unconsolidated properties containing 5635 apartment units in exchange for an approximate $25.4 million

payment from its partner and the related $264.8 million in non-recourse mortgage debt was extinguished by the partner at

closing

On December 292010 the Company admitted an 80% institutional partner to an entity owning developable land parcel

in Florida in exchange for $11.7 million in cash and retained 20% equity interest This land parcel is now unconsolidated Total

prnject cost is approximately $76.1 million and cnnstructinn is expected tn start in the first quarter nf 201 The Company is

responsible for constructing the project and has given certain construction cost overun guarantees

The Company is the controlling partner in various consolidated partnership properties and development properties

having noncontrolling interest book value of$8.0 million at December 31 2010 The Company has identified its development

partnerships as VIEs as the Company provides substantially all of the capital for these ventures other than third party mortgage

debt if any despite the fact that each partner legally owns 50% of each venture The Company is the primary beneficiary as it

exerts the most significant power over the ventures absorbs the majority of the expected losses and has the right to receive

majority of the expected residual returns The assets net of liabilities of the Companys VIEs are restricted in their use to the
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specific VIE to which they relate and are not available for general corporate use The Company does not have any unconsolidated

VIEs

Deposits Restricted

The following table presents the Companys restricted deposits as of December 31 2010 and 2009 amounts in

thousands

December 31 December 31

2010 2009

Tax deferred 1031 exchange proceeds 103887 244257

Earnest money on pending acquisitions 9264 6000

Restricted deposits on debt 18966 49565

Resident security and
utility deposits 40745 39361

Other 8125 12825

Totals 180987 352008

Primarily represents amounts held in escrow by the lender and released as thaw requests are made on fully funded development

mortgage loans

Mortgage Notes Payable

As of December 31 2010 the Company had outstanding mortgage debt of approximately $4.8 billion

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company

Repaid $652.1 million of mortgage loans

Obtained $173.6 million of new mortgage loan proceeds

Assumed $359.1 million of mortgage debt on seven acquired properties

Was released from $40.0 million of mortgage debt assumed by the purchaser on two disposed properties and

Assumed $112.6 million of mortgage debt on seven previously unconsolidated properties and repaid the net

$70.0 million mortgage loan net of $42.6 million of cash collateral held by the lender concurrent with closing using

proceeds drawn from the Companys line of credit

The Company recorded approximately $2.5 million and $1.0 million of prepayment penalties and write-offs of

unamortized deferred financing costs respectively during the year ended December 31 2010 as additional interest

expense related to debt extinguishment of mortgages

As of December 31 2010 the Company had $543.4 million of secured debt subject to third party credit enhancement

As of December 31 2010 scheduled maturities for the Companys outstanding mortgage indebtedness were at various

dates through September 2048 At December 31 2010 the interest rate range on the Companys mortgage debt was 0.21% to

11.25% During the year
ended December 31 2010 the weighted average interest rate on the Companys mortgage debt was

4.79%

The historical cost net of accumulated depreciation of encumbered properties was $5.6 billion and $5.8 billion at

December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Aggregate payments of principal on mortgage notes payable for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows

amounts in thousands

Year Total

2011 597100

2012 342088

2013 171138

2014 86041

2015 59013

Thereafter 3507516

Total 4762896

As of December 31 2009 the Company had outstanding mortgage debt of approximately $4.8 billion
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During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company

Repaid $956.8 million of mortgage loans

Obtained $500.0 million of mortgage loan proceeds through the issuance of an 11-year cross-collateralized loan with

an all-in fixed interest rate for 10 years at approximately 5.6% secured by 13 properties

Obtained $40.0 million of new mortgage loans to accommodate the delayed sale of two properties that closed in

January 2010

Obtained $198.8 million of new mortgage loans on development properties

Recognized gain on early debt extinguishment of $2.4 million and wrote-off approximately $1.1 million of

unamortized deferred financing costs and

Was released from $17.3 million of mortgage debt assumed by the purchaser on two disposed properties

As of December 31 2009 scheduled maturities for the Companys outstanding mortgage indebtedness were at various

dates through September 2048 At December 31 2009 the interest rate range on the Companys mortgage debt was 0.20 to

12.465% During the year ended December 31 2009 the weighted average interest rate on the Companyh mortgage debt was

4.89%

Notes

The following tables summarize the Companys unsecured note balances and certain interest rate and maturity date

information as of and for the
years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively

Net

December 31 2010

mounts are in thousands
___________________________ __________________________

Fixed Rate Public/Private Notes

Floating Rate Public/Private Notes

Totals

December 31 2009

Amounts are in thousands

Interest Weighted Maturity

Principal Rate Average Date

Balance Rangea Interest Rate Rangea

4375860 3.85% 7.57 5.78c 2011 2026

809320 1.72c 2011 -2013

5185180

Net Intereat Weighted Maturity

Principal Rate Average Date

Balance Rangea Interest Rate Rangea

3771700 3.8sao 7.S7a 5.93% 2011 2026

801824 l.37 2010-2013

35600 0.37% 2028

4609124

Fixed Rate Public/Private Notes

Floating Rate Public/Private Notes

Floating Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds

Totals
___________

At December 31 2010 and 2009 $300.0 million in fair value interest rate swaps converts portion of the $400.0 million face

value 5.200c notes due April 2013 to floating interest rate

The floating interest rate is based on the 7-Day Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association SIFMA rate which is

the tax-exempt index equivalent 01 LIBOR the interest rate is 0.2/% at December 31 2009

The Companys unsecured public debt contains certain financial and operating covenants including among other things

maintenance of certain financial ratios The Company was in compliance with its unsecured public debt covenants for both the

years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

An unlimited amount of equity and debt securities remains available for issuance by the Company and the Operating

Partnership under effective shelf registration statements filed with the SEC Most recently the Company and the Operating

Partnership filed universal shelf registration statement for an unlimited amount of equity and debt securities that became

automatically effective upon filing with the SEC in October 2010 under SEC regulations enacted in 2005 the registration

statement automatically expires on October 14 2013 and does not contain maximum issuance amount

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company
Issued $600.0 million often-year 4.75% fixed rate public notes in public offering at an all-in effective interest rate

of 5.09% receiving net proceeds of $595.4 million before underwriting fees and other expenses

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company

Repurchased at par $105.2 million of its 4.75% fixed rate public notes due June 15 2009 pursuant to cash tender

offer announced on January 16 2009 and wrote-off approximately $79000 of unamortized deferred financing costs

and approximately $46000 of unamortized discounts on notes payable
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Repaid the remaining $122.2 million of its 4.75% fixed rate public notes at maturity

Repurchased at par $185.2 million of its 6.95 fixed rate public notes due March 2011 pursuant to cash tender

offer announced on January 16 2009 and wrote-off approximately $0.4 million of unamortized deferred financing

costs and approximately $1.0 million of unamortized discounts on notes payable

Repurchased $21.7 million of its 6.95 fixed rate public notes due March 2011 at price of 106 of par pursuant

to cash tender offer announced on December 22009 recognized loss on early debt extinguishment of$l .3 million

and wrote-off approximately $0.2 million of unamortized net premiums on notes payable

Repurchased $146.1 million of its 6.625% fixed rate public notes due March 15 2012 at price of 108% of par

pursuant to cash tender offer announced on December 2009 recognized loss on early debt extinguishment of

$11.7 million and wrote-off approximately $0.3 million of unamortized deferred financing costs and approximately

$0.2 million of unamortized net discounts on notes payable

Repurchased $127.9 million of its 5.50% fixed rate public notes due October 2012 at price of 107% of par

pursuant to cash tender offer announced on December 2009 recognized loss on early debt extinguishment of

$9 million and wrote-off approximately $0 million of unamorti7ed deferred financing costs and approximately

$0.4 million of unamortized discounts on notes payable

Repurchased $75.8 million of its 5.20% fixed rate tax-exempt notes and wrote-off approximately $0.7 million of

unamortized deferred financing costs

Repurchased $17.5 million of its 3.85% convertible fixed rate public notes due August 152026 at price of 88.4% of

par and recognized gain on early debt extinguishment of $2.0 million and wrote off approximately $0.1 million of

unamortized deferred financing costs and approximately $0.8 millionof unamortized discounts on notes payable and

Repurchased at par $48.5 million of its 3.85% convertible fixed rate public notes due August 15 2026 pursuant to

cash tender offer announced on December 2009 and wrote-off approximately $0.3 million of unamortized deferred

financing costs and approximately $1.5 million of unamortized discounts on notes payable

On October 11 2007 the Operating Partnership closed on $500.0 million senior unsecured term loan Effective

April 12 2010 the Company exercised the first of its two one-year extension options As result the maturity date is now

October 2011 and there is one remaining one-year extension option exercisable by the Company The Operating Partnership

has the ability to increase available borrowings by an additional $250.0 million under certain circumstances The loan bears

interest at variable rates based upon LIBOR plus spread currently 0.50% dependent upon the current credit rating on the

Operating Partnerships long-term senior unsecured debt EQR has guaranteed the Operating Partnerships term loan up to the

maximum amount and for the full term of the loan

On August 23 2006 the Operating Partnership issued $650.0 million of exchangeable senior notes that mature on

August 15 2026 The notes have current face value of $482.5 million at December31 2010 and bear interest at fixed rate of

3.85% The notes are exchangeable into EQR Common Shares at the option of the holders under specific circumstances or on or

after August 15 2025 at an initial and current exchange rate of 16.3934 shares per $1000 principal amount of notes equivalent

to an initial and current exchange price of $61.00 per share The exchange rate is subject to adjustment in certain circumstances

including upon an increase in the Companys dividend rate at the time of issuance Upon an exchange of the notes the Operating

Partnership will settle any amounts up to the principal amount of the notes in cash and the remaining exchange value if any will

be settled at the Operating Partnerships option in cash EQR Common Shares or combination of both See Note for more

information on the change in the recognition of interest
expense for the exchangeable senior notes

On or after August 18 2011 the Operating Partnership may redeem the notes at redemption price equal to the principal

amount of the notes plus any accrued and unpaid interest thereon Upon notice of redemption by the Operating Partnership the

holders may elect to exercise their exchange rights In addition on August 18 2011 August 15 2016 and August 15 2021 or

following the occurrence of certain change in control transactions prior to August 18 2011 note holders may require the

Operating Partnership to repurchase the notes for an amount equal to the principal amount of the notes plus any accrued and

unpaid interest thereon

Note holders may also require an exchange of the notes should the closing sale price of Common Shares exceed 130% of

the exchange price for certain period of time or should the trading price on the notes be less than 98% of the product of the

closing sales price of Common Shares multiplied by the applicable exchange rate for certain period of time
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Aggregate payments of principal on unsecured notes payable for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows

amounts in thousands

Year Total

2011 23 1068891

2012 474221

2013 407849

2014 498576

2015 298700

Thereafter 2436943

Total 5185180

Principal payments on unsecured notes include amortization of any discounts or premiums related to the notes Premiums and

discounts arc amortized over the life of the unsecured notes

Includes the Companys $500.0 million term loan facility
which originally matured on October 2010 Effective April 12

2010 the Company exercised the first of tts two one-year extension options As result the maturity date is now October 2011

and there is one remaining one-year extension option exercisable by the Company

Includes $482.5 million face value of 3.85% convertible unsecured debt with final maturity of 2026

10 Lines of Credit

The Operating Partnership has 1.425 billion net of $75.0 million which had been committed by now bankrupt

financial institution and is not available for hot-rowing unsecured revolving credit facility maturing on February 28 2012 with

the ability to increase available borrowings by an additional $500.0 millionby adding additional banks to the facility or obtaining

the agreement of existing banks to increase their commitments Advances under the credit facility bear interest at variable rates

based upon LIBOR at various interest periods plus spread currently 0.50 dependent upon the Operating Partnerships credit

rating or based on bids received from the lending group EQR has guaranteed the Operating Partnerships credit facility up to the

maximum amount and for the thll term of the facility

As of December31 2010 the amount available on the credit facility was $1.28 billion net of $147.3 million which was

restricted/dedicated to support letters of credit and net of the $75.0 million discussed above and there was no amount

outstanding During the year ended December 31 2010 the weighted average interest rate was 0.66% As of December 31 2009

the amount available on the credit facility was $1.37 billion net of $56.7 million which was restricted/dedicated to support

letters of credit and net ofthe $75.0 million discussed above The Company did not draw and had no balance outstanding on its

revolving credit facility at any time during the year ended December 31 2009

11 Derivative and Other Fair Value Instruments

The valuation of financial instruments requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the fair value

of the instruments The Company where possible bases the fair values of its financial instruments including its derivative

instruments on listed market prices and third party quotes Where these are not available the Company bases its estimates on

current instruments with similar terms and maturities or on other factors relevant to the financial instruments

The carrying values of the Companys mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately $4.8 billion and

$5.2 billion respectively at December 31 2010 The fair values of the Companys mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes

were approximately $4.7 billion and $5.5 billion respectively at December 31 2010 The carrying values of the Companys

mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately $4.8 billion and $4.6 billion respectively at December 31
2009 The fair values of the Companys mortgage notes payable and unsecured notes were approximately $4.6 billion and

$4.7 billion respectively at December 2009 The fair values of the Companys financial instruments other than mortgage

notes payable unsecured notes derivative instruments and investment securities including cash and cash equivalents and other

financial instruments approximate their carrying or contract values

In the normal course of business the Company is exposed to the effect of interest rate changes The Company seeks to

manage these risks by following established risk management policies and procedures including the use of derivatives to hedge

interest rate risk on debt instruments
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Fair Value Hedges Converts outstanding fixed rate debt to floating interest rate

Forward Starting Swaps Designed to partially fix the interest rate in advance of planned tIiture debt issuance These swaps

have mandatory counterparty terminations from 2012 through 2014 and $350.0 million $400.0 million and $200.0 million are

designated for 2011 2012 and 2013 maturities respectively

Development Cash Flow Hedges Converts outstanding floating rate debt to fixed interest rate

December 31 2010

Dorivatives designated as hcdging instruments

Interest Rate Contracts

Fair Value Hedges

Forward Starting Swaps

Development Cash Flow Hedges

Total

December 31 2009

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Interest Rate Contracts

Fair Value Hedges

Forward Starting Swaps

Development Cash Flow Hedges

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Interest Rate Contracts

Interest Rate Swaps

Total

5186 Other liabilities

23630 Other liabilities

Other liabilities

28816

The following table summarizes the Companys Consolidated derivative instruments at December 31 2010 dollar

amounts are in thousands

Forward Development

Fair Value
Starting Cash Flow

Hedges Swaps Hedges

Current Notional Balance l56cfl 050001 87422

Lowest Possible Notional 315693 950000 3020

Highest Possible Notional 317694 950000 91343

Lowest Interest Rate 2.009s 3.478% 4.059%

Highest Interest Rate 4.800o 4.695c 4.059s

Earliest Maturity Date 2012 2021 2011

Latest Maturity Date 2013 2023 2011

Consolidated Balance Sheets and their fair market values as of December 31 2010

thousands

The following tables provide the location of the Companys derivative instruments within the accompanying

and 2009 respectively amounts in

Asset Derivatives

Balance Sheet

Location Fair Value

Other assets 12521

Other assets 3276

Other assets

$15797

Asset Derivatives

Balance Sheet

Liability Derivatives

Balance Sheet

Location Fair Value

Other liabilities

Other liabilities 37756

Other liabiltties 1322

539078

Liability
Derivatives

Fair Value

Balance Sheet

LocationLocation

Other assets

Other assets

Other assets

Fair Value

3577

3577Total
______________ ______________

The following tables provide summary of the effect of fair value hedges on the Companys accompanying Consolidated

Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively amounts in thousands

Location of Amount of Amount of

December 31 2010

Gain/Loss

Recognized in

income

tjaisJLoss

Recognized in

Income

income Statement

Location of Hedged

GsinltLoss

Recognized in

Income

Type of Fair value Hedge on Derivative on Derivative Hedged hem hem GausltLoss on Hedged Item

Interest expense 7335 Fixed rate debt Interest expense 7335

7335 7335
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December 31 2009

Type of Fair VaIo Hedge

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

Interest Rate Contracts

Interest RAte Swaps

Location of OaiolLoss Amount of GainlLoss tncome Statement Amonni of OaoilLoms

Recognized in tncome Recognized in tocome Location of Hedged Recognized in tncomo

on Oenvatne no Oenvative Hedged tiem item OainlLocs on ttedged tiem

Interest expense 1167 Fixed rate debt Interest expense 1167

Total 1167 1167

As of December 31 2010 and 2009 there were approximately $58.3 million in deferred losses net included in

accumulated other comprehensive loss and $4.2 million in deferred gains net included in accumulated other comprehensive

income respectively related to derivative instruments Based on the estimated fair values of the net derivative instruments at

December 31 2010 the Company may recognize an estimated $5.6 million of accumulated other comprehensive loss as

additional interest expense during the year ending December 31 2011

In July 2010 the Company paid approximately $10.0 million to settle forward starting swap in conjunction with the

issuance of $600.0 million often-year fixed rate public notes The entire amount was deferred as component of accumulated

other comprehensive loss and is being recognized as an increase to interest expense over the term of the notes

In January 2009 the Company received approximately $0.4 million to terminate fair value hedge of interest rates in

conjunction with the public tender of the Companys 4.75% fixed rate public notes due June 15 2009 Approximately

$0.2 million of the settlement received was deferred and recognized as reduction of interest expense through the maturity on

June 15 2009

In April and May 2009 the Company received approximately $10.8 million to terminate six treasury locks in conjunction

with the issuance of $500.0 million 11-year mortgage loan The entire amount was deferred as component of accumulated

other comprehensive income and is recognized as reduction of interest expense over the first ten years of the mortgage loan

During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company sold majority of its investment securities receiving proceeds

of approximately $215.8 million and recorded $4.9 million realized gain on sale specific identification which is included in

interest and other income The following tables set forth the maturity amortized cost gross unrealized gains and losses bookl

The following tables provide summary of the effect of cash flow hedges on the Companys accompanying Consolidated

Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively amounts in thousands

December 32 2010

Type of Cash Flom Hedge

Denvativea designated as hedging instruments

Interest Rate Contracts

Forward Starting ssvaps/Treasory Locks

Development Interest Rate Swaps/Caps

Total

Effective Portion

Location of Amoont of

Amoont of ClainILoss Gain/Less

Clain/Loss Reclassified from Reclassified from

Recognized in OCI Aceomolaied Oct Accomulated OCt

on Derivative tom Income into Income

68149 Interest expense 3338

2255 Interest expense

65894 3338

Ineffective Portion

Location of Amoant of

Oain/Loss Gain/Loss

Recognized in Reclassified from

Income Accsmulated OCI

on Derivative into Income

N/A

N/A

Ineffective Portion

Location of Amonni of

Gain/Loss OamILoss
Recognized ui Reclassified from

Income Accnmolated Oct

on Dcrtsatne into Income

Deceniber 31 2009

Type of Cash Floiv Hedge

Effective Portion

Amonnt of

OainiLoss

Recognized in DCI

on Derivative

Location of

Oamn/Loss

Reclassified from

Accomslated DCI

into Income

Amonnt of

Oain/Loss

Reclassified from

Accumulated DCI

into Income

Dens atives designated as hedgusg instruments

Interest Rate Contracts

Forsvard Starting Ssvapsflreasumy Locks 34432 Interest expense 3724

Development Interest Rate swaps/Caps 3244 Interest expense

Total 37676 3724

N/A

N/A
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fair value and interest and other income of the various investment securities held as of December31 2010 and 2009 respectively

amounts in thousands

Other

Total Available-for Sale and

Grand Total

December 31 2009

5eearity

Held to Matunly

FDIC-inaured promissory notes

Total Held to-Maturity

Available-for-sale

FDIC-inaured cerlificatea of

depoait

Other

Total Available for Sale

December 31 200

Serariiy

Available-for-Sale

FOIL-insured eertitieateo ol

deposit

Maturity

Less than one year

N/A

Matarity

Other Assets

Amortized

Cost

Unrealized

Gains

Unrealized

Losses

Book
Fair vatse

675 519 1194

675 519 1194

Interest and

Oilier Income

61

61

Oiher Assets

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Bsok Interest and

Cost Gains Losses Fair valae Other Income

Lesnthaooneyear 458

458

Less than one year 25000 93 25093 491

Bersveen one and five years or

N/A 675 370 1045 7754

25675 463 26138 8245

Grand Total 25675 463 26138 8703

three-level valuation hierarchy exists for disclosure of fair value measurements The valuation hierarchy is based upon

the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date financial instruments

eategoriLation within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value

measurement The three levels are defined as follows

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices unadjusted for identical assets or liabilities in active

markets

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active

markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly for substantially the full

term of the financial instrument

Level Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement

The Cnmpanys derivative pnsitinns are valued using models developed by the respective counterparty as well as models

developed internally by the Company that use as their basis readily observable market parameters such as forward yield curves

and credit default swap data and are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy In addition employee holdings other

than Common Shares within the supplemental executive retirement plan the SERP have fair value of $58.1 million as of

December 31 2010 and are included in other assets and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet These SERP

investments are valued using quoted market prices for identical assets and are classified within Level of the valuation

hierarchy

The Companys investment securities are valued using quoted market prices or readily available market interest rate data

The quoted market prices are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy and the market interest rate data are classified

within Level of the valuation hierarchy Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership are valued using the

quoted market price of Common Shares and are classified within Level of the valuation hierarchy

The Companys real estate asset impairment charges were the result of an analysis of the parcels estimated fair value

determined using internally developed models that were based on market assumptions and comparable sales data

Level compared to their current capitalized carrying value The market assumptions used as inputs to the Companys

fair value model include construction costs leasing assumptions growth rates discount rates terminal capitalization rates and

development yields along with the Companys current plans for each individual asset The Company uses data on its existing

portfolio of properties and its recent acquisition and development properties as well as similar market data from third party

sources when available in determining these inputs The valuation techniques used to measure fair value is consistent with how

similar assets were measured in prior periods See Note 20 for further discussion
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12 Earnings Per Share

The following tables set forth the computation of net income per share basic and net income per
share diluted

amounts in thousands except per share amounts

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Numerator for net income per share basic and diluted

Loss income trom continuing operations 19844 2931 40054

Allocation to Noncontrolling Interests Operating Partnership net 1555 622 3558

Net loss income attributable to Noncontrolling Interests Partially Owned Properties 726 558 2650

Net income attributable to Preference Interests and Units 15
Preferred distributions 14368 14479 14507

Loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares net of Noncontrolling Interests 31931 10377 53668

Discontinued operations net of Noncontrolling Interests 301173 358171 446783

Numerator for net income per share basic and diluted 269242 347794 393115

Denominator for net income per share basic and diluted 282888 273609 270012

Net income per share basic 0.95 1.27 1.46

Net income per share diluted 0.95 1.27 1.46

Net income per share basic

Loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares net of Noncontrolling Interests 0.113 0.038 0.199

Discontinued operations net of Noncontrolling Interests 1.065 1.309 1.65

Net income per share basic 0.952 1.271 1.456

Net income per share diluted

Loss from continuing operations available to Common Shares 0.113 0.038 199

Discontinued operations net oes 1.300 1.655

Net income per share diluted 0.952 1.271 1.456

Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding 1.47 1.64 1.93

11 Potentiol common shores issuoblefrom the ossumed conversion of OP Units ond the erercise/veating of long term compensotion oword shores units ore

outomoticolly onti dilutive onrl
therefore ercludedfrooi the diluted comings per shore colculotion os the Coozpony hodo lossfmoei continuing opetotionsfor

the yeors ended December 31 2010 2009 ond 2008 respectively

Convertible preferred shores/ututs thai cou/d be convened into 325103 402501 ond 42 090 weighted average Cotntnon Shoresfor the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively were ouisionding but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per

share because the effecis would be anti-dilutive In oddttion the effect of the Comtnon Shares that could ultimately be issued upon the

conversion exchange of the Operating Partnership $650.0 million $482.5 million outstanding at Deceniber 31 2010 exchangeable senior

notes svos not included in the computation of diluted earnings per shore because the effects
would be anti-dilutive

For additional disclosures regarding the employee shore options and restricted shares see Notes and 14
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13 Discontinued Operations

The Company has presented separately as discontinued operations in all periods the results of operations for all

consolidated assets disposed of and all properties held for sale if any

The components of discontinued operations are outlined below and include the results of operations for the respective

periods that the Company owned such assets during each of the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 amounts in

thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

REVENUES

Rental income 67670 160031 261924

Total revenues 67670 160031 261924

EXPENSES

Property and maintenance 18659 49088 75079

Real ettate taxes and insurance 7028 18065 28764

Property management 62
Depreciation 16770 41104 66625

General and administrative 36 34 29

Total expenses 42493 108291 170435

Discontinued operating income 25177 51740 91489

Interest and other income 497 120 427

Other expenses

Interest

Expense incurred net 7722 8660 10093

Amortization of deferred financing costa 37 561 54
Income and other tax expense benefit 44 1161 1841

Discontinued operations 17871 43799 83610

Net gain on sales of discontinued operations 297956 335299 392857

Diccrintinoed nperatirina pci 715527 779092 476467

Includes etpenses paid in the current period for properties sold oi held for sale in prior periods related to the Cooipanv period of oivnersliip

21 Includes only interest expense spec/Ic to secured mortgage notes pavablefoi propei-ties sold and or held Jor sale

For the properties sold during 2010 the investment in real estate net of accumulated depreciatton and the mortgage

notes payable balances at December 31 2009 were $430.5 million and $89.4 million respectively

14 Share Incentive Plans

On May 15 2002 the shareholders of EQR approved the Companys 2002 Share Incentive Plan The maximum

aggregate number of awards that may be granted under this plan may not exceed 7.Sa of the Companys outstanding Common

Shares calculated on fully diluted basis and determined annually on the first day of each calendar year As of January 12011

this amount equaled 22785696 of which 5395739 shares were available for future issuance No awards may be granted under

the 2002 Share Incentive Plan as restated after February 20 2012

Pursuant to the 2002 Share Incentive Plan as restated and the Amended and Restated 1993 Share Option and Share

Award Plan as amended collectively the Share Incentive Plans officers trustees and key employees of the Company may be

granted share options to acquire Common Shares Options including non qualified share options NQSOs incentive share

options ISOs and share appreciation rights SARs or may be granted restricted or non-restricted shares subject to

conditions and restrictions as described in the Share Incentive Plans In addition each year prior to 2007 certain executive

officers of the Company participated in the Companys performance based restricted share plan Effective January 2007 the

Company elected to discontinue the award of performance-based award grants Options SARs restricted shares performance

shares and LTIP Units see discussion below are sometimes collectively referred to herein as Awards

The Options are generally granted at the fair market value of the Companys Common Shares at the date of grant vest in

three equal installments over three-year period are exercisable upon vesting and expire ten years from the date of grant The

exercise price for all Options under the Share Incentive Plans is equal to the fair market value of the underlying Common Shares

at the time the Option is granted Options exercised result in new Common Shares being issued on the open
market The

Amended and Restated 1993 Share Option and Share Award Plan as amended will terminate at such time as all outstanding

Awards have expired or have been exercised/vested The Board of Trustees may at any time amend or terminate the Share

Incentive Plans but termination will not affect Awards previously granted Any Options which had vested prior to such

termination would remain exercisable by the holder
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Restricted shares that have been awarded through December 31 2010 generally vest three years from the award date In

addition the Companysunvested restricted shareholders have the same voting rights as any other Common Share holder During

the three-year period of restriction the Companys unvested restricted shareholders receive quarterly dividend payments on their

shares at the same rate and on the same date as any other Common Share holder As result dividends paid on unvested restricted

shares are included as component of retained earnings and have not been considered in reducing net income available to

Common Shares in manner similar to the Companys preferred share dividends for the earnings per share calculation If

employment is terminated prior to the lapsing of the restriction the shares are generally canceled

In December 2008 the Companys 2002 Share Incentive Plan was amended to allow for the issuance of long-term

incentive plan units LTIP Units to officers of the Company as an alternative to the Companys restricted shares LTIP Units

are class of partnership interests that under certain conditions including vesting are convertible by the holder into an equal

number of OP Units which are redeemable by the holder for EQR Common Shares on one-for-one basis or the cash value of

such shares at the option of the Company In connection with the Febrnary 2009 grant of long-term incentive compensation for

services provided during 2008 officers of the Company were allowed to choose on one-for-one basis between restricted

shares and LTIP Units Similar to restricted shares LTIP Units generally vest three years from the award date In addition LTIP

Unit holders receive quarterly dividend payments on their LTIP Units at the same rate and on the same date as any other OP Unit

holder As result dividends paid on LTIP Units are included as component of Noncontrolling Interests Operating

Partnership and have not been considered in reducing net income available to Common Shares in manner similar to the

Companys preferred share dividends for the earnings per share calculation If employment is terminated prior to vesting the

LTIP Units are generally canceled An LTIP Unit will automatically convert to an OP Unit when the capital account of each LTIP

Unit increases books-up to specified target If the capital target is not attained within ten years following the date of

issuance the LTIP Unit will automatically be canceled and no compensation will be payable to the holder of such canceled LTIP

Unit

The Companys Share Incentive Plans provide for certain benefits upon retirement at or after age 62 As of November

2008 but effective as ofJanuary 2009 the Company changed the definition of retirement for employees including all officers

but not non employee members of the Companys Board of Trnstees under its Share Incentive Plans For employees hired prior

to January 12009 retirement generally will mean the termination of employment other than for cause on or after age 62 or

ii prior to age 62 after meeting the requirements of the Rule of 70 described below For employees hired after January 12009

retirenient generally will mean the termination of employment other than for cause after meeting the requirements of the Rule

of 70

The Rule of 70 is met when an employees years of service with the Company which must be at least 15 years plus his or

her age which must be at least 55 years on the date of termination equals or exceeds 70 years In addition the employee must

give the Company at least months advance written notice of his or her intention to retire and sign release upon termination of

employment releasing the Company from customary claims and agreeing to ongoing non-competition and employee non-

solicitation provisions

John Powers Executive Vice President Human Resources became eligible for retirement in 2009 as he turned 62

Frederick Tuomi President Property Management became eligible for retirement under the Rule of 70 in 2009 Brnce

Strohm Executive Vice President and General Counsel became eligible for retirement under the Rule of 70 in 2010 David

Neithercut Chief Executive Officer and President will become eligible for retirement under the Rule of 70 in 2011

For employees hired prior to January 2009 who retire at or al4er
age 62 such employees unvested restricted shares

LTIP Units and share options would immediately vest and share options would continue to be exercisable for the balance of the

applicable ten-year optipn period as was provided under the Share Incentive Plans prior to the adoption of the Rule of 70 For all

other employees those hired after January 2009 and those hired before such date who choose to retire prior to age 62 upon

such retirement under the new Rule of 70 definition of retirement of employees such employees unvested restricted shares

LTIP Units and share options would continue to vest per the original vesting schedule subject to immediate vesting upon the

occurrence of subsequent change in control of the Company or the employees death and options would continue to be

exercisable for the balance of the applicable ten-year option period subject to the employees compliance with the non

competition and employee non-solicitation provisions If an employee violates these provisions after such retirement all

unvested restricted shares unvested LTIP Units and unvested and vested share options at the time of the violation would be void

unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee of the Companys Board of Trustees
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The following tables summarize compensation information regarding the performance shares restricted shares LTIP

Units share options and Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP for the three years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008

amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31 2010

Cnmpensation

Expense

Compensation Compensation

Capitalized Equity

Dividends

Incurred

8o03

2334

6707

1231

1178 9781

190 2524

714 7421

59 1290

1334

138

18875 2141 21016 1472

Compensation

Expense

Year Ended December 31 2009

Compensation Compensation

Capitalized Equity

Dividends

Incurred

103

10.065

1036

5458

1181

76 179

1.067 11.132

158 1194

538 5996

122 1303

1627

254

17843 1961 19804 1881

Performance shares

Restricted shares

Share options

ESPP discount

Total

Compensation

Expense

15761

5361

1197

22311

Year Ended December 31 2008

Compensation Compensation

Capitalized Equity

1517 17278

485 5846

92 1289

2094 24405

Compensation expense is generally recognized for Awards as follows

Restricted shares LTIP Units and share options Straight-line method over the vesting period of the options or

shares regardless of cliff or ratable vesting distinctions

Performance shares Accelerated method with each vesting tranehe valued as separate award with separate

vesting date consistent with the estimated value of the award at each period end

ESPP discount Immediately upon the purchase of common shares each quarter

The Company accelerates the recognition of compensation expense for all Awards for those individuals approaching or

meeting the retirement age criteria discussed above The total compensation expense related to Awards not yet vested at

December 31 2010 is $19.5 million which is expected to be recognized over weighted average term of 1.5 years

See Note for additional information regarding the Companys share-based compensation

Rcsiricted shares

LTIP Units

Share options

ESPP discount

Total

Performance shares

Restricted shares

LTIP Units

Share options

ESPP discount

Total

Dividends

Incurred

2175

2175
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The table below summarizes the Award activity of the Share Incentive Plans for the three years ended December 31

2010 2009 and 2008

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Common Average Average Fair Average Fair

Sharea subject Exercise Price Restricted Value per LTIP Value per

to Optiona per Option Shares Restricted Share Units LTIP Unit

Balance at December 31 2007 9185141 $32.37 1178188 $42.30

Awards granted 1436574 $38.46 524983 $38.29

Awards exercised/vested 995129 $24.75 644131 $35.99

Awards forfeited 113786 $43.95 63029 $44.87

Awards expired 39541 $35.91

Balance at December 31 2008 9473259 $33.94 996011 $44.16

Awards granted 2541005 $23.08 362997 $22.62 155189 $21.11

Awards exercised/vested 422713 $21.62 340362 $42.67

Awards forfeited 146151 $30.07 64280 $35.28 573 $21.11

Awards expired 95650 $32.21

Balance at December 31 2009 l34975u $32.03 9543oo $37.10 154olo $21.11

Awards granted 1436115 $33.59 270805 $34.85 94096 $32.97

Awards exercised/vested 2506645 $28.68 278183 $52.25

Awards forfeited 76275 $29.43 35038 $30.84 1204 $21.11

Awards expired 96457 $42.69

Balance at December 31 2010 10106488 $33.00 911950 $32.05 247508 $25.62

The weighted average grant date fair value for Options granted during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was

$6.18 per share $3.38 per share and $4.08 per share respectively

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $39.6 million

$2.b million and $15.6 million respectively Ihese values were calculated as the ditterence between the strike price of the

underlying awards and the per share price at which each respective award was exercised

The fair value of restricted shares vested during the years ended December31 2010 2009 and 2008 was $9.1 million $8.0 million

and $23.9 million respectively

The following table summarizes information regarding options outstanding and exercisable at December 31 2010

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted

Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average

Contractual Exercise Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Options Life in Years Price Options Price

$21.40 to $26.75 2974937 6.18 $23.42 1403771 $23.82

$26.76 to $32.10 2478594 3.09 $29.99 2478594 $29.99

$32.11 to $37.45 1374888 9.01 $32.96 23546 $32.23

$37.46 to $42.80 2363450 5.87 $40.44 2023316 $40.75

$42.81 to $48.15 4202 5.32 $45.25 4202 $45.25

$48.16 to $53.50 910417 6.09 $53.19 853222 $53.50

$21.40 to $53.50 10106488 5.73 $33.00 6786651 $34.89

Vested and expected to vest

as of December 31 2010 9718763 5.69 $33.12

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding that are vested and expected to vest as of December 31 2010 is

$184.3 million

The aggregate intrinsic value and weighted average remaining contractual life in years of options exercisable as of December31

2010 is $117.1 million and 4.4 years respectively

Note The aggregate intrinsic values in Notes and above were both calculated as the excess if any between the Companys

closing share price of $5 1.95 per share on December 31 2010 and the strike price of the underlying awards
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As of December 31 2009 and 2008 7974815 Options with weighted average exercise price of $33.55 and 7522344

Options with weighted average exercise price of $31.58 were exercisable respectively

iS Employee Plans

The Company established an Employee Share Purchase Plan to provide each employee and trustee the ability to annually

acquire up to $100000 of Common Shares of the Company In 2003 the Companys shareholders approved an increase in the

aggregate number of Common Shares available under the ESPP to 7000000 from 2000000 The Company has 3403970

Common Shares available for purchase under the ESPP at December31 2010 The Common Shares may be purchased quarterly

at price equal to 85% of the lesser of the closing price for share on the last day of such quarter and the greater of the

closing price for share on the first day of such quarter and ii the average closing price for share for all the business days in

the quarter The following table summarizes information regarding the Common Shares issued under the ESPP

Year Ended December

2010 2009 2008

Amounts in thousands except share and per share amounts

Shares issued 157363 324394 195961

Issuance price ranges $28.26 $41.16 $14.21 $24.84 $23.51 $37.61

Issuance proceeds $5112 $5292 $6170

The Company established defined contribution plan the 401k Plan to provide retirement benefits for employees

that meet minimum employment criteria The Company matches dollar for dollar up to the first of eligible compensation that

participant contributes to the 401k Plan Participants are vested in the Companys contributions over five years The Company

recognized an expense in the amount of $4.0 million $3.5 million and $3.8 million for the years ended December 31 20102009

and 2008 respectively

The Company may also elect to make an annual discretionary profit-sharing contribution as percentage of each

individual employees eligible compensation under the 401k Plan The Company did not make contribution for the years

ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 and as such no expense was recognized in these years

The Company established supplemental executive retirement plan the SERP to provide certain officers and trustees

an opportunity to defer portion of their eligible compensation in order to save for retirement The SERP is restricted to

investments in Company Common Shares certain marketable securities that have been specifically approved and cash

equivalents The deferred compensation liability represented in the SERP and the securities issued to fttnd such deferred

compensation liability are consolidated by the Company and carried on the Companys balance sheet and the Companys
Common Shares held in the SERP are accounted for as reduction to paid in capital

16 Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan

On November 1997 the Company filed with the SEC Form S-3 Registration Statement to register 14000000

Common Shares pursuant to Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan the DRIP Plan The registration statement

was declared effective on November 25 1997 The remaining shares available for issuance under the 1997 registration lapsed in

December 2008

On December 16 2008 the Company filed with the SEC Form S-3 Registration Statement to register 5000000

Common Shares under the DRIP Plan The registration statement was automatically declared effective the same day and expires

at the earlier of the date in which all 5000000 shares have been issued or December 15 2011 The Company has 4905736

Common Shares available for issuance under the DRIP Plan at December 31 2010

The DRIP Plan provides holders of record and beneficial owners of Common Shares and Preferred Shares with simple

and convenient method of investing cash distributions in additional Common Shares which is referred to herein as the

Dividend Reinvestment DRIP Plan Common Shares may also be purchased on monthly basis with optional cash

payments made by participants in the DRIP Plan and interested new investors not currently shareholders of the Company at the

market price of the Common Shares less discount ranging between 0% and 5% as determined in accordance with the DRIP

Plan which is referred to herein as the Share Purchase DRIP Plan Common Shares purchased under the DRIP Plan may at

the option of the Company be directly issued by the Company or purchased by the Companys transfer agent in the open market

using participants funds
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17 Transactions with Related Parties

The Company provided asset and property management services to certain related entities for properties not owned by

the Company which terminated in December 2008 Fees received for providing such services were approximately $0.3 million

for the year ended December 2008

The Company leases its corporate headquarters from an entity controlled by EQRs Chairman of the Board of Trustees

The lease terminates on July 2021 Amounts incurred for such office space for the years ended December31 2010 2009 and

2008 respectively were approximately $2.7 million $3.0 million and $2.9 million The Company believes these amounts equal

market rates for such rental space

18 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company as an owner of real estate is subject to various Federal state and local environmental laws Compliance by

the Company with existing laws has not had material adverse effect on the Company However the Company cannot predict the

impact of new or changed laws or regulations on its current properties or on properties that it may acquire in the future

The Company is party to housing discrimination lawsuit brought by non-profit civil rights organization in April 2006

in the U.S District Court for the District of Maryland The suit alleges that the Company designed and built approximately 300 of

its properties in violation of the accessibility requirements of the Fair Housing Act and Americans With Disabilities Act The suit

seeks actual and punitive damages injunctive relief including modification of non compliant properties costs and attorneys

fees The Company believes it has number of viable defenses including that majority of the named properties were completed

before the operative dates of the statutes in question andlor were not designed or built by the Company Accordingly the

Company is defending the suit vigorously Due to the pendency of the Companys defenses and the uncertainty of many other

critical factual and legal issues it is not possible to determine or predict the outcome of the suit or possible loss or range of

loss and no amounts have been accrued at December 31 2010 While no assurances can be given the Company does not believe

that the suit if adversely determined would have material adverse effect on the Company

The Company does not believe there is any other litigation pending or threatened against it that individually or in the

aggregate may reasonably be expected to have material adverse effect on the Company

The Company has established reserve and recorded corresponding reduction to its net gain on sales of discontinued

operations related to potential liabilities associated with its condominium conversion activities The reserve covers potential

product liability related to each conversion The Company periodically assesses the adequacy of the reserve and makes

adjustments as necessary During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company recorded additional reserves of

approximately $0.7 million paid approximately $2.9 million in claims settlements and legal fees and released

approximately $1.2 million of remaining reserves for settled claims As result the Company had total reserves of

approximately $3.3 million at December 31 2010 While no assurances can be given the Company does not believe that

the ultimate resolution of these potential liabilities if adversely determined would have material adverse effect on the

Company

As of December 31 2010 the Company has four projects totaling 717 apartment units in various stages of development

with estimated completion dates ranging through September 30 2012 as well as other completed development projects that are

in various stages of lease up or are stabilized Some of the projects are developed solely by the Company while others were co

developed with various third party development partners The development venture agreements with partners are primarily deal-

specific with differing terms regarding profit-sharing equity contributions returns on investment buy-sell agreements and

other customary provisions The partner is most often the general or managing partner of the development venture The

typical buy-sell arrangements contain appraisal rights and provisions that provide the right but not the obligation for the

Company to acquire the partners interest in the project at fair market value upon the expiration of negotiated time period

typically two to five years after substantial completion of the project

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 total operating lease payments incurred for office space

including portion of real estate taxes insurance repairs and utilities and including rent due under three ground leases

aggregated $7.6 million $8.4 million and $8.3 million respectively

The Company has entered into retirement benefits agreement with its Chairman of the Board of Trustees and deferred

compensation agreements with its Vice Chairman and two former chief executive officers During the years ended December31

2010 and 2009 the Company recognized compensation expense of $0.9 million and $1.2 million respectively related to these

agreements During the year ended December 31 2008 the Company reduced compensation expense by $0.4 million related to

these agreements
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The following table summarizes the Companys contractual obligations for minimum rent payments under operating

leases and deferred compensation for the next five years and thereafter as of December 31 2010

Payments Due by Year in thousands

_________________________________
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter Total

Opemting Leases

Minimum Rent Payments 5478 4285 4431 4736 4729 320928 344587

Other Long Term Liabilities

Deferred Compensation 1457 1770 1485 1677 1677 9182 17248

Minimum basic rent due for various office space the Company leases and fixed base rent due on ground leases for four properties

parcels

Estimated payments to the Companys Chairman Vice Chairman and two former CEOs based on planned retirement dates

19 Reportable Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available

that is evaluated regularly by senior management Senior management decides how resources are allocated and assesses

performance on monthly basis

The Companys primary business is the acquisition development and management of multifamily residential properties

which includes the generation of rental and other related income through the leasing of apartment units to residents Senior

management evaluates the performance of each of our apartment communities individually and geographically and both on

same store and non-same store basis however each of our apartment communities generally has similar economic

characteristics residents products and services The Companys operating segments have been aggregated by geography in

manner identical to that which is provided to its chief operating decision maker

The Companys fee and asset management development including its partially owned properties condominium

conversion and corporate housing Equity Corporate Housing or ECH activities are immaterial and do not individually meet

the threshold requirements of reportable segment and as such have been aggregated in the Other segment in the tables

presented below

All revenues are from external customers and there is no customer who contributed 1000 or more of the Companys total

revenues during the three years ended December 31 2010 2009 or 2008

The primary financial measure for the Companys rental real estate segment is net operating income NOT which

represents rental income less property and maintenance expense real estate taxes and insurance expense and property

management expense all as reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations The Company believes that

NOT is helpthl to investors as supplemental measure of its operating performance because it is direct measure of the actual

operating results of the Companys apartment communities Current year NOl is compared to prior year NOT and current year

budgeted NOT as measure of financial performance The following tables present NOI for each segment from our rental real

estate specific to continuing operations for the
years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2u08 respectively as well as total

assets for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 respectively amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31 2010

Northeast Northwest Southeast Southwest Other Total

Rental income

Same store 574147 353123 383475 417523 1728268

Non same store/other 112747 18042 9271 33456 84259 257775

Total rental income 686894 371165 392746 450979 84259 1986043

Operating expenses

Same store 215365 132331 157518 149449 654663

Non-same store/other 54780 7950 4126 15136 69823 151815

Total operating expenses 270145 140281 161644 164585 69823 806478

NOl

Same store 358782 220792 225957 268074 1073605

Non-same store/other 57967 10092 5145 18320 14436 105960

Total NOl 416749 230884 231102 286394 14436 1179565

Total assets 6211534 2665707 2602318 3240170 $1464465 16184194
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Same atore primarily includes all properties acquired or completed and stabilized prior to January 12009 less properties subsequently sold which

represented 112042 apartment units

Non same store primarily includes properties acquired after January 12009 plus any properties
in lease-up and not stabilized as of Januaiy 12009

Other includes ECH development condominium conversion overhead of $0.6 million and other corporate operations Also reflects $10.5 million

elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast Northwest Southeast and Southwest operating segments related to ECH

Operating expenses

Same store

Non same store/other

Total operating expenses

NOl

Year Ended December 31 2009

Northeast Northwest Southeast Southwest Other Total

Rental income

Same store

Non-same store/other

Properties sold in 2010

Total rental income

Operating expenses

Same store

Non-same store/other 23
Properties

sold in 2010

Total operating expenses

NOl

Same store

Non-same store/other

Properties
sold in 2010

Total NOl

1778183

186771

88681

1876273

645123

143570

31205

757488

1133060

43201

57476

1118785

Rental income

Same store

Non-same store/other

Total rental income

566518

23195

589713

357502

2010

359512

383239

4268

387507

423076 1730335

16985 69364 115822

440061 69364 1846157

211352 129696 158977 148483 648508

12798 1851 1727 9418 68692 94486

224150 131547 160704 157901 68692 742994

Same store 355166 227806 224262 274593 1081827

Non same store/other 2J 10397 159 2541 7567 o72 21336

Total NOl 365563 227965 226803 282160 672 1103163

Total assets 5435072 2474775 2674499 2971396 1861773 15417515

Same store primarily includes all properties acquired or completed and stabilized prior to January 12009 less properties subsequently sold which

represented 112042 apartment units

Non-same store primarily includes properties acquired after January 12009 plus any properties in lease-up and not stabilized as of January 12009

Other includes ECH development condominium conversion overhead ofSl.4 million and other corporate operations Also reflects $9.6 million

elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast Northwest Southeast and Southwest operating segments related to ECH

Year Ended December 31 2008

Northeast Northwest Southeasi Southwest Other Total

553712

37000

372197

18347

407871

6090

444403

23400 101934

88681

590712 390544 413961 467803 13253

199673

16806

128448

7664

166022

2995

150980

14363 101742

31205

216479 136112 169017 165343 70537

354039

20194

243749

10683

293423

9037 192

241849

3095

244944

57476
______________

374233 254432
______________

302460 57284
______________

Same store primarily includes all properties acquired or completed and stabilized
prior to January 12008 less properties subsequently sold which

represented 113598 apartment units

Non same store primarily includes
properties acquired after January 12008 plus any properties in lease-up and not stabilized as ofJanuary 12008

Other includes ECH development condominium cutiversiuit uvethead of $2.8 milliuu aud other corporate operations Also ieflects $13.6 izulhiuu

elimination of rental income recorded in Northeast Northwest Southeast and Southwest operating segments related to ECH
Reflects discontinued operations for properties sold during 2010

Note Markets included in the above geographic segments are as follows

Northeast New England excluding Boston Boston New York Metro DC Northern Virginia and Suburban Matyland

Northwest Denver Portland San Francisco Bay Area and Seattle/Tacoma

Southeast Atlanta Jacksonville Orlando South Florida and Tampa
Southwest Albuquerque Inland Empire Los Angeles Orange County Phoenix and San Diego
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The following table presents reconciliation of NOT from our rental real estate specific to continuing operations for the

years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 respectively amounts in thousands

Year Ended December 31

2010 2009 2008

Rental income 1986043 1846157 1876273

Property and maintenance expense 498634 464209 425754

Real estate taxes and insurance expense 226718 206247 194671

Property management expense 81126 71938 77063

Total operating expenses 806478 742994 757488

Net operating income 1179565 1103163 1118785

20 Subsequent Events/Other

Subsequent Events

Subsequent to December 31 2010 the Company

Acquired two apartment properties consisting of 521 apartment units for $137.1 million

Sold two consolidated apartment properties consisting of 600 apartment units for $32.7 million

Repaid $173.0 million in mortgage loans

Issued 3.0 million Common Shares at an average price of $50.84 per share for total consideration of$154.5 million

under the Companys ATM share offering program and

Increased its availability for issuance under the Companys ATM share offering program to 10000000 Common

Shares

Other

During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company recorded $45.4 million non-cash asset impairment charge on

two parcels of land held for development as result of changes in the Companys future plans for those parcels The Company

now intends to sell one parcel in the near term and contemplates joint venture structure for the other necessitating this

impairment charge During the year ended December 31 2009 the Company recorded an $11.1 million non-cash asset

impairment charge on parcel of land held for development During the year ended December31 2008 the Company recorded

$116.4 million of non-cash asset impairment charges on land held for development related to five potential development projects

that will no longer be pursued These charges were the result of an analysis of each parcels estimated fair value determined

using internally developed models that were based on market assumptions and comparable sales data compared to its current

capitalized carrying value The market assumptions used as inputs to the Companys fair value model include construction costs

leasing assumptions growth rates discount rates terminal capitalization rates and development yields along with the

Companys current plans for each individual asset The Company uses data on its existing portfolio of properties and its

recent acquisition and development properties as well as similar market data from third party sources when available in

determining these inputs

During the years ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company incurred charges of $6.6 million $1.7 million

and $0.2 million respectively related to property acquisition costs such as survey title and legal fees on the acquisition of

operating properties and $5.3 million $4.8 million and $5.6 million respectively related to the write-off of various pursuit and

out-of-pocket costs for terminated acquisition disposition and development transactions These costs totaling $11.9 million

$6.5 million and $5.8 million respectively are included in other expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of

operations

During the year ended December 31 2008 the Cothpany recognized $0.7 million of forfeited deposits for various

terminated transactions which are included in interest and other income During the year ended December 31 2010 an

arbitration panel awarded commissions interest and costs in the amount of$l .7 million to the listing and marketing agent related

to 38 potential condo sales at one of the Companys properties In addition during 2010 2009 and 2008 the Company received

$5.2 million $0.2 million and $1.7 million respectively for the settlement of litigationlinsurance claims which are included in

interest and other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

On July 162010 portion of the parking garage collapsed at one of the Companys rental properties Prospect Towers in

Hackensack New Jersey The Company estimates that the costs related to such collapse both expensed and capitalized

including providing for residents interim needs lost revenue and garage reconstruction will be approximately $12.0 million

after insurance reimbursements of $8.0 million Costs to rebuild the garage will be capitalized as incurred Other costs like those
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to accommodate displaced residents lost revenue due to portion of the property being temporarily unavailable for occupancy

and legal costs will reduce earnings as they are incurred Generally insurance proceeds will be recorded as increases to earnings

as they are received An impairment charge of $1.3 million was recognized to write-off the net book value of the collapsed

garage During the year ended December 31 2010 the Company received approximately $4.0 million in insurance proceeds

which fully offset the impairment charge and partially offset expenses of $5.5 million that were recorded relating to this loss and

are included in real estate taxes and insurance on the consolidated statements of operations

21 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

The following unaudited quarterly data has been prepared on the basis of December year-end All amounts have also

been restated in accordance with the guidance on discontinued operations and reflect dispositions and/or properties held for sale

through December 31 2010 Amounts are in thousands except for per share amounts

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2010 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/31

Total revenues 472082 494541 511772 517124

Operating income 112382 115247 121047 93325

Loss income from continuing operations 7267 4714 14930 32221
Discontinucd opciatiuns net 65123 5375 14896 230433

Net income 57856 10089 29826 198212

Net income available to Common Shares 51863 6343 25166 185870

Earnings per share basic

Net income available to Common Shares 0.18 0.02 0.09 0.65

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 280645 282217 282717 285916

Earnings per share diluted

Net income available to Common Shares 0.18 0.02 0.09 0.65

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 280645 299642 300379 285916

The amounts presented for the first three quarters of 2010 are not equal to the same amounts previously reported in the respective

Form 10 Qs filed with the SEC for each period as result of changes in discontinued operations due to additional property sales which

ucLurled thiuughuut 2010 Below is ieuunciliatiun tu the amounts previously reported

First Second Third

Quarter Quarter Quarter

2010 3/31 6/30 9/30

Total revenues previously reported in Form 10-Q 488690 510937 527356

Total revenues subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations 16608 16396 15584

Total revenues disclosed in Form 10-K 472082 494541 511772

Operating income previously reported in Form l0-Q 118596 121529 127196

Operating income subsequently reclassified to discontinued operations 6214 6282 6149

Operating income disclosed in Form 10-K 112382 115247 121047

Loss income from continuing operations previously reported in

Form l0-Q 2208 9406 19884

Income from continuing operations subsequently reclassified to

discontinued operations 5059 4692 4954

Loss income from continuing operations disclosed in Form 10-K 7267 4714 14930

Discontinued operations net previously reported in Form 10-Q 60064 683 9942

Discontinued operations net from properties sold subsequent to the

respective reporting period 5059 4692 4954

Discontinued operations net disclosed in Form 10-K 65123 5375 14896
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First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2009 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/31

Total revenues 466177 464225 464827 461274

Operating income 126283 120661 122703 126954

Income loss from continuing operations 7858 7813 4256 16996
Discontinued operations net 775o3 98119 139109 o4307

Net income 85421 105932 143365 47311

Net income available to Common Shares 77175 96585 132362 41672

Earnings per share basic

Net income available to Common Shares 018 0.35 0.48 0.15

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 272324 272901 273658 275519

Earnings per share diluted

Net income available to Common Shares 0.28 0.35 0.48 0.15

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding 288853 289338 290215 275519

The amounts presented for the four quarters of 2009 are not equal to the same amounts previously reported in either the Form filed

with the SEC on September 142010 for the first second and fourth quarters of 2009 or in the third quarter 2010 Form 10 filed with

the SEC on November 201u for the third quarter of 20U9 primarily as result of changes in discontinued operations due to additional

property sales which occurred throughout 2010 Below is reconciliation to the amounts previously reported

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2009 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/31

Total revenues previously reported in September 2010

Form 8-KiForm l0-Q 482475 480333 480241 477365

Total revenues subsequently reclassified to discontinued

operations 16298 16108 15414 16091

Total revenues disclosed in Form 10-K 466177 464225 464827 461274

Operating income previously reported in September 2010

Form 8-KIForm 10-Q 132245 126944 128655 133239

Operating income subsequently reclassified to discontinued

operations 5962 6283 5952 6285

Operating income disclosed in Form 10 126283 120661 122703 126954

Income loss from continuing operations previously reported in

September 2010 Form 8-K/Form 10-Q 11948 12339 9029 13146
Income from continuing operations subsequently reclassified to

discontinued operations 4090 4526 4773 3850

Income loss from continuing operations disclosed in Form 10-K 7858 7813 4256 16996

Discontinued operations net previously reported in Septemher

2010 Form 8-KfForm 10-Q 73473 93593 134336 60457

Discontinued operations net from properties sold subsequent to

the respective reporting period 4090 4526 4773 3850

Discontinued operations net disclosed in Form 10-K 77563 98119 139109 64307

The Company did not have any extraordinary items or cumulative effect of change in accounting principle during the years ended

December 31 2010 and 2009 Therefore income before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle is not

shown as it was equal to the net income amounts disclosed above
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Corporate Data

Board of Trustees

Samuel 7e1156

Chairman of the Board Equity Residential

Chairman of the Board

Equity Group Investments LLC

Gerald Spector

Vice Chairman of the Board Equity Residential

David Neithercut56

President and Chief Executive Officer

Equity
Residential

John Alexander34

President Mallard Creek Capital Partners Inc

Charles Atwood1245

Eormer Vice Chairman Caesars Entertainment

Corporation

Linda Walker Bynoe3

President and Chief Executive Officer Telemat Ltd

Bradley Keywell3

Managing Partner Lightbank

John Neal25

Partner Linden LLC

Mark Shapiro2

Chief Executive Officet Dick Clark Productions

Joseph White34

President Emeritus and James Towey Professor of

Business and Leadership The University of Illinois

Lead Trustee Audit committee compensation

comminee corporate Governance committee

Execative committee Pricing committee

Total Shareholder Returns

Performance Graph 2006-2010

The following graph compares our shareholder

return assuming reinvestment of dividends

since December31 2005 with the SP 500 Index

and the index of REITs prepared by NAREIT The

graph assumes an investment of $100 in Equity

Residential and the two indexes on December 31

2005.The NAREIT index includes all tax qualified

REITs listed on the NYSE the American Stock

Exchange and the Nasdaq Stock Market

Corporate Office

Equity Residential

Two North Riverside Plaza Suite 400

Chicago Illinois 60606 2609

Phone 312.474.1300

www.EquityResidential.com

Our Guidelines on Governance Code of Ethics

and Business Conduct and Committee Charters

are available in the Investor Information section

of our website at www.EquityResidential.com

Executive Officers

David Neithercut

President and Chief Executive Officer

Alan George

Executive Vice President and

Chief Investment Officer

Mark Parrell

Executive Vice President and

Chief Einancial Officer

John Powers

Executive Vice President Human Resources

David Santee

Executive Vice President Operations

Bruce Strohm

Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Mark Tennison

Executive Vice President Development

Frederick Tuomi

Executive Vice President and

President Property Manaqement

Auditor

Ernst Young LLR

Chicago Illinois

Transfer Agent

To keep securities information up-to-date and

to ensure that holders of Equity Residential

securities receive financial information as soon as

possible after mailing please advise the transfer

agent of your new address or change of name

Write to them directly at the following address

Computershare Trust Company N.A

P.O Box 43010

Providence Rhode Island 02940 3010

Dr call 800.733.5001

www.computershare.com

Shareholders

The number of record holders of Equity Residential

common shares at February 162011 was approximately

3000 The number of outstanding common shares

as of February 162011 was 293981029

Form 10-K and Other Reports

Requests for Equity Residentials Form 10-1 filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission

SEC and any other inquiries from individuals

and institutional investors should be directed to

Martin McKenna

Vice PresidentInvestor and Public Relations

Equity Residential

Two North Riverside Plaza Suite 400

Chicago Illinois 60606-2609

Phone 888.879.6356

Email lnvestorRelations@eqrworld.com

The SEC also maintains website that contains

reports proxy information and statements and

other information regarding registrants
who file

electronically with the SEC The website address is

www.sec.gov

Common Share Market Prices and Dividends

Equity Residentials common shares are listed on

the New York Stock Exchange NYSE ticker symbol

EQR The high low and closing sales prices and

the distributions declared for the past two years

were as follows

Dividend

Declared2010 High Low Clone

Fourth Duarter $52.64 $47.01 $51.95 $04575

Third Quarter $50.80 $39.69 $47.57 $03375

Second Quarter $48.46 $38.84 $41.64 $03375

First Quarter $40.43 $31.40 $39tS 50.3375

2009 High Low Close

Dividend

Declared

Fourth Quarter $36.38 $27.54 $33.78 50.3375

Third Quarter $33.06

Second Quarter $26.24

$18.80

$17.73

$30.70

$22.23

50.3375

50.4825

Firnt Quarter $29.87 $15.68 $18.35 50.4825

Dividend Reinvestment and

Share Purchase Plan

Equity Residential offers Dividend Reinvestment and

Share Purchase Plan For an information packet includ

ing the plan prospectus and enrollment form please

call the Plan Administrator Computershare

at 800.733.5001
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Equity Residential

Two North Riverside Plaza Suite 400

Chicago IL 60606-2609

www.EquityResidential.com


